UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Before the

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING
File No. 3-21225

DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT’S

In the Matter of MOTION FOR SUMMARY
DISPOSITION AGAINST RESPONDENT
DALIANG “DAVID” GUO, DALIANG “DAVID” GUO AND

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT
Respondent.

Pursuant to Rule 250(b) of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s (“SEC” or
“Commission”) Rules of Practice, the Division of Enforcement (‘“Division”) respectfully moves for
summary disposition against Respondent Daliang “David” Guo (“Respondent” or “Guo”).

This is a follow-on proceeding arising from civil securities broker-dealer registration and
anti-fraud injunctions imposed against Guo by the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of New York. These injunctions followed the Court’s order granting the SEC’s Motion for
Summary Judgment against Guo and his co-defendants. Because Guo has been enjoined and the
sole issue in this proceeding concerns the appropriate sanction against him under Section 15(b) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), and because there is a strong public interest
in imposing a bar on Guo, this motion for summary disposition should be granted, and an
associational bar should be imposed against him.

| Procedural History and Factual Background

A. The District Court Case
On October 9, 2013, the Commission filed a complaint against Respondent and others in
the civil action entitled SEC v. CKB168 Holdings Ltd., et al., 13-cv-5584, in the United States
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District Court for the Eastern District of New York. The Commission’s complaint alleged that
from at least May 2012 through October 2013, Respondent and others defrauded investors into
investing in a business venture called CKB. OIP Section II, 4 2; Exh. 1, SEC Complaint
(“Compl.”).! According to the complaint, Respondent falsely presented CKB as a profitable
multi-level marketing company that sold web-based children’s educational courses when it was,
in fact, a pyramid scheme. OIP Section I, § 2; Exh. 1, Compl. at 49 2-7. The complaint alleged
that there were virtually no legitimate sales of any CKB products to retail purchasers, and that
the only way to earn money in the venture was to bring in new investor funds. /d. The complaint
also alleged that Respondent was a top promoter in the scheme and acted as an unregistered
broker-dealer. OIP Section II, 9§ 2; Exh. 1, Compl. at 99 28, 116-117.

On September 28, 2016, the Court granted the Commission’s Motion for Summary
Judgment and found that Respondent violated Sections 5 and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933
and Section 10(b), Rule 10b-5, and Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act. OIP Section II, 9 3; Exh.
2, SEC v. CKB168 Holdings, Ltd., et al., 210 F. Supp. 3d 421 (E.D.N.Y. 2016). The Court

specifically found that Respondent was one of the highest-ranking promoters in the pyramid

! Under Rule 323, notice may be taken in this proceeding of “any material fact which

might be judicially noticed by a district court of the United States....” 17 C.F.R. § 201.323.
Thus, official notice may be taken of the Commission’s public official records and of the docket
reports, court orders, official trial transcripts, admitted trial exhibits, and other court filings by
the parties in the civil action. The Division respectfully requests that judicial notice be taken of
the following exhibits to this motion:

e Exhibit 1 — SEC Complaint, SEC v. CKB168 Holdings Ltd., et al., 13-cv-5584 (E.D.N.Y
October 9, 2013);

e Exhibit 2 — Summary Judgment Order, SEC v. CKB168 Holdings, Ltd., et al., 210 F.
Supp. 3d 421 (E.D.N.Y. 2016);

e Exhibit 3 — Final Judgment, SEC v. CKB168 Holdings Ltd., et al., 2022 WL 3347253
(E.D.N.Y. Aug. 12, 2022);

e Exhibit 4 — Division’s Proof of Service of the OIP, November 14, 2022; and

e Exhibit 6 — Respondent’s Answer, November 30, 2022.
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scheme, actively promoted CKB, knowingly made false statements about CKB to investors,
effected the purchase of CKB securities, and earned significant commissions on those purchases.
Exh. 2, at 434-35. As a result, the court found that Respondent acted as an unregistered broker
or dealer.? OIP Section II, 9 3; Exh. 2, at 452-53.

On August 12, 2022, the Court issued an order of final judgment that permanently
enjoined Respondent from future violations of the foregoing securities laws and from
participating in any pyramid scheme going forward. Exh. 3, SEC v. CKB168 Holdings Ltd., et
al., 2022 WL 3347253, at *2-4 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 12, 2022). The court also imposed monetary
relief against Respondent that included disgorgement of $3,979,867 and prejudgment interest of
$1,153,784. Id. at *6.

B. The Follow-On Proceeding

On November 2, 2022, the Division of Enforcement initiated this follow-on proceeding
against Guo pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act. (The “OIP”). On or about November 3,
2022, the Office of the Secretary served Guo with the OIP. Exh. 4, Proof of Service, November 14,
2022. On or about November 30, 2022, the Division mailed to Respondent a letter notifying him that
the Division had satisfied the requirements of SEC Rule of Practice 230 because he had already
received the Commission’s entire investigative file in discovery in the underlying District Court
action. Exh. 5, Discovery Letter, November 30, 2022. That same day, the Division received by mail,
a handwritten letter from Guo, which the Commission has deemed to be an answer to the OIP. Exh.

6, Respondent Letter, November 30, 2022. On or about March 30, 2023, the parties conducted a

2 Based on the same conduct described in the Court’s order granting the SEC’s Motion for

Summary Judgment, the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Central District of California indicted Guo
and certain co-defendants. U.S. v. Chang, et al., 2:15-cr-00475. Following a trial, Guo was
convicted, and is currently serving a prison sentence of 144 months.
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prehearing conference. On or about April 18, 2023, Division filed a statement summarizing the
discussion.

1I. Summary Disposition Is Appropriate Here

SEC Rule of Practice 250(b) provides that, after a respondent’s answer has been filed and
documents have been made available to the respondent for inspection and copying, a party may
move for summary disposition of any or all allegations of the OIP. See 17 C.F.R. § 201.250(b).
A motion for summary disposition may be granted if there is no genuine issue with regard to any
material fact and the party making the motion is entitled to summary disposition as a matter of
law. Id.

The Commission has repeatedly upheld the use of summary disposition in cases such as
this, where the respondent has been enjoined and the sole determination concerns the appropriate
sanction. See, e.g., Gary M. Kornman, Exchange Act Release No. 59403, 2009 WL 367635, at
*10 & n. 58 (Feb. 13, 2009), pet. denied, 592 F.3d 173 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (collecting cases). Under
Commission precedent, the circumstances in which summary disposition in a follow-on
proceeding involving fraud is not appropriate “will be rare.” Efim Aksanov, Initial Dec. Rel. No.
1000, 2016 WL 1444454, at *2 (Apr. 12, 2016) (citing John S. Brownson, Exchange Act Release
No. 46161 (July 3, 2002), 55 S.E.C. 1023, 1028 n.12, pet. denied, 66 F. App’x 687 (9th Cir.
2003)).

Further, “[f]ollow-on proceedings are not an appropriate forum to revisit the factual basis
for, or legal challenges to, an order issued by a federal court, and challenges to such orders do
not present genuine issues of material fact in our follow-on proceedings.” John W. Lawton,
Investment Adviser Act Release No. 3513, 2012 WL 6208750, at *5 (Dec. 13, 2012). Thus, the

Commission does not permit a respondent to relitigate issues that were addressed in a previous
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civil proceeding against the respondent. See James E. Franklin, Exchange Act Release No.
56649, 2007 WL 2974200, at *4 (Oct. 12, 2007).

Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act authorizes the imposition of an associational bar on
any person who has been enjoined by a court of competent jurisdiction from acting as a broker or
dealer and also authorizes the Commission to bar such person from participating in an offering
of penny stock, if such bars would be in the public interest. 15 U.S.C. §§ 780(b)(4)(C), (6)(A)(ii1);
Tzemach David Netzer Korem, Exchange Act Release No. 70044, 2013 SEC LEXIS 2155, at *32
(July 26, 2013) (holding that it is “well established that [the Commission is] authorized to
sanction an associated person of an unregistered broker-dealer or investment adviser in a follow-
on administrative proceeding”).

For the reasons set forth below, summary disposition is appropriate here. The Commission
should permanently bar Guo from association with any broker, dealer, investment advisor, municipal
securities dealer, municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized statistical rating
organization, and also should permanently bar him from participating in an offering of penny stock.

A. Guo Has Been Enjoined

The District Court permanently enjoined Guo from violating Section 15(a) of the Exchange
Act, as well as the anti-fraud provisions of the securities laws. Exh. 3, at *3-4. The Court previously
found as a matter of law that Guo acted as an unregistered broker in connection with the conduct
at issue in the District Court case because he received commissions, advised others to invest,
acted as an intermediary between CKB and investors, and sought to find new investors. Exh. 2.,
at 453.

B. An Associational Bar and Penny Stock Bar Are in the Public Interest

In assessing whether associational and penny stock bars are in the public interest, the
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Commission considers several factors, including:
the egregiousness of the defendant's actions, the isolated or recurrent nature of the
infraction, the degree of scienter involved, the sincerity of the defendant's assurances
against future violations, the defendant's recognition of the wrongful nature of his conduct,
and the likelihood that the defendant's occupation will present opportunities for future
violations.

Steadman v. SEC, 603 F.2d 1126, 1140 (5th Cir. 1979) (quoting SEC v. Blatt, 583 F.2d 1325, 1334

n.29 (5th Cir. 1978)). Additionally, the Commission considers the age of the violation and the

degree of harm to investors and the marketplace resulting from the violation. Marshall E.

Melton, Exchange Act Release No. 48228, 2003 SEC LEXIS 1767, at *5-6 (July 25, 2003).

The Commission has often emphasized, however, that the public interest determination
extends beyond consideration of the particular investors affected by a respondent’s conduct to
the public at large, the welfare of investors as a class, and standards of conduct in the securities
business generally. See Christopher A. Lowry, 55 S.E.C. 1133, 1145 (2002), aff'd, 340 F.3d 501
(8th Cir. 2003); Arthur Lipper Corp., 46 S.E.C. 78, 100 (1975). Moreover, the public interest
requires a severe sanction when a respondent’s past misconduct involves fraud because
opportunities for dishonesty recur constantly in the securities business. See Richard C. Spangler,
Inc., 46 S.E.C. 238, 252 (1976). Here, the Steadman factors weigh in favor of an associational
industry bar.?

First, Guo’s actions were egregious. The Court found that Guo was among the most

3 Even though Guo’s misconduct did not involve a penny stock per se, this kind of

collateral relief is appropriate and in the public interest in this proceeding because where, as
here, a party engages in misconduct that warrants a suspension or bar to protect investors in one
part of the industry regulated by the Commission, it is in the public interest to protect investors in
all parts of the industry the Commission regulates. Investors should not bear the risk the
Commission is not able to accurately predict what business Guo may choose to undertake during
the associational bar. Therefore, because a penny stock bar is not disproportionate in these
circumstances, the Commission should include it as part of its order.
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aggressive and most successful promoters, earning millions by defrauding investors. Exh. 2, at
434; Ex. 3, at ¥*6. The Court also found that Guo acted with a high degree of scienter, engaged
in recurrent misconduct, failed to understand the wrongfulness of his conduct, and posed a high
risk of recidivism. Exh. 3, at *3-4 and n.5. He promoted CKB through seminars, conferences, and
in-person solicitations. Exh. 2, at 433-434. These promotional efforts did not focus on CKB’s
software, rather he promoted CKB as a no-risk business opportunity to make enormous investment
returns. /d. at 434-35. Guo falsely represented to investors that CKB that Profit reward Points
(“Prpts”) received by investors could be converted to cash and that CKB was risk-free when he
knew those statements were not true. /d. By April of 2013, someone at CKB even told him that
it was “inappropriate” to denote Prpts in dollars. /d. at 435. Guo also later admitted that his
claims that CKB was risk-free were only his “hope” and his “personal view.” Id. He had not
done anything to verify such representations. /d. Guo profited a total of $3,979,867 from the
result of his conduct, and the District Court held him liable for disgorgement for that amount.
Exh. 3, at *4-6.

Second, Guo’s violations were recurrent, and the misconduct was not an isolated incident. Id.
at *2-3. In May 2011, Guo was one of the earliest recruiting investors in CKB and he traveled
throughout the U.S. and China to promote CKB and recruit new investors. Exh. 2, at 434. In one
video from 2014, Guo stated that his “sales group,” referring to his direct and indirect downlines he
recruited over time, was responsible for “$100 million of sales revenue.” /Id.

Third, Guo acted with a high degree of scienter, as the District Court specifically found.
Exh. 3, at *3. As described in the District Court’s summary judgment opinion, by October 2012,
Guo was aware that CKB had been accused of being a pyramid scheme when he received an

email from Shern denouncing the claims and imploring the top promoters to attack CKB’s critics.
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Exh. 2, at 434-35. Guo made no investigation into these claims, nor did he verify any of the
promotional claims he made to potential investors. /d. He never acquired, or even asked for, any
internal CKB financial statements or other disclosures. Id. Instead, he continued making the
same false claims to investors as detailed above. Id. In one video, potential investors can be heard
questioning CKB’s legitimacy. Id. In response, Guo refuted any claims that CKB was not
legitimate and even claimed to have given one investor a personal guarantee that a CKB
investment would only increase in value. Id. Similarly, despite the fact that Guo never received
stock and, in fact, was not aware of anyone who had received stock certificates, he told investors
and potential investors that he already had CKB stock. Id., at 447-48.

Finally, Guo has given no assurances against future violations and has failed to recognize the
wrongful nature of his conduct. In the District Court case, Guo’s letters to the Court largely attempt
to re-litigate his defense and seek to absolve himself of responsibility. Exh. 3, at *3 n.5. Similarly,
in his answer to the OIP, Respondent continues to deny responsibility, arguing instead that: 1) he
joined CKB only because he “want[ed] to do something good for the world,” (Exh. 6, at 4); 2) that
he “was not the top sales in New York,” (Exh. 6, at 4); he “was nothing more than a downstream
seller of the CKB product,” (Exh. 6, at 7). This continued refusal to take responsibility, in
combination with the impact on the public at large — investors here lost hundreds of millions of
dollars* — establishes that an associational bar is necessary and appropriate. Such a bar “will prevent
[Guo] from putting investors at further risk.” Montford & Co., Advisers Act Release No. 3829,
2014 SEC LEXIS 1529, at *86-87 (May 2, 2014), pet. denied, 793 F.3d 76 (D.C. Cir. 2015).

Ultimately, the securities industry “relies on the fairness and integrity of all persons associated

4 Exh. 3, at *6 (imposing, for example, disgorgement of $137,238,985 on the entity

defendants).
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with each of the professions covered by the collateral bar to forgo opportunities to defraud and abuse
other market participants.” John W. Lawton, 2012 WL 6208750, at *11. Guo’s pattern of blatant
misconduct demonstrates he is incapable of such fairness and integrity. He presents a significant risk
to the securities market and should be sanctioned accordingly. See Bartko v. SEC, 845 F.3d 1217,
1220-21 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (“Under Dodd-Frank, then, the Commission is now able to bar a securities
market participant from the six listed classes—broker-dealers, investment advisers, municipal
securities dealers, transfers agents, municipal advisors and NRSROs—based on misconduct in only
one class.”).

111. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, the Division of Enforcement respectfully requests the
Commission grant this Motion for Summary Disposition, and impose a permanent associational

bar and penny stock bar against Guo under Section 15(b) of the Exchange Act.

Dated: April 19, 2023 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Devon L. Staren

Devon L. Staren

Daniel J. Maher

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, N.E.

Washington, DC 20549

Tel: (202) 551-5346 (Staren)

Tel: (202) 551-4737 (Mabher)
StarenD@SEC.gov
MaherD@SEC.gov

Counsel for Division of Enforcement
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on April 19, 2023, I caused a copy of the forgoing to be mailed by U.S.
Postal Service to Respondent David Guo.

/s/ Devon Leppink Staren
Devon Leppink Staren
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EXHIBIT 1
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Case 1:13-cv-05584-RRM-RLM Doc /09/13 Page_ 1 of 40 PagelD #: 1
554

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT C
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK T

0 -y

e . -2 \‘.,j :_ }—j
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, : - T
[(Np
Plaintiff, =
V. .
: CASE NO.
CKB168 HOLDINGS LTD., WIN168 BIZ :
SOLUTIONS LTD., CKB168 LTD., CKB168 BIZ : JURY TRIAL
SOLUTION, INC., CYBER KIDS BEST : DEMANDED
EDUCATION LTD., RAYLA MELCHER :
SANTOS, HUNG WAI (“HOWARD”) SHERN, : FILED UNDER SEAL
RUI LING (“FLORENCE”) LEUNG, DALIANG :

(“DAVID”) GUO, YAO LIN, CHIH HSUAN
“KIKI” LIN, WEN CHEN HWANG (AKA
“WENDY LEE”), TONI TONG CHEN,
CHEONGWHA “HEYWQOD” CHANG, JOAN
CONGYI MA (AKA“JC MA™), AND HEIDI MAO

LIU (AKA “HEIDI MAO”), MAUS. @PE i
Defendants,
- AND - X
. MANN, p.y
ROSANNA LS INC., USA TRADE GROUP, INC., : W,

OUNI INTERNATIONAL TRADING INC., E

STOCK CLUB CORP., EZ STOCK CLUB CORP.,
HTC CONSULTING LLC, AND ARCADIA
BUSINESS CONSULTING, INC.,,

Relief Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission™ or “SEC”) alleges as
follows:
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Case 1:13-cv-05584-RRM-RLM Document 1 Filed 10/09/13 Page 2 of 40 PagelD #: 2

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS

1. The Commission brings this emergency action to halt an ongoing pyramid scheme
and offering fraud, which primarily targets members of the Asian-American community. The
corporate defendants — WIN168 Biz Solutions Ltd., CKB168 Ltd., CKB168 Holdings, Ltd.,
CKB168 Biz Solution Inc., and Cyber Kids Best Education Limited — are five entities based in
Hong Kong, Canada, and the British Virgin Islands that collectively operate under the business
name “CKB168” or “CKB.” The individual defendants are three foreign nationals ~ Rayla
Melchor Santos, Hung Wai (Howard) Shern, and Rui Ling (Florence) Leung (aka Kwai Chee
Leung) — who control the CKB entities and eight senior promoters in the United States —
Daliang (David) Guo, Yao Lin, Chih Hsuan (Kiki) Lin, Wen Chen Hwang (aka Wendy Lee),
Tont Tong Chen, Cheongwha (Heywood) Chang, Joan Congyi (JC) Ma, and Heidi Mao Liu (aka
Heidi Mao) — who sit atop the pyramid scheme in the United States. To date, the Defendants
have harvested $20 million, and likely much more, from at least 400 investors in New York,
California, and elsewhere in the United States, as well as millions of dollars from investors in
Canada, Taiwan, Hong Kong, and other countries in Asia.

2. Through publicly available websites, promotional materials, seminars, and videos
posted to the internet, as well as through other efforts intended to create the appearance of a
legitimate enterprise, Defendants have falsely portrayed CKB as a profitable multi-levet
marketing company that sells web-based children’s educational courses.

3. What CKB really sells, however, is the false promise of easy wealth. Potential
purchasers of CKB products must invest in CKB to get one of its courses. Defendants promise
that those investors will earn exponential, risk-free returns. In addition to the course, each

purchaser/investor receives “Profit Reward Points” (“Prpts™) with a purported value of $750.
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Case 1:13-cv-05584-RRM-RLM Document 1 Filed 10/09/13 Page 3 of 40 PagelD #: 3

Investors are told that they will earn “passive” returns in the form of Prpt dividends and 2-for-1
splits, and that they will be able to buy and sell their Prpts in an online exchange accessible
through the CKB website. Investors also are promised that they will earn massive returns by
converting their Prpts into shares of CKB stock when the company conducts an initial public
offering (“IPO”) on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange sometime during 2014. Some Defendants
allege that these returns can be achieved without any risk of loss.

4, Despite Defendants’ representations to the contrary, the Prpts are worthless and
cannot be meaningfully traded, sold or exchanged. Nor has CKB taken required steps to prepare
for the promised IPO and, in fact, does not meet the Hong Kong Exchange’s current listing
requirements. Even if the IPO were to occur, CKB would have to go public as one of the world’s
largest companies in order to honor conversions of the ever-expanding universe of Prpts.

5. Still, while essential to the scheme, Prpts are not its only incentive. The scheme’s
ultimate goal 1s to tum investors into recruiters. CKB lures investors with the promise of even
greater “active” returns, in the form of commissions and bonuses, for recruiting new, “down-
line” participants into the program. In contrast to Prpts, active recruitment is the only way to
make actual significant money.

6. In a videotaped recording posted to the internet, Defendant Kiki Lin exemplifies
this pitch, telling potential investors: “So in our . . . pyramid triangle system, we spread it from
one to ten and ten to hundred and hundred to thousand, thousand to ten thousand. Right now the
company has been operating for over three months. And all of us are still at the top of the
pyramid. And for those who really want to make money, who are really hard working, in a short
time, you would all be like John who had already had — made money to buy five houses in Las

Vegas. . . . | believe the company is providing us with a wonderful opportunity.”
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Case 1:13-cv-05584-RRM-RLM Document 1 Filed 10/09/13 Page 4 of 40 PagelD #: 4

7. In fact, CKB has little or no retail consumer sales to generate the promised returns
and no apparent source of revenues other than money received from new investors. Instead,
CKB is a classic pyramid scheme that depends on the recruitment of new investors to pay
promised returns to existing ones. Its inevitable collapse will cause substantial investor losses.
Indeed, bank records show that most of the money raised has already been paid out as
commissions, with the bulk of this money going to Defendants and others.at the top of the
investment pyramids.

8. As aresult of this conduct, Defendants have violated the antifraud provisions of
the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(“Exchange Act”). By selling securities in an unregistered offering, Defendants have violated
Section 5 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77e. By acting as brokers for these transactions
without being registered as, or associated with, a registered broker-dealer, Defendants Shern,
Guo, Yao Lin, Kiki Lin, Wendy Lee, Toni Chen, Heywood Chang, JC Ma, and Heidi Mao have
violated Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 780(a). Unless restrained and enjoined,
Defendants will continue to violate these provisions and are likely to engage in future violations
of the federal securities laws.

9. To halt Defendants’ unlawful conduct, to maintain the status quo and to preserve
any remaining assets for defrauded investors, the Commission seeks emergency relief, including
temporary restraining orders and preliminary injunctions, and an order: (i) imposing asset freezes
on the Defendants and Relief Defendants and requiring them to repatriate all fraudulent proceeds
that are now located abroad; (ii) providing for alternative service, preventing the destruction of
documents, and ordering expedited discovery; and (iii) requiring the Defendants and Relief

Defendants to provide verified accountings. The Commission also secks permanent injunctions
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against the Defendants, disgorgement of ill-gotten gains and prejudgment interest thereon from
the Defendants and Relief Defendants, and civil monetary penalties from the Defendants.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10.  The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred by Section
20 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(b), and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §
78u(d).

11.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22(a) of the
Secunties Act, 15 U.8.C. § 77v(a), and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa.
Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, have made use of the means or
instrumentalities of transportation or communication in, or the instrumentalities of, interstate
commerce, or of the mails, in connection with the transaction, acts, practices, and courses of
business alleged herein.

12. Venue lies in this district pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act, 15
U.S.C. § 77v(a), and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa. Certain of the
transactions, acts, practices and courses of business constituting the violations alleged herein
occurred within the Eastern District of New York. Among other things, Defendants Santos and
Shern have travelled to Flushing, Queens to participate and speak in seminars and meetings for
CKB investors, Defendant Leung controls accounts that have received wires of investor funds
from banks in this district, including branches located in Queens. Defendants Guo and Yao Lin,
who sit atop U.S. investment pyramids, live in New Hyde Park and Flushing, respectively, and
have solicited investors in this district, and maintain bank accounts in this district through which
they have received and transferred investor funds. Other Defendants have transferred investor

funds up-line to accounts controlled by Guo and Yao Lin in this district, and have maintained

OS Received 04/19/2023



Case 1:13-cv-05584-RRM-RLM Document 1 Filed 10/09/13 Page 6 of 40 PagelD #: 6

websites or posted videos on the internet promoting CKB that are accessible to investors in this
district. All of the Defendants have substantially participated in the fraudulent scheme described
herein, which has raised money from investors who reside in this district.

DEFENDANTS AND RELIEF DEFENDANTS

I Defendants

A, The CKB Entities

13. WIN168 Biz Solutions Limited (“WIN168”) is a private Hong Kong company
established on March 8, 2011. Defendants Santos, Shern, and Florence Leung are directors of
WIN168 and together own eight million of the company’s nine million shares. WIN168

registered a website located at www.ckb168.com, posted in English and Chinese, which

promoted the investment scheme. In approximately April 2013, www.ckb168.com was taken
down and replaced with a largely identical website located at www.ckbmax.com, which also was
posted in English and Chinese. (Collectively, the two websites will be referred to as the “CKB
Website.”) The CKB Website contains many of the misrepresentations described below,
including “testimonials” by many of the Defendants, and provides investors access to fraudulent
“account statements.” From April 2011 until at least August 2013, WIN168 maintained bank
accounts at HSBC in Hong Kong that were used to receive and transfer funds from CKB
investors located in the United States and elsewhere. Those accounts received wire transfers
from banks located in New York, including this district. Defendants Shern and Leung were the
authorized signatories for these accounts.

14. CKB168 Biz Solution Inc. (“CKB168 Biz") is a Canadian corporation established

on April 29, 2011 with its principal place of business in Toronto, Ontario. Defendant Shern is
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the sole director of CKB168 Biz. CKB168 Biz has maintained bank accounts at TD Bank in
Canada that have been used to receive and transfer funds from CKB investors.

15. CKB168 Limited (*CKB168 L.td.”) is a private Hong Kong company established
on October 13, 2011. CKB168 Ltd. shares a business address with WIN168, and its sole director
1s CKB168 Biz Solution Limited (“CKB168 Biz Ltd.”), a British Virgin Islands corporation with
its office in Tortola. From November 2011 until approximately August 2013, CKB168 Ltd.
maintained a bank account at HSBC in Hong Kong that was used to receive and transfer funds
from CKB investors, including wires coming from New York. Defendants Shern and Leung
were the authorized signatories for this account,

16. CKB168 Holdings Limited (“CKB168 Holdings™) is a private Hong Kong
company established on October 13, 2011. CKB168 Holdings shares a business address with
Defendants WIN168 and CKB168 Ltd., and its directors are CKB168 Biz Ltd., and a non-party
individual who is listed as an executive on the CKB Website. Sample stock certificates shown to
prospective investors indicate that CKB168 Holdings is the entity whose shares have been
offered to the public.

17. Cyber Kids Best Education Limited (“Cyber Kids Best”) is a private British
Virgin Islands company established on January 15, 2013. Cyber Kids Best shares a business
address with CKB168 Biz Ltd., and its correspondence address matcheé that of the other CKB
entities. Its sole director is a non-party individual listed as the head of a “Global Committee™
under the “Marketing Alliances” section of the CKB Website. Cyber Kids Best controls five
bank accounts at Shanghai Commercial Bank Ltd. in Hong Kong, at least two of which were
used to receive and transfer funds from CKB investors located in the United States, including

this district, and elsewhere. Florence Leung is an authorized signatory to these accounts.
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18.  WIN168, CKB168 Biz, CKB168 Holdings, CKB168 Ltd., and Cyber Kids Best
have never been registered with the Commission in any capacity and have never registered any
offering of securities under the Securities Act or any class of securities under the Exchange Act.

B. CKB Executives

9. Rayla Mclchor Santos (“‘Santos™), aka “Teacher Sam,” born 1956, is a Philippines
national and is featured on the CKB website as the “founder” of CKB. Corporate registry
records indicate that Santos is a director and the second largest shareholder of WIN168. Santos
has travelled to the United States, including to this district, to participate in meetings and
seminars to promote CKB.

20. Defendant Hung Wai (Howard) Shern (“Shern™), born 1958, is a Canadian citizen
and resident of Hong Kong. Shern is featured on the CKB website as the “Director of CKB168
International Marketing.” Shemn is a director and the largest shareholder of WIN168, and, along
with Defendant Florence Leung, one of the signatories to bank accounts in the names of WIN168
and CKB168 Ltd. that were used to receive and transfer funds from CKB investors. He also is
the sole director of CKB168 Biz in Toronto, Ontario. Shern has travelled to the United States,
including to this district, to participate in meetings and seminars to promote CKB.

21. Defendant Rui Ling (Florence) Leung, aka Kwai Chee Leung (“Leung’), born
1957, is a Hong Kong national and is described on the CKB website as the “Chief Financial
Officer” for CKB. Leung is a director and sharcholder of WIN168, and, along with Shern, one
of the signatories to bank accounts in the names of WIN168 and CKB168 Ltd. that were used to
receive and transfer funds from CKB investors. Leung is also a signatory to accounts in the
name of Cyber Kids Best that were used to receive and transfer funds from CKB investors. In

addition, Leung has received CKB investor funds sent from a Western Union branch located in
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Flushing, Queens, within this district. In promotional materials distributed to investors, Leung
describes herself as a professional investment adviser who will assist CKB in its public offering.
Approximately $4.6 million have been transferred from CKB bank accounts into bank accounts
that Leung controls.

C. CKB Promoters

22, Daliang (David) Guo (“Guo™), born 1963, is a Chinese native and a resident of
New Hyde Park, New York. Guo was among CKB’s first U.S. promoters, and currently sits atop
a U.S. investment pyramid. In his “Grand Ranking” promoter testimonial on the CKB website,
Guo claims to have earned over $1 million from his association with CKB within 8 months. He
has met with and made presentations to prospective investors in this district, as well as elsewhere
in New York, Las Vegas, California, Philadelphia, Delaware, and China to promote CKB. Guo
has deposited funds received from CKB investors into accounts held in his own name as well as
accounts held in the name of a company he controls, Relief Defendant Rosanna LS Inc.

23. Yao Lin (“Yao Lin™), born 1973, 1s a resident of Fresh Meadows, New York.
Yao Lin was among CKB’s first U.S. promoters, and currently sits atop a U.S. investment
pyramid. In his “Grand Ranking” promoter testimonial on the CKB website, Yao Lin claims to
have earned over $300,000 from his association with CKB. Yao Lin has met with prospective
investors within this district, as well as in California. Bank records indicate that he has deposited
funds received from CKB investors into accounts held in his own name as well as accounts held
in the name of a company he controls, Relief Defendant Ouni International Trading Inc.

24. Chih Hsuan (Kiki) Lin (“Kiki Lin™), born 1965, is Taiwanese native and a
resident of Las Vegas, Nevada. In her “Grand Ranking” promoter testimonial, Kiki Lin claims

she earned “one million USD” within her first two months of investing in CKB. Kiki Lin is
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directly down-line from David Guo within his pyramid and has sent CKB investor funds to bank
accounts under his control within this district. Kiki Lin has promoted CKB to prospective
investors in New York, Las Vegas, San Francisco, and Los Angeles, and began collecting funds
from investors beginning in at least August 2011. She has deposited these funds into banks
accounts held in her own name, as well as in the name of a company she controis, Relief
Defendant USA Trade Group, Inc. Kiki Lin also operates a website, www .kk1 368.com, through
which “CKB members” can login to a password-protected portion of the site.

25. Defendant Wen Chen Hwang, aka Wen Chen Lee, (“Wendy Lee”), born 1962, is
a Taiwanese native and a resident of Rowland Heights, California. In her “Grand Ranking”
promoter testtmonial, Wendy Lee claims to have made $53,000 within four months of investing
in CKB. Wendy Lee is directly down-line from Yao Lin within his pyramid, has sent CKB
investor funds to bank accounts under his control in this district, and holds weekly seminars to
promote CKB in Los Angeles. Wendy Lee began collecting funds from CKB investors from at
least July 2011 and has deposited them into accounts held in her own name, accounts over which
she held a power of attomney, and accounts in the names of three entities under her control: Relief
Defendants E Stock Club Corp. and EZ Stock Club Corp, as well as United Diagnostics Corp. E

Stock Club Corp. has a website located at www.estockclub.com, which appears in an English

version and a Chinese version. Both versions appear to provide securities trading advice, but
only the Chinese version of the website promotes CKB.

26. Toni Tong Chen (“Toni Chen™), born 1968, is a resident of Hacienda Heights,
California. Toni Chen is a certified public accountant licensed in California. From 1996 to
August 2012, she was associated with four registered broker-dealers, and held multiple securities

licenses. In her “Grand Ranking” promoter testimonial, together with her husband, Defendant
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Heywood Chang, they claim to have earned six-digit commissions since the first month they
joined CKB and to have made a return of over 100% from their investment. The pair are directly
down-line from Wendy Lee, and have made presentations at her weekly seminars in Los
Angeles, California. In addition, the pair has sent CKB investor funds to bank accounts under
the control of Yao Lin in this district.

27. Cheongwha (“Heywood”) Chang (“Heywood Chang”), born 1967, is Chinese
native and a resident of Hacienda Heights, California. From 1998 to 2000, he was associated
with two registered broker-dealers and held securities licenses. Together with his wife, he began
collecting funds from CKB investors from at least May 2012, and has deposited these funds into
bank accounts held in their own names, as well as in the names of companies under their control,
including Relief Defendants HTC Consulting LL.C and Arcadia Business Consulting Inc. In
addition, CKB investor funds have been deposited into bank accounts in the names of other
individuals over which Toni Chen held a power of attorney.

28.  Joan Congyi Ma (“JC Ma”), born 1970, is a resident of Arcadia, California. From
1996 to 1999, she was associated with a registered broker-dealer and held securities licenses. In
her “Grand Ranking” promoter testimonial, JC Ma claims that her income from the CKB
investment “has far exceeded [her] expectations.” JC Ma is down-line from Wendy Lee, and has
appeared at and helped to organize seminars and other events in Los Angeles, California. JC Ma
began collecting funds from CKB investors from at least May 2012, and has deposited them into
accounts held in her own name as well as accounts over which she held a power of attorney. In
her testimonial, JC Ma references the day she met Yao Lin as her “lucky day.”

29. Defendant Heidi Mao Liu (“Heidi Mao™), born 1964, is a resident of Diamond

Bar, California. From 1997 to 1999, she was associated with a registered broker-dealer and held

1t
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securities licenses. Heidi Mao operates a website located at www .heidimaol68.com, which

promotes the CKB investment scheme. Heidi Mao is down-line from Wendy Lee, and has
provided testimonials at Wendy Lee’s seminars in Los Angeles, California. Heidi Mao began
collecting funds from CKB investors from at least July 2012, and has deposited them into
accdunts held in her own name, as well as accounts over which she held a power of attorney.

II. Relief Defendants

30. Rosanna LS Inc. (“Rosanna™) is a New York corporation with the same business
address as the home address of David Guo in New Hyde Park, New York. David Guo has
signatory authority over accounts held in the name of Rosanna, which have been used to receive
and transfer proceeds from CKB investors.

31. USA Trade Group Inc. (“USA Trade”) is a Nevada Corporation for which Kiki
Lin serves as the sole officer and director. Kiki Lin has signatory authority over accounts held in
the name of USA Trade, which have been used to receive and transfer proceeds from CKB
investors.

32. Ouni International Trading Inc. (“Ouni International™) is a New York corporation
with the same business address as the home address of Yao Lin in Fresh Meadows, New York.
Yao Lin has signatory authority over accounts held in the name of Ouni International, which
have been used to receive and transfer proceeds from CKB investors.

33.  E Stock Club Corp. (“E Stock Club”) is a California corporation with an address
in Rowland Heights, California for which Wendy Lee is the registered agent. Wendy Lee has
signatory authority over accounts held in the name of E Stock Club, which have been used to

receive and transfer proceeds from CKB investors.

12
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34.  EZ Stock Club Corp. (“EZ Stock™) is a California corporation with an address in
Rowland Heights, California for which Wendy Lee is the registered agent. Wendy Lee has
signatory authority over accounts held in the name of EZ, Stock, which have been used to receive
and transfer proceeds from CKB investors.

35. HTC Consulting LLC (“HTC”) is a California company with a business address
identical to the home address of Toni Chen and Heywood Chang. Bank records indicate that
Heywood Chang has signatory authority over accounts held in the name of HTC, which have
been used to receive and transfer proceeds from CKB investors.

36.  Arcadia Business Consulting, Inc. (“Arcadia™) is a California company for which
Heywood Chang is the registered agent. Heywood Chang has signatory authority over accounts

held in the name of Arcadia, which have been used to recetve and transfer proceeds from CKB

investments.
FACTS
I. Defendants Launch Their Fraudulent Scheme

37. Defendants Santos, Leung and Shern are the architects of this pyramid scheme,
which was launched from Hong Kong. Shortly after WIN168 was established in March 2011,
Defendants Santos, Leung and Shem began efforts to establish investment pyramids in the
United States. Guo and Yao Lin were among the first to join the scheme in the United States,
making their first investments in approximately June 2011. Guo and Yao Lin then almost
immediately began to recruit new investors by holding meetings and seminars in New York.
Accounts controlled by Guo and Lin show investor payments starting that same month.

38. Guo’s and Yao Lin’s roles quickly grew, and they now sit atop multi-level CKB

investment pyramids. In email communications, meetings and presentations to investors, they
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are generally described as the “top leaders™ for CKB in the United States. Both have travelled
extensively to promote CKB, and appear in CKB promotional videos that have been posted on
YouTube or other publicly-accessible internet sites. In these videos, both Guo and Yao Lin can
be seen posing with other Defendants and/or speaking directly to the camera. Guo and Yao Lin
knew or were reckless in not knowing that they were being recorded and that such recordings
would be shared with other CKB investors or prospective investors.

39. Both are also directly connected to CKB executives Santos, Shern, and Leung.
Guo, Yao Lin, Santos, and Shern appear together in multiple promotional videos recorded in the
United States. In a video posted to the internet on July 10, 2012 by an unidentified promoter,
Guo describes two occasions in which he invited Santos to travel to New York to promote CKB.
He later identifies her in this video as one of CKB’s “owners.” Furthermore, bank records from
June 2011 through at least October 2011 reflect multiple transfers of investor funds from bank
accounts in New York that Guo and Yao Lin control to CKB bank accounts in Hong Kong
controlled by Leung and Shern.

40.  After Guo and Yao Lin began recruiting investors in the New York area, the
scheme quickly expanded to California and other areas with large Asian-American immigrant
communities. There, they recruited energetic and highly visible promoters that have organized
seminars and meetings nationwide, maintained a robust internet presence, recorded and posted
numerous promotional videos, and organized and executed the transfer of investor funds. Those
promoters include Defendants Kiki Lin, Wendy Lee, Toni Chen, Heywood Chang, Heidi Mao,
and JC Ma. Kiki Lin sits just below David Guo in his investment pyramid. Wendy Lee sits just

below Yao Lin in his pyramid, while the other Defendants are below Lee.
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41. Defendants Shern, Santos, Guo, Yao Lin, Wendy Lee, Kiki Lin, Heywood Chang,
Toni Chen, JC Ma, and Heidi Mao appear in CKB promotional videos recorded in New York,
San Francisco, Los Angeles, and perhaps other locations and posted to the internet at various
times from between October 2011 to at least February 2013. These Defendants knew or were
reckless in not knowing that these videos would be recorded and shared with other CKB
mvestors or prospective investors.

42, Toni Chen, Heywood Chang, Heidi Mao, and JC Ma are all former licensed
securities professionals. Although Lee has never been a licensed securities professional, she
offers securities trading advice and education for a fee through her company, Relief Defendant E
Stock Club and its website.

1L The CKB Offering and Defendants’ Promises of Extraordinary Returns

43, Since at least June 201 1, Defendants have solicited United States investors for
CKB through a variety of tactics, including in-person sales pitches, videotaped presentations
posted on the internet, websites, written brochures and other written matenals, and e-mail and
telephone communications. These solicitations have been made in both Chinese and English.

44.  Many of these presentations and promotional events have been recorded on video
and posted to YouTube or other publicly-available sites on the internet. At these promotional
events, investors are provided with pamphlets and other promotional materials that purport to
describe the business of CKB and the purportedly enormous profit potential for investors.

45. These materials generally direct investors to the CKB website and also often are
accompanied by contact information for one or more of the Defendants. Investors are routinely
directed to the CKB website not only for information about the company, but also to access their

individual password-protected accounts. There, they are able to monitor their purported CKB
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investments, including the fraudulent statements of account value. Since at least J anuary 2013,
the CKB website also has been advertising periodic company-sponsored “business introduction”
webinars on the CKB investment in English and Chinese.

46, Defendants Guo, Yao Lin, Kiki Lin, Wendy Lee, Toni Chen, Heywood Chang,
and JC Ma are all featured as “Grand Ranking” promoters on the CKB website. As Grand
Ranking promoters, each has posted testimonials on the website, recounting their discovery of,
and success with, the CKB “business opportunity.” Those testimonials all include descriptions
of these Defendants” enormous profits, as well as endorsements of CKB’s legitimacy and
ultimate success. As JC Ma puts it in her testimonial, although she did not initially understand
the business, her income from CKB “has far exceeded her expectations.”

47.  The statements in these testimonials are similar to those found on the websites
separately maintained by Wendy Lee, Kiki Lin, and Heidi Mao that promote the CKB
investment. For example, on her website, Mao describes CKB as “an explosively growing
company,” and encourages investors to buy a $1380 business package, which will allow them to
become an “angel representative.”

48.  Defendants have made no effort to determine the financial qualifications or
investment experience of any investor prior to soliciting funds. In fact, Kiki Lin’s testimonial on
the CKB website indicates that she took money from individuals who she knew to have very
limited financial resources, including someone she described as a Las Vegas hotel cleaning
woman and another she described as a “servant with low income.” Nor have the Defendants
provided investors with any financial or other disclosure statements for CKB. Investors who
have requested financial information about the company have been told the information is secret

and not available to investors.
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49, WIN168, Shern and the CKB Promoters have knowingly or recklessly made
misrepresentations and all Defendants have knowingly or recklessly engaged in deceptive acts
that falsely portray CKB as a profitable educational software company that distributes its
products using legitimate multi-level marketing methods that will reward investors with
enormous returns. As the founders, officers, directors, primary shareholders and representatives
of CKB and its related entities, including the corporate Defendants, Defendants Santos, Shern
and Leung knew or were reckless in not knowing that CKB is and was a fraudulent pyramid
scheme. Moreover, Defendants Santos, Shern and Leung knew or were reckless in not knowing
the falsity of the statements being made to promote it. Santos and Shern, in particular, have
frequently attended and presented at promotional events in the United States. Leung is also
directly involved in running CKB. For example, she actually signs the checks sent to promoters
as commissions. Shern, Leung and WIN168 control bank accounts into which millions of dollars
of investor money have flowed.

50. As set forth in this Complaint, each of the CKB Promoters has made substantial
efforts to recruit investors to CKB, including the use of in-person, on-line and written persuasive
statements. Each of the CKB Promoters has also directly and substantially benefitted from the
CKB pyramid scheme, with at least tens of or hundreds of thousands, or in some cases millions,
of dollars of investor assets flowing into accounts he or she individually controls. Each of the
CKB Promoters frequently coordinates with other promoters and with the CKB Executives,
including for the purposes of promoting CKB and transferring investor assets. In light of these
circumstances, each of the CKB Promoters knew, or was reckless in not knowing, CKB’s true
nature and the falsity of the promised returns. This is especially true for Defendants Toni Chen,

Heywood Chang, Heidi Mao, Wendy Lee and JC Ma, who were, or hold themselves out to be,

17

OS Received 04/19/2023



Case 1:13-cv-05584-RRM-RLM Document 1 Filed 10/09/13 Page 18 of 40 PagelD #: 18

financial professionals, and for Defendants David Guo and Yao Lin, who sit atop United States
investor pyramids, and who were among CKB’s first U.S. promoters. JC Ma states in her
testimonial that she has worked her way through six levels of the CKB pyramid, making it
impossible that she does not understand how CKB really works. Heidi Mao, who maintains an
entire website devoted to promoting CKB, also knows, or is reckless in not knowing, CKB’s real
purpose. Finally, as set forth in greater detail below, Defendants Guo, Yao Lin, Kiki Lin, Ma,
Chen and Chang have sought to reassure potential investors about CKB’s legitimacy by telling
them they have studied CKB’s business model and confirmed the promotional claims.

51. Defendants’ grandiose claims about CKB’s performance depict a huge, profitable
business. For example, in one video posted to the internet by Kiki Lin in March 2013, Guo tells
prospective investors in California that his “marketing team” — a euphemism for the pyramid he
sits atop — has generated $100,000,000 in sales revenue. Santos and Shern can be seen
applauding in response to his claim. In another seminar presentation recorded and posted to the
internet by Heidi Mao on November 25, 2012, Heywood Chang tells investors that during a
business trip with Shern in Hong Kong, he learned that CKB had sold 125,000 courses in the
first 16 months of its existence, resulting in “about $170 miltion . . . in total sales.”

52. In another set of videos, recorded on August 26, 2011 in New York, Guo pretends
to be a news anchor reporting CKB with a fake news ticker across the screen. Guo predict
enormous growth for CKB, describing new office space, products, and “play parks” that “will be
all over the world.” Similar statements appear in promotional materials distributed by Kiki Lin,
Wendy Lee, Heywood Chang, and Toni Chen. In these materials, the educational software

courses are described generally as the perfect all-purpose games, able to teach English, memory
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skills, creativity, moral standards and international values. Yao Lin claims in his testimonial that
CKB “is a business that invests in children education and will change the future.”

53. Defendants do not dwell on specifics when describing CKB. The CKB website
and in the promotional materials distributed to investors describe CKB’s business and products
only in the most general, hyperbolic terms. Moreover, in at least some instances when investors
and potential investors have sought more specific information, they have been refused or been
given false information. For instance, one investor that requested specific financial data about
CKB was told by Heywood Chang and Toni Chen that the information was “secret” and not
available to investors. When this investor sought the same information directly via the email
address provided on the CKB website, he received a similar response. In another instance, this
investor requested additional information about the promised IPO via the email address provided
on the CKB website; he received a response stating that the IPO was being reviewed by a Hong
Kong governmental agency that, in fact, has no role or authority relating to IPOs.

54.  Defendants’ primary lure, and biggest focus, is the promise of fantastic, risk-free
returns. For example, in videos posted to the internet by Kiki Lin and other CKB promoters, in
August 2011, October 2011, and March 2013, Guo asserts that that the CKB investment
“increased four times” in the first two months of CKB’s existence, will “increase by 50 times,”
and, eventually “will have return several tens, even several hundreds . . . times return.”

55.  These types of claims are repeated in different forms by WIN168, Shern and the
CKB Promoters. Examples include Defendant Chang, in a seminar presentation recorded and
posted to the internet by Heidi Mao on November 25, 2012, predicting that an original
investment of $56,000 can soon become $1 million. Wendy Lee posts a chart on a CKB

promotional website she maintains purporting to show that a CKB investment will increase
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eight-fold in less than ten months. Other slides on her website purport to depict a chart of
historical Prpt values and splits, and conclude that if an investor had 10,000 Prpts when CKB
was first established, he or she would not have 320,000. Kiki Lin claims in a recorded
presentation that she posted to the internet on March 27, 2013 that if an investor makes a sizable
enough investment, he or she could see returns of up to 600 times. At a private dinner, Yao Lin
told one investor that $50,000 can become $1 million in a single year, a claim that matched
statements by Defendants Chen, Chang and Lee to the same investor.

56.  Literature distributed to investors says much the same thing. An English flyer
provided to a prospective investor by a CKB promoter down-line from Kiki Lin states that “your
investment will be doubled, quadrupled and continue to grow in size to 8 times, 16 times...”
Another flyer received by a prospective investor contains the photograph and contact information
for Kiki Lin and touts “a onehundredfold [sic] profit.”

57. At least some Defendants couple these promises with reassurances that a CKB
investment will never lose money. In a recorded presentation posted to the internet on March 27,
2013 by Kiki Lin, Guo states that an investment in CKB “will only grow and never fall.” In an
earlier video posted to the internet on October 31, 2011, Guo says “we will talk about why this
stock doesn’t have risk.”

58.  Other Defendants echo these claims. In promotional materials distributed to
investors and videos posted to the internet, they describe an investment that will always increase
in value as more investors purchase “business packs.” For instance, in a video posted to the
internet on November 11, 2011 by Kiki Lin, Shern states that the price of Prpts will increase

every time a certain number of Prpts are distributed. In other words, contrary to investment
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logic, the distribution of more Prpts leads inexorably to an increase in Prpt value. As Defendants
Chang and Chen told one investor in late 2012, a CKB investment can only go up.

59, To become a CKB investor, an individual must purchase one or more “business
packs,” for approximately $1,380 per pack. (Business packs were at one time sold for $1200.)
Once an investor purchases a business pack, he or she becomes a CKB “affiliate” known as an
“Online Marketing Angel” (“OMA”) and, for each pack purchased, receives: a) access to one of
CKB’s online children’s courses; b) a “back office” account accessible through a password-
protected portion of the CKB website; and c) Prpts purportedly worth $750.

60.  Under the scheme, as designed and carried out by the Defendants, investors are
eligible to earn investment returns in one of two ways. The first is simply through the passive
accumulation of Prpts. The CKB website and promotional materials distributed to investors state
that the Prpts have a U.S. dollar cash value. CKB Promoters Guo, Yao Lin, Kikt Lin, Wendy
Lee, Heywood Chang, Toni Chen, and Heidi Mao have made statements directly to investors,
through intermet postings, and/or emails indicating that the value of these Prpts will grow
exponentially over time. CKB Promoters Chang and Chen have told at least one investor that he
can expect to make back his original investment in Prpts within a few months. These gains are
purportedly accomplished in two ways: by the Prpts splitting and returning to their pre-split
price, and by investors earning an additional 5% to 30% annual dividend, paid quarterly in Prpts.
The CKB promotional materials, as well as statements to investors by certain Defendants,
including Shern, Guo, Kiki Lin, Wendy Lee, Chang, and Chen, indicate that their Prpts are liquid
and can be used, among other things, to be traded for cash with other investors on an internal
online “exchange” that is accessible through the CKB website. In fact these statements are false

and these Defendants knew or were reckless in not knowing that they were false.
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61.  Another primary tool used to recruit new investors has been the promise that they
will be able to exchange their Prpts for pre-IPO shares of CKB. JC Ma claims in her testimonial
that the “opportunity to be a shareholder of CKB168” was a “main attraction.” Shern says in a
video uploaded by Kiki Lin that investors can “convert you [sic] points into shares.” Yao Lin
emphasizes in his testimonial that CKB “offers a great opportunity for common people to get
rich by means of getting listed.” The CKB website, promotional materials distributed to
investors, internet postings, and statements by Shern and most of the CKB Promoters, indicate
that CKB is taking steps to conduct an IPO on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in mid-2014. For
instance, in a presentation to investors that was posted to the internet on March 27, 2013 by Kiki
Lin, Guo asserts that “we will go public in 2014.” Kiki Lin is even more specific in a video she
posted of herself, asserting that “in July and August 2014, the company will go public.” Once
the IPO occurs, investors will purportedly be able to exchange their Prpts for pre-IPO shares of
CKB. In a video posted to the internet on July 10, 2012, Guo explains that “once the company
becomes public, those [Prpts] will become initial shares.” Defendants Howard Shern, Wendy
Lee, Kiki Lin, Heywood Chang, Toni Chen, and Heidi Mao have made similar statements
directly to investors in seminars and through CKB promotional materials distributed to investors.

62. Although Defendants emphasize the potential growth for passive investors, the
only actual returns an investor can receive under this scheme is by actively recruiting new
investors. According to a “Dynamic Rewards Plan” used by WIN168, Shern and the CKB
Promoters to solicit investors, active recruiters can earn commissions, which are called
“dynamic” or “active” returns. This Dynamic Rewards Plan describes an investment pyramid,
whereby OMAs profit by recruiting more investors, with a portion of each “down-line™

investment going to investors who are higher in the pyramid. According to this material, 85% of
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“sales” revenues are paid back to OMAs in the form of commissions. The amount of
commissions and bonuses that an investor is eligible to receive generally depends upon his or her
rank within the company — the higher the rank, the more commissions and bonuses that the
person can earn. This system is thus cleverly designed to pay the vast majority of the
commissions to the highest ranked promoters within CKB, including many of the Defendants.

63. In an 1nvestor presentation posted to the internet on October 31, 2011 as a series
of three videos, Guo describes to Defendant Kiki Lin and others the benefits of “develop[ing]
people on the second level to the tenth level,” so that you can make “indirect profits.” He goes
on to reiterate the claims in the Dynamic Reward Plan that “85%” of investor money will be
returned as commissions to investors higher in the pyramid. Later in the same series of videos,
Guo explains how to establish a more lucrative, “horizontal” pyramid.

4. Certain Defendants, including Shern, Heywood Chang, and Toni Chen, have
encouraged investors to work for active returns because they accrue more rapidly than passive
returns. What they fail to disclose, however, is that the active returns are the only actual returns
that an OMA. can earn under this scheme. Instead of simply passively accumulating more
worthless Prpts, the scheme allows active recruiters to redeem most of their commissions for real
cash.

65. In order to effectuate these commission payments, Defendant Shern and Leung
have established accounts in the names of WIN168 and CKB168 Ltd. from which payments
were made. Defendant Leung signed most of the disbursements from these accounts. In
addition, Defendants Shern and Leung entered into agreements with at least three third party
commission payment providers to distribute the commissions on CKB’s behalf. In

approximately June 2013, when a payment provider called Hyperwallet asked for confirmation
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that CKB’s commissions were based on “actual sales,” Defendant Shern created a “revised”
version of the Dynamic Rewards Plan. This version contained new language suggesting (for the
first time) that a retail consumer could purchase a CKB educational product without becoming an
mvestor, Defendant Shern sent this version to the commission payment provider, but failed to
disclose that CKB did not actually sell any of its products to non-investors.

III. The Defendants’ Misrepresentations and Omissions

A. CKB is a Pyramid Scheme

66.  Notwithstanding Defendants’ efforts to portray it as a legitimate multi-level
marketing company, CKB is a classic pyramid scheme. Unlike a legitimate multi-level
marketing program, CKB sells its product exclusively to investors and has no apparent source of
revenues other than money received from new investors. And, like many such schemes,
Defendants have targeted an affinity group.

67.  Neither CKB’s website nor any of the websites operated by other Defendants
offer any means to purchase the software without also purchasing Prpts and becoming an
investor. While investors are encouraged to purchase large numbers of courses, they are given
no instruction, training, or guidance on how to resell these courses to retatl consumers. The focus
of the Defendants’ promotional efforts and recruiting literature is almost exclusively on the CKB
“business opportunity,” rather than the purported educational software.

68. Furthermore, certain Defendants’ own statements make clear that every purchaser
of a CKB course becomes an investor. In a video presentation posted to the internet on
November 25, 2012 by Heidi Mao, Heywood Chang states, “we have three products right now
you can actually purchase, you know, when you become a member.” Similarly, Kiki Lin states in

a video presentation she posted to the internet on March 27, 2013, that “as long as you purchase
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an order which is worth 1380 yen [sic], you will be eligible to become our initial sharcholder.”
Slides captured from Wendy Lee’s E Stock Club website state that, with the purchase of a
course, one “can enjoy a number of Prpt with a value of USD 750.”

69.  Asaresult, the entire CKB enterprise depends on the recruitment of new investors
to pay promised returns and commissions to existing investors. Such a scheme is destined to
collapse, leaving a significant majority of investors with substantial losses. Defendants,
however, instead claim that CKB is on a trajectory of limitless growth.

70.  Defendants’ failures to disclose CKB’s true nature, and its inevitable collapse,
were omissions of material fact that made the Defendants’ statements about CKB, as described
herein, misleading.

B. Misrepresentations and Omissions About CKB’s Purported IPO

71.  Defendants’ promotional efforts are built around the promise that CKB is going to
launch an initial public offering (“IPO”) on the Hong Kong stock exchange, and that investors
will be able to convert their Prpts into shares of CKB stock at that time, thereby making massive
returns. As Guo explains in a video, “once the company becomes public, those [Prpts] will
become initial shares.”

72. Promotional materials distributed to an investor by a CKB promoter down-line

from Kiki Lin stated in part:

Is It Possible to Twrn $1,380 Investment To $500,000?

Pre-IPO investing is growing, it outperformed all other investment classes
with outsized returns of well over 20%, 30%, 50% or even 100% and more
for holders of original shares. Hundreds and thousands of millionaires
and billionaires have been created by the big name firms like Google,
Facebook and smaller firms as well like Alibaba, Baidu, New Oriental, Ice
Town Animation, etc. . . .

CKB168: Invest in Education: Create Wealth to Share
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Return on Investment: With a courseware purchase, investing $1,380 in
education, you receive a Pre-IPO privilege of PrPt for FREE, an
equivalent of $750 in value, salable, redeemable, and convertible to
company stock. Your investment will be doubled, quadrupled and
continue to grow in size fo 8 times, 16 times . . . till IPO.,

73. A flyer captured from Wendy Lee’s E Stock Club website asserts that when CKB
has allocated “the first batch of 200 million Prpts,” it will be prepared to go public and allocate a
20% stake in the company to the holders of these Prpts. The flyer then states that when CKB has
“sold about 360,000 courses with revenue of about USD 432 million and the profit of USD 36
million,” then “CKB’s market value is USD 2.88 billion.” Accordingly, the flyer concludes,
after the IPO each Prpt will be worth the equivalent of $2.16, a huge rise from the then-current
quoted Prpt price of $0.16 each.

74.  The promise of an IPO 1is thus critical to Defendants’ scheme. It discourages
investors from trying to unload their Prpts, and, because Defendants claim that the IPO cannot go
forward until certain sales benchmarks have been met, it encourages recruitment.

75. A common trope in Defendants’ promotional videos and literature is a
comparison between investors holding Prpts and pre-IPO sharcholders in other famously
successful IPOs. Both Heywood Chang and Kiki Lin appear in separate videos posted to the
internet comparing the planned CKB IPO with other famously successful IPOs, including
Google, Baidu, Alibaba and Facebook. In a different video that she posted to the internet, Kiki
Lin asserted that after the IPO, “you will see the profit goes double, four times, eight times,

sixteen times, 32 times and because the circulation in the world is very fast, you may even get 64

times.” David Guo makes similar recorded claims in a video posted to the internet on March 27,
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2013 by Kiki Lin that “after going public . . . the value of Prpt will increase by 50 times,” adding
“can you believe it? Everything is real. Everything is true.”

76. In fact, none of it is real or true. Defendants have made no filings with Hong
Kong authorities to list any of the CKB entities. In addition, the Hong Kong Stock Exchange has
threshold financial criteria for public listing that CKB cannot possibly meet because, among
other reasons, it has no real revenues.

77. WIN168 and CKB Promoters David Guo, Yao Lin, Kiki Lin, Wendy Lee,
Heywood Chang, Toni Chen, and Heidi Mao have knowingly or recklessly misrepresented to
investors that the Prpts frequently split, effectively doubling in value. For instance, in the
November 2012 video posted by Heidi Mao, Heywood Chang tells investors that in the first 18
months of its existence, the Prpts have, on average, doubled in value every three to four months,
and that he “very conservatively” estimates that the Prpts will double four more times in the next
18 to 20 months. A series of charts captured from Wendy Lee’s E Stock Club website purport to
show that “the value of each Profit Reward Point has increase[d] from USD 0.024 on Jan 1, 2012
to USD 0.169 on Sep 21, 2012, with a return of 8 times within 9.5 months! In this way, there
still might be return of 8-16 times before CKB gets listed in 2014.” These false representations
are similar to those shown in the charts purportedly showing historical Prpt values to investors
that access the password-protected section of the CKB website (controlled by WIN168).

78. These representations cannot possibly be true. If investors” Prpt positions split
and grow at anything approaching the exponential pace that Defendants promise, CKB could
honor conversions only if it had a market capitalization that placed it, at a bare minimum, among

the world’s most valuable companies.
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79.  The Defendants’ failures to disclose that CKB will not actually conduct an IPO
and that investors will not make the promised returns were material omissions of material fact
that made the Defendants’ statements about CKB, as described herein, misleading.

C. Misrepresentations and Omissions About the Prpts’ Value and Liquidity

80.  Defendants seek to create the impression with investors that owning Prpts is
tantamount to owning CKB stock. The Prpts have a purported price that rises over time, and
“split” every few months. WIN168 posts these historical prices on its website. Investors can
also view these purported prices in fraudulent “account statements,” accessible through the CKB
Website. In a video posted to the internet by Kiki Lin on November 11, 2011, Shern states that
the value of the Prpts in each business pack is $750. This claim is made repeatedly in
Defendants’ literature and promotional videos. Defendants Guo, Yao Lin, Wendy Lee,
Heywood Chang, Toni Chen, and Heidi Mao have all logged-in to their back office accounts to
display their own massive Prpt holdings to investors.

81. At least some CKB Promoters also have knowingly or recklessly misrepresented
to investors that Prpts are liquid and can, among other uses, be traded for cash with other
investors on an internal “Prpt exchange” accessible through the CKB Website. For instance,
slides captured from Wendy Lee’s E Stock Club website provide that the Prpts can be “sold in
Members online auction market.” Guo appears in the March 2013 video posted by Kiki Lin
telling investors that “after two months, we c[an] actually sell our Prpt at the backstage and
convert it into money.” Heywood Chang explains in the November 2012 video posted by Heidi
Mao, that an investor “can auction off some of the points to get cash value.” In an undated
videotaped presentation that she posted, Kiki Lin asserts that an investor could sell all of his or

her Prpts in two days, but cautions that “people might start to regret” such sales when they see
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the value continue to climb. Kiki Lin further claims the market has extremely high demand with
100 people wanting to buy Prpts for every 10 that want to sell.

82.  None of these representations are true. Except in rare and tightly limited
situations, Prpts cannot be converted to cash. Nor do other investors clamor for Prpts.
Defendants have not made or backed a meaningful Prpt market. One CKB investor who
attempted to withdraw his six-figure investment and return his Prpts to Defendants Chang and
Chen was refused.

83.  The Defendants’ failures to disclose that the Prpts are not liquid and cannot be
easily traded or converted to cash were material omissions.

D. Misrepresentations and Omissions About CKB’s Relationship with
Cackleberries

84.  WINI168, Shemn and certain CKB Promoters have also knowingly or recklessly
misrepresented to investors CKB’s relationship with a Canadian company called Cackleberries
International Language Corporation (“Cackleberries™). Cackleberries developed an English-as-
a-second-language (“ESL”) program, which was the primary product purportedly sold by CKB
from its inception through at least November 2012. For instance, in the November 2012 video
posted to the internet by Heidi Mao, Heywood Chang falsely claimed that Santos and Shern were
“very big stockholders” of Cackleberries and that CKB was a “partnership” between
Cackleberries, Santos, and Shern. CKB Promoters David Guo, Heywood Chang, Wendy Lee,
and Kiki Lin have told investors that 45% of the costs of developing the Cackleberries ESL
program were paid for by the government of Canada. A previous incarnation of the CKB

Website contained language falsely implying that CKB had created a Cackleberries product.
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85.  Those statements are false. In fact, WIN168 was simply a distributor hired by
Cackleberries to market its ESL program in Asia. Under that distribution agreement, WIN168
was not authorized to sell the Cackleberries program anywhere in North America. When the
CEO of Cackleberries asked Shern to see the marketing materials relating to Cackleberries,
Shern avoided showing her any materials by falsely telling her that the name Cackleberries was
not being used in his marketing materials. In approximately November 2012, Cackleberries
terminated its distribution agreement after learning that CKB was violating the terms of the
marketing agreement by, among other things, falsely claiming to own a Cackleberries product
and marketing it in North America. As of July 2013, Cackleberries records reflected that CKB
had purchased a total of approximately 18,750 copies of the ESL program from Cackleberries, of
which only 2,806 copies have been accessed, far short of the sales numbers claimed by
Defendants.

86.  The truth about Cackleberries’ relationship to CKB is highly material
information. A number of individuals who received or were aware of Defendants” promotional
efforts contacted the CEO of Cackleberries to inquire about that relationship. Defendants acted
unlawfully by failing to disclose CKB’s true relationship, or lack thereof, with Cackleberries.
The failure to disclose the true relationship was a material omission.

E. Defendants’ “Lulling” Statements to Address Investor Questions

87. A number of the CKB Promoters have made false and misleading statements to
allay investors’ questions and concerns. Guo (in videos posted to the internet) and Yao Lin (in
his testimonial posted to the CKB Website) each acknowledged that potential investors may be
skeptical of CKB. But then, each falsely asserts that there has been widespread, positive press

coverage of CKB. In fact, internet searches reveal few independent news reports on CKB, and
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many of those suggest that CKB is an illegal pyramid scheme. A section of the CKB Website
entitled “Media Coverage” features at least four purported “News Clipping{s]” from three Hong
Kong papers, which, in reality, are advertisements placed by CKB that were designed to look
like newspaper articles.

88. In a series of videos posted to the internet on October 31, 2011, Guo — apparently
reacting to the concerns of potential investors — also claims to have “sent people from New
York” to scrutinize CKB to help him overcome his own doubts. For good measure, in a March
2013 video posted to the internet by Kiki Lin, Guo tells investors they can rely on the
endorsement of CKB by the United Nations, the Canadian government, the Christian God,
Buddha and I Ching to reassure themselves.

89, In testimonials that have been posted to the CKB Website, Kiki Lin, JC Ma, Toni
Chen, and Heywood Chang all describe their transformation from skeptics to believers. The
nature of these testimonials, all of which effusively praise the CKB168 business opportunity,
make it clear that they were meant to be accessible to any member of the investing public. Kiki
Lin states in her testimonial that she was initially surprised at the promised returns from CKB,
but “when [she] learned the operation secret of this company, [she] recognized that this was a
once in a blue moon opportunity to get rich.” JC Ma states in her testimonial that initially, she
did not “fully understand CKB’s whole system and its great potential,” but became more
confident about the investment “after [she] became familiar with CKB’s highly dedicated and
powerful management team and understood their careful plans to develop the business.”
Similarly, Toni Chen and Heywood Chang wrote in their testimonial that “as an engineer,
[Heywood] was a natural skeptic” and that “he had to research the company from top to bottom”

before agreeing to invest. They then state that “[a]fter two weeks of intense research, he
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understood the company, its products, and its growth plan” and on that basis, they invested all of
therr liquid assets into CKB.

90. These and other, similar lulling statements are highly material and are
characteristic of the Defendants’ promotional efforts, which seek to exploit relationships of trust
and close connections among members of the Asian-American community.

IV. The Defendants Have Raised Millions of Dollars from Investors

91. The misrepresentations described above are highly material. One investor that
invested over $400,000 in CKB states that promises about returns and descriptions of CKB’s
business model, were critical to his decision to invest. He is not alone. On the basis of the
misrepresentations described above, Defendants have raised millions from, at 2 minimum,
hundreds of United States investors.

92.  Bank records from Hong Kong and the United States reflect that, from
approximately June 2011 through August 2013, at least 400 U.S. investors have deposited at
least $20.5 million, and likely much more, into financial accounts controlled by one or more
Defendants. These investors provided their funds either to the OMA that recruited them, to one
of the “up-line” OMAs within the pyramid, and/or directly to one of CKB’s Hong Kong bank
accounts. The funds were provided through a vaniety of methods, including checks, wires,
electronic bank transfers, and cash. The majority of these U.S. investors are either New York
residents, including residents of this district, or California residents.

93, Of'this $20.5 million, approximately $11 million was deposited into three
accounts located at HSBC Hong Kong in the names of WIN168 and CKB168 Ltd. Another

approximately $1.5 million was deposited to accounts at Shanghai Commercial Bank in the name
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of Cyber Kids Best. The other $8 million of investor funds were identified from deposits to bank
accounts held in the names of the CKB promoter Defendants located in the United States.

94.  Approximately $34,400 of CKB investor funds were deposited into three bank
accounts controlled by David Guo and opened at branches within this district. Two accounts are
in his name and one account is in the name of his company, Relief Defendants Rosanna LS Inc.
Guo transferred approximately $3,600 of investor funds to one of the CKB HSBC accounts in
Hong Kong.

95. Approximately $1.8 million of CKB investor funds were deposited into four bank
accounts controlled by Kiki Lin. Two accounts are in her name and two accounts are in the
name of her company, Relief Defendant USA Trade Group, Inc. Kiki Lin transferred
approximately $217,000 of investor funds to one or more of the CKB HSBC accounts in Hong
Kong. In addition, Kiki Lin transferred approximately $4,000 of investor funds to accounts in
this district controlled by David Guo.

96.  Approximately $450,000 of CKB investor funds were deposited into five bank
accounts and one credit card account controlled by Yao Lin and opened at branches within this
district. Three of these bank accounts were in his name and two bank accounts and one credit
card account were in the name of his company, Relief Defendant OQuni International. Yao Lin
transferred approximately $36,000 of investor funds to one or more of the CKB HSBC accounts
in Hong Kong. |

97.  Approximately $2.2 million of CKB investor funds were deposited into nine bank
accounts controlled by Wendy Lee. Three were accounts in her own name, three were accounts
over which she held a power of attorney, and three were accounts in the names of her companies:

United Diagnostics Corp., and Relief Defendants E Stock Club Corp. and EZ Stock Club Corp.
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Wendy Lee transferred approximately $565,000 of investor funds to one or more of the CKB
HSBC accounts in Hong Kong and another $100,000 to one of the Shanghai Commercial bank
accounts. In addition, Wendy Lee transferred approximately $44,000 of investor funds to
accounts in this district controlled by Yao Lin.

98. Approximately $1.3 million of CKB investor funds were deposited into five bank
accounts controlled by Toni Chen. Approximately $800,000 of CKB investor funds were
deposited into four bank accounts controlled by Heywood Chang. Four were accounts in their
own names, one was an account over which Toni Chen held a power of attorney, and four were
accounts in the names of their companies: Greenguard Financial Inc. and Relief Defendants
HTC Consulting LLC and Arcadia Business Consulting Inc. Toni Chen and Heywood Chang
transferred approximately $526,000 of investor funds to one or more of the CKB HSBC accounts
in Hong Kong. In addition, Toni Chen and Heywood Chang transferred approximately $12,000
of investor funds to accounts in this district controlled by Yao Lin.

99. Approximately $200,000 of CKB investor funds were deposited into three bank
accounts controlled by JC Ma. Two were accounts held in her own name and one was an
account over which she held a power of attorney. JC Ma transferred approximately $40,000 in
investor funds to one or more of the CKB HSBC accounts in Hong Kong.

100.  Approximately $1.2 million of CKB investor funds were deposited into six bank
accounts controlled by Heidi Mao. One was an account in her own name and five were accounts
over which she held a power of attorney. Heidi Mao transferred approximately $230,000 to one
or more of the CKB HSBC accounts in Hong Kong.

101.  The vast majority of investor funds received into these accounts have been

transferred to other accounts controlled by one or more of the Defendants, accounts controlled by
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other CKB promoters, or spent. As of approximately August 13, 2013, two of the HSBC
accounts had been closed and a total of approximately $6.9 million was left in the remaining
CKB HSBC account and the Shanghai Commercial bank accounts. By mid-August 2013, there
was only approximately $450,000 remaining in the domestic bank accounts controlled by
Defendants that received investor funds.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Section 17(a)(1) and (3) of the Securities Act
(Against all Defendants)

102.  Paragraphs 1 through 101 are realleged and reincorporated by reference as if
fully set forth herein.

103. From at least June 2011 through the present, Defendants directly and indirectly,
singly and in concert, by the use of the means and instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or by the use of the mails, and in connection with the
offer or sale of securities, have: (a) with scienter, employed devices, schemes or artifices to
defraud; or (b) engaged in one or more transactions, acts, practices or courses of business which
operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers.

104. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants have violated, are
violating, and unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate Section 17(a)(1) and (3) of
the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a).

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act
(Against WIN168, Shern and the CKB Promoters)

105. Paragraphs 1 through 101 are realleged and reincorporated by reference as if fully

set forth herein.
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106. From at least June 2011 through the present, Defendants WIN168, Shern and the
CKB Promoters directly and indirectly, singly and in concert, by the use of the means and
instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by the use of the
mails, and in connection with the offer or sale of securities, have obtained money or property by
means of one or more untrue statements of material fact or omissions of material fact necessary
in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading.

107. By engaging in the conduct described above, WIN168, Shern and the CKB
Promoters have violated, are violating, and unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to
violate Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a).

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5

(Against All Defendants for Violations of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) and Against WIN168, Shern and
the CKB Promoters for Violations of 10b-5(b))

108. Paragraphs 1 through 101 are realleged and reincorporated by reference as if fully
set forth herein.

109. From at least June 2011 through the present, Defendants directly and indirectly,
singly and in concert, by the use of any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of
the mails, or of the facilities of a national securities exchange, and in connection with the
purchase or sale of securities, have, with scienter: (a) employed devices, schemes or artifices to
defraud; (b) made one or more untrue statements of material fact or one or more omissions of
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading; or (c¢) engaged in one or more acts, practices or courses of

business which operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person.
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110. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants have violated, are
violating, and unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate, Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.5.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Unregistered Securities Offerings in Violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act
(Against all Defendants)

111.  Paragraphs 1 through 101 are realieged and reincorporated by reference as if fully
set forth herein.

112.  Defendants, directly or indirectly, have made use of the means or instruments of
transportation or communication in interstate commerce, or of the mails, to offer to sell or to sell
securities, or to carry or cause such securities to be carried through the mails or in interstate
commerce for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale.

113. No registration statement has been filed or has been in effect with respect to any
of the offerings or sales alleged herein, nor did any exemption from the registration requirements
exist with respect to the securities and transactions described in this Complaint.

114. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants have violated, are
violating, and unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of
the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77e(a) and 77¢(c).

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Unregistered Broker-Dealer in Violation of Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act
(Against Shern and the CKB Promoters)

115. Paragraphs 1 through 101 are realleged and reincorporated by reference as if fully

set forth herein.
116. From at least June 2011 through the present, Shern and the CKB Promoters, by

the use of means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of the mails, have engaged in the
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business of effecting transactions in, or inducing or attempting to induce the purchase or sale of,
securities as a “broker.”

117. During that time period, neither Shern nor the CKB Promoters were registered
with the Commission as a broker-dealer or associated with a broker-dealer regjstered with the
Commission. Nor did any exemption from the broker-dealer registration requirements exist with
respect to the securities and transactions described in this Complaint.

118. By engaging in the conduct described above, Shern and the CKB Promoters
violated and, unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate Section 15(a)(1) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 780(a)(1).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court grant the following
relief:

I.

Enter a Final Judgment finding that Defendants each violated the securities laws and
rules promulgated thereunder as alleged against them herein.

II1.

Enter an Order temporarily and preliminarily, and a Final Judgment permanently,
restraining and enjoining Defendants and their agents, servants, employees and attorneys and all
persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of the injunction
by personal service or otherwise, and each of them, from committing future violations of each of
the securities laws and rules promulgated thereunder, or alternatively, from aiding and abetting

such future violations, as respectively alleged against them herein.
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1.

Enter an Order freezing the assets of Defendants and Relief Defendants, and all assets
under their control.

V.

Enter an Order directing Defendants and Relief Defendants to file with this Court and
serve upon the Commission, within three (3) business days, or within such extension of time as
the Commission staff agrees in writing or as otherwise ordered by the Court, a verified written
accounting, signed by each of them under penalty of perjury.

V.

Enter an Order requiring Defendants and Relief Defendants to repatriate all funds and
assets obtained from the fraudulent activities described herein that are now located outside the
Court’s jurisdiction.

VI.

Enter an Order permanently restraining and enjoining Defendants and Relief Defendants
from destroying, altering, concealing or otherwise interfering with the access of the Commission
to relevant documents, books and records.

VII.
Enter an Order permitting expedited discovery.
VIII.
Enter an Order permitting alternative means of service of all Defendants.
IX.
Enter a Final Judgment directing Defendants and Relief Defendants to disgorge all 111-

gotten gains, including prejudgment interest, resulting from the violations alleged herein.
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X.

Enter a Final Judgment directing Defendants to pay civil money penalties pursuant to
Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange
Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)].

XI.
Grant such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

A jury trial is demanded on all issues so triable,

Dated: Washington, DC
October 9, 2013

Respectfully submitted,

Stacy L. Bogert (SB-579
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, N.E.

Washington, DC 20549

(202) 551-4847

(202) 772-9227 (facsimile)
bogerts(@sec.gov

Attomey for Plaintiff
Securities and Exchange Commission

Of Counsel;

Daniel J. Maher

Devon L. Staren

M. Alexander Koch

Pamela Nolan

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, N.E.

Washington, DC 20549
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ATTACHMENT A
COMPLETE LIST OF DEFENDANTS AND RELIEF DEFENDANTS

DEFENDANTS

CKB168 HOLDINGS LTD.

WIN168 BIZ SOLUTIONS LTD.
CKB168 LTD.

CKB168 BIZ SOLUTION, INC.

CYBER KIDS BEST EDUCATION LTD.
RAYLA MELCHER SANTOS

HUNG WAI (“HOWARD”) SHERN

RUI LING (“FLORENCE”) LEUNG
DALIANG (“DAVID”) GUO

YAO LIN

CHIH HSUAN “KIKI” LIN

WEN CHEN HWANG (AKA “WENDY LEE”)
TONI TONG CHEN

CHEONGWHA “HEYWOOD” CHANG
JOAN CONGYI MA (AKA“IC MA”)
HEIDI MAO LIU (AKA “HEIDI MAO”)

RELIEF DEFENDANTS

ROSANNA LS INC.

USA TRADE GROUP, INC.

OUNI INTERNATIONAL TRADING INC.
E-STOCK CLUB CORP.

EZ STOCK CLUB CORP.

HTC CONSULTING LLC

ARCADIA BUSINESS CONSULTING, INC.
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certification to the contrary is filed.

I,S‘\' QLN &OG_\JP(‘L , counsel for 3 =C - , do hereby certify that the above captioned civil action is

ineligible forcompulsory arbitration for the following reason(s):

[9/ monetary damages sought are in excess of $150,000, exclusive of interest and costs,
¥ the complaint seeks injunctive relief,
] the matter is otherwise ineligible for the following reason

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT - FEDERAL RULES CIVIL PROCEDURE 7.1

Identify any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation that owns 10% or more or its stocks:

RELATED CASE STATEMENT (Section VIII on the Front of this Form)

Please list all cases that are arguably related pursuant to Division of Business Rule 50.3.1 in Section Vil on the front of this form. Rule 50.3.1 (a)
provides that “A civil case is “related” to another civil case for purposes of this guideline when, because of the similarity of facts and legal issues or
because the cases arise from the same transactions or events, a substantial saving of judicial resources is likely to result from assigning both cases to the
same judge and magistrate judge.” Rule 50.3.1 (b} provides that “ A civil case shall not be deemed “related” to another civil case merely because the civil
case: (A) involves identical legal issues, or (B) involves the same parties.” Rule 50.3.1 (c) further provides that “Presumptively, and subject to the power
of a judge to determine otherwise pursuant to paragraph {d), civil cases shall not be deemed to be “related™ uniess both cases are still pending before the
court,”

NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 50.1(d)(2)

1) Is the civil action being filed in the Eastern District removed from a New York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk

County: ‘{\.)O

2) If you answered “no” above:
a) Did the e;:rjnts or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or 2 substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffolk
County?

b) Did the events of omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or 2 substantia! part thereof, occur in the Eastern
District?

If your answer to question 2 (b) is “No,” does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or

Suffolk County, or, in an interpleader action, does the claimant {or a majority of the claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau

or Suffolk County? '
(Note: A corporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most significant contacts).

BAR ADMISSION

[ am currently admit&dyi,}hc Eastern District of New York and currently a member in good standing of the bar of this court.
Yes [:] No

Are you currenily the subject of any disciplinary action (s) in this or any other state or federal court?
{1 Yes (Ifyespleascexplainy [}~ No

[ certify the accuracy of all information provided above.

Signature:

{
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Securities and Exchange Commission v. CKB168 Holdings, Ltd., 210 F.Supp.3d 421...

Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 99,425

210 F.Supp.3d 421
United States District Court, E.D. New York.

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION, Plaintiff,
V.
CKB168 HOLDINGS, LTD., et al.,
Defendants.

13—CV-5584 (RRM) (RLM)

Signed September 28, 2016

Synopsis

Background: Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) brought action against founders and promoters of
multi-national pyramid scheme to sell shares of
non-public sham corporation, alleging they had recruited
investors with false promises of investment returns and
profitable stock, in violation of Securities Exchange Act
and Securities Act. SEC moved for summary judgment.

Holdings: The District Court, Roslynn R. Mauskopf, J.,
held that:

[l promoters made material representations to investors
that were false;

(2l promoters were “makers” of the false statements;

[ founders’ actions supported scheme liability, distinct
from any other misstatements made to potential investors;

[4] founder acted with scienter to commit securities fraud;

1 chief executive officer (CEO) acted with scienter to
commit securities fraud; and

(] fraudulent statements were made “in connection with”
the sale of securities.

Motion granted.

West Headnotes (32)
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1]

2]

3]

[4]

Securities Regulationé=Manipulative,
Deceptive or Fraudulent Conduct

To prevail on claims under Section 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) must show that defendant:
(1) made a material misrepresentation or a
material omission as to which he had a duty to
speak, or used a fraudulent device; (2) with
scienter; (3) in connection with the purchase or
sale of securities. Securities Exchange Act of
1934 § 10, 15 US.CA. § 78; 17 C.FR. §
240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Scienter, Intent,
Knowledge, Negligence or Recklessness

Scienter, in context of violations of Section
10(b) and Rule 10b-5, requires at least willful or
reckless disregard for the truth or knowing
misconduct. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 §
10, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78j; 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Use of mails or
instrumentalities of commerce
Securities Regulationé=Use of mails or
instrumentalities of commerce

For purposes of claim for securities fraud, the
Internet, wire transfers, interstate travel, and
e-mails are all “instrumentalities of interstate
commerce.” Securities Exchange Act of 1934 §
10, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78j; Securities Act of 1933 §
17,15 U.S.C.A. § 77q; 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Reliance
Securities Regulationé=Materiality and
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[5]

[6]

causation

Securities Regulationé=Causation; existence
of injury

Securities Regulationé=Reliance

Unlike private litigants, the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) does not need to
prove investor reliance, loss causation, or
damages in action for fraud under Section 10(b)
of the Securities Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5, or
Section 17(a) of the Securities Act. Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 § 10, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78j;
Securities Act of 1933 § 17, 15 US.C.A. §
77q(a)(2); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Fraudulent Statements,
Omissions or Conduct
Securities Regulationé=Misrepresentation

Promoters of multi-national pyramid scheme to
sell shares of non-public sham corporation each
repeatedly made material representations to
investors that were false, as required to support
Securities and Exchange Commission’s (SEC)
claim against them for securities fraud; false
claims included that the business was a
legitimate educational company, even though it
had only a few products that were not widely
sold, that profit reward points given to investors
had value, when instead, they were worthless,
that investors could make active returns by
recruiting new investors, even though only the
top one percent earned more than 60 percent of
all commissions, that investors could acquire
stock, despite fact that company was not
authorized to issue it, and that the company
would soon go public, when in fact it had not
made any necessary preparations to do so.
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 10, 15
U.S.C.A. § 78j; Securities Act of 1933 § 17, 15
U.S.C.A. § 77q; 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Persons Liable
Securities Regulationé=In general; control
persons

OS Received 04/19/2023

(7]

8]

9]

Promoters of multi-national pyramid scheme to
sell shares of non-public sham corporation were
“makers” of false statements, for purposes of
claim for securities fraud, even though
misrepresentations they made to potential
investors were based on information created and
disseminated by company’s founders, since
promoters controlled their own communications
with potential investors. Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 § 10, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78j; Securities
Act 0of 1933 § 17, 15 U.S.C.A. § 77q; 17 C.F.R.
§ 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Distributorships;
pyramid schemes

A “pyramid scheme” is a mechanism used to
transfer funds from one person to another, as
compared to a legitimate multi-level marketing
company, which includes a system of
distributing products or services in which each
participant earns income from sales of a product
to his or her downline and also from sales to the
public.

Summary Judgmenté=Securities regulation

Summary judgment on matters of materiality in
a securities fraud case is appropriate when the
omissions and misrepresentations in question are
so obviously important to investors that
reasonable minds cannot differ on the question
of materiality. Securities Exchange Act of 1934
§ 10, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78j; Securities Act of 1933
§ 17,15 US.C.A. § 77q; 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5;
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56.

Securities Regulationé=Fraudulent Statements,
Omissions or Conduct
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[10]

[11]

[12]

STLAW

Securities Regulationé=Manipulative,
Deceptive or Fraudulent Conduct

Rule 10b-5 and Section 17(a) of the Securities
Act impose what courts have called “scheme
liability” for those who, with scienter, engage in
deceitful conduct; scheme liability hinges on the
performance of an inherently deceptive act that
is distinct from an alleged misstatement.
Securities Act of 1933 § 17, 15 U.S.C.A. § 77q;
17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

8 Cases that cite this headnote

Securities Regulationé=Manipulative,
Deceptive or Fraudulent Conduct

To prove scheme liability under Rule 10b-5, the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
must show that defendant: (1) committed a
deceptive or manipulative act, (2) in furtherance
of the alleged scheme to defraud, (3) with
scienter. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

[13]

8 Cases that cite this headnote

Securities Regulationé=Fraudulent Statements,
Omissions or Conduct

To prove scheme liability under 17(a) of the
Securities Act, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) must show that defendant:
(1) committed a deceptive or manipulative act,
(2) in furtherance of alleged scheme to defraud,
(3) with negligence. Securities Act of 1933 § 17,
15 U.S.C.A. § 77q(a).

[14]

6 Cases that cite this headnote

Securities Regulationé=Fraudulent Statements,
Omissions or Conduct

Securities Regulationé=Manipulative,
Deceptive or Fraudulent Conduct

[15]
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Founders of multi-national pyramid scheme to
sell shares of non-public sham corporation
engaged in inherently deceptive acts distinct
from alleged misstatements, as required for
scheme liability under Rule 10b-5 and 17(a) of
the Securities Act; founders created business
model that gave the false appearance that
company was legitimate, promoted the business
through false marketing, enrolled investors in
the pyramids through the purchase of business
packs, administered a commission system for
upper one percent of promoters, provided
illegitimate stock certificate, and then offered
victims false assurances about the company’s
legitimacy. Securities Act of 1933 § 17, 15
U.S.C.A. § 77q(a); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

2 Cases that cite this headnote

Securities Regulationé=Scienter, Intent,
Knowledge, Negligence or Recklessness

Liability for securities fraud requires proof of
“scienter,” defined as a mental state embracing
intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud.
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 10, 15
U.S.C.A. § 78j; 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Scienter, Intent,
Knowledge, Negligence or Recklessness

Scienter to commit securities fraud is
established by knowing or reckless conduct, or
even in some cases, by willful blindness, i.e., a
deliberate refusal to acquire information.
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 10, 15
U.S.C.A. § 78j; 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Scienter, Intent,
Knowledge, Negligence or Recklessness
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[16]

[17]

Representing information as true while knowing
it is not, recklessly misstating information, or
asserting an opinion on grounds so flimsy as to
belie any genuine belief in its truth, are all
circumstances sufficient to support a conclusion
of scienter to commit securities fraud. Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 § 10, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78j;
17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Scienter; knowledge
or intention

Securities Regulationé=Scienter, Intent,
Knowledge, Negligence or Recklessness

Founder of multi-national pyramid scheme to
sell shares of non-public sham corporation acted
with scienter to commit securities fraud, as
required for  Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) claims for violation of
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act,
Rule 10b-5, and Section 17(a) of the Securities
Act, when he helped to create a deceptive
scheme and directed its promotional efforts;
founder helped create and distribute a plan based
on the sale of shares in an online educational
company that had no real products for retail sale,
he made himself a top investor despite being
warned that it would create a conflict of interest,
he explained to other investors how to arrange
their downlines, he traveled frequently to the
United States and other countries, appearing
with and otherwise encouraging promoters, he
falsely told audiences that they could earn active
returns and claimed investors could get stock,
even though he knew it was illegal for stock to
be distributed, and he acted as the key source of
misrepresentations  about the  operation.
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 10, 15
U.S.C.A. § 78j; Securities Act of 1933 § 17, 15
U.S.C.A. § 77q(a)(2); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Scienter; knowledge
or intention

Chief financial officer (CFO) of online
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[18]

educational company acted with scienter to
commit securities fraud, as required for
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
claims for violation of Section 10(b) of
Securities Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5, and
Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, when she
helped launch multi-national pyramid scheme to
sell shares of non-public sham corporation then
managed company’s finances, signed its checks,
and controlled its accounts, all the while
knowing the company’s improper commission
structure and its lack of retail sales. Securities
Act of 1933 §§ 17, 17, 15 U.S.C.A. §§ 77q,
77q(a)(2); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Scienter; knowledge
or intention

Securities Regulationé=Scienter, Intent,
Knowledge, Negligence or Recklessness

Promoters of multi-national pyramid scheme to
sell shares of non-public sham corporation acted
with scienter to commit securities fraud, as
required for  Securities and  Exchange
Commission (SEC) claims for violation of
Section 10(b) of Securities Exchange Act, Rule
10b-5, and Section 17(a) of the Securities Act,
since they either knowingly or recklessly
promulgated company’s false claims of
enormous, risk-free returns on investment and
imminent acquisition of valuable stock; although
promoters were confronted with obvious signs
that operation was fraudulent, they failed to
investigate or evaluate company’s legitimacy,
and even those promoters who were formerly
licensed securities professionals, or had
considerable prior experience with sales, simply
accepted founder’s communications disputing
the illegitimacy of the scheme, rather than
conducting independent investigation. Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 § 10, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78j;
Securities Act of 1933 § 17, 15 U.S.C.A. §
77q(a)(2); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

1 Case that cites this headnote
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[19]

[20]

[21]

[22]

Securities Regulationé=Conduct of
Broker-Dealers

To avoid liability for securities fraud, a broker is
under a duty to investigate the truth of his
representations to clients, because by his
position he implicitly represents he has an
adequate basis for the opinions he renders; this
duty applies even if broker is not registered.
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 10, 15
U.S.C.A. § 78j; 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Conduct of
Broker-Dealers

To avoid liability for securities fraud when
recommending a company’s securities to
investors, a broker may not rely solely on
materials submitted by the company without
independent  investigation; this duty to
investigate is even greater when promotional
materials are in some way questionable.
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 10, 15
U.S.C.A. § 78j; 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Connection with
purchase or sale

Any statement that is reasonably calculated to
influence the average investor satisfies the “in
connection with” the purchase or sale of
securities requirement of the securities laws.
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 10, 15
U.S.C.A. § 78j; 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Distributorships;
pyramid schemes

Securities Regulationé=Offer and sale in
general
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[23]

[24]

Fraudulent actions and statements made by
founder, officer, and promoters of multi-national
pyramid scheme to sell shares of non-public
sham corporation were made “in connection
with” the purchase or sale of securities, as
required for  Securities and  Exchange
Commission (SEC) claims for violation of
Section 10(b) of Securities Exchange Act, Rule
10b-5, and Section 17(a) of the Securities Act;
investment in the pyramid scheme was itself a
“security,” even though company was not
authorized to issue stock, since it came with a
promise or expectation of profits to come solely
from the efforts of others in the common
enterprise, and investors expected to acquire an
ownership stake, and the right to enjoy
dividends, in a legitimate company that would
soon go public. Securities Act of 1933 §§ 17,
17, 15 U.S.C.A. §§ 77q, 77q(a)(2); 17 C.F.R. §
240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Corporate Shares or
Stock

Although the fact that an instrument bears the
label “stock” is not itself sufficient to invoke the
coverage of the securities laws, the instrument
will be considered a security when it possesses
some of the significant characteristics typically
associated with stock. Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 § 10, 15 U.S.C.A. § 78j(b); 17 C.F.R. §
240.10b-5.

Securities Regulationé=Registration
Requirement in General

To prove a violation of provision of Securities
Act that requires securities to be registered with
the Commission before sale, Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) must show: (1)
lack of a registration statement as to the subject
securities; (2) the offer or sale of the securities;
and (3) the use of interstate transportation or
communication and the mails in connection with
the offer or sale. Securities Act of 1933 § 5, 15
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[25]

[26]

[27]

US.C.A. § 77e.

Securities Regulationé=Evidence
Securities Regulationé=Evidence

Once Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) establishes a violation of the provision of
the Securities Act that requires securities to be
registered with the Commission before sale,
burden shifts to defendant in civil enforcement
action to show that the securities were exempt
from registration. Securities Act of 1933 § 5, 15
U.S.C.A. § 77e.

Securities Regulationé=Scienter; absolute or
strict liability

Since a violation of the provision of the
Securities Act that requires securities to be
registered with the Commission before sale is a
strict liability offense, Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) need not prove defendant
who violated provision acted with scienter.
Securities Act of 1933 § 5, 15 U.S.C.A. § 77e.

Securities Regulationé=Persons Subject to
Regulation or Liability

Provision of the Securities Act that requires
securities to be registered with the Commission
before sale can be violated by both a direct
participant and an indirect participant, who has
not himself passed title to an unregistered
security. Securities Act of 1933 § 5, 15 U.S.C.A.
§ 77e.
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[28]

[29]

[30]

Securities Regulationé=Persons Subject to
Regulation or Liability

Indirect participants are liable for violation of
provision of Securities Act that requires
securities to be registered with the Commission
before sale if, but for their involvement, the sale
transaction would not have taken place; in other
words, liability depends on whether their acts
were a substantial factor in the sales transaction.
Securities Act of 1933 § 5, 15 U.S.C.A. § 77e.

1 Case that cites this headnote

Securities Regulationé=Persons Subject to
Regulation or Liability

Acts of promoters, as indirect participants in
multi-national  pyramid scheme to sell
unregistered shares of non-public sham
corporation, were a substantial factor in the sales
transaction, as required for liability for violation
of provision of Securities Act requiring
registration prior to sale of a security; promoters
offered securities for sale that could not be
obtained on an exchange market and could only
be sold by promoters or company officers, by
offering prospective investors the opportunity to
purchase a $1,380 business pack entitling them
to receive points, which purportedly could then
be used to acquire the right to stock when the
company went public. Securities Act of 1933 §
5,15U.S.C.A. § 77e.

Securities Regulationé=Broker-dealers and
associates, registration and regulation

Scienter is not an element of a claim for sale of
security by unregistered broker. Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 § 15, 15 US.CA. §
780(a).



Securities and Exchange Commission v. CKB168 Holdings, Ltd., 210 F.Supp.3d 421...

Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 99,425

[31] Securities Regulationé=Broker-dealers and
associates, registration and regulation

In determining whether an individual is as a
“broker” subject to registration under Securities
Exchange Act, court considers whether the
alleged broker (1) is an employee of the issuer;
(2) received commissions as opposed to a salary;
(3) is selling, or previously sold, the securities of
other issuers; (4) is involved in negotiations
between the issuer and the investor; (5) makes
valuations as to the merits of the investment or
gives advice; and( 6) is an active rather than
passive finder of investors. Securities Exchange
Act 0f 1934 § 15, 15 U.S.C.A. § 780(a).

4 Cases that cite this headnote

[32] Securities Regulationé=Broker-dealers and
associates, registration and regulation

Founder and promoters of multi-national
pyramid scheme to sell shares of non-public
sham corporation were “brokers” subject to
registration under Securities Exchange Act, even
though they were not formal employees of the
operation, where they received commissions as
opposed to salary, promoted the merits of the
investment and advised others to invest therein,
were active rather than passive finders of
investors and urged downlines to find still more
investors, acted as intermediaries between the
operation and their downlines, and devoted
themselves to effecting and inducing the
purchase of securities. Securities Exchange Act
0f 1934 § 15, 15 U.S.C.A. § 780(a).

1 Case that cites this headnote

Attorneys and Law Firms

*426Daniel Joseph Maher, Stacey Bogert, Devon Staren,
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington,
DC, for Plaintiff.

Jacob Frenkel, Shulman Rogers Gandal Pordy & Ecker,
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P.A., Potomac, MD, Allan Schiller, Schiller Law Group,
P.C., John Vincent Golaszewski, Orans, Elsen, Lupert &
Brown LLP, Francis Robert Denig, Michael Joseph
Frevola, Holland & Knight LLP, New York, NY, Zhijun
Liu, American Law Groups, PLLC, Allan Schiller,
Flushing, NY, Peiwen Chang, Cogswell Nakazawa &
Chang LLP, Long Beach, CA, for Defendant.

CKB168 Holdings Ltd., pro se.

WIN168 Biz Solutions Ltd., pro se.

CKB168 Ltd., pro se.

CKB168 Biz Solution, Inc., pro se.

Cyber Kids Best Education Ltd., pro se.

Hyng Wai Howard Shern, pro se.

Rui Ling (Florence) Leung, pro se.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

ROSLYNN R. MAUSKOPF, United States District
Judge.

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
commenced this action on October 9, 2013, alleging
violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 thereunder;' Section
17(a)(1) and (3) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §
77q(a)(1), (3); and Section 5 of the Securities Act, 15
U.S.C. § 77e. (Compl. (Doc. No. 1).) The SEC also
alleges violations of Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 780(a)(1), and Section 17(a)(2) of the
Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2), against CKB
founder Hyng Wai (Howard) Shern and CKB’s United
States promoters—Daliang (David) Guo, Yao Lin, Wen
Chen Hwang (aka Wendy Lee), and Joan Congyi (JC)
Ma, (collectively “promoters”). (Compl.) The SEC now
moves for summary judgment against all defendants
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56.> (Mot.
Summ. *427 J. (Doc. No. 311).) Defendants oppose the
motion.* (Shern Opp’n (Doc. No. 327); Leung Opp’n
(Doc. No. 328); Guo, Lee, Ma, Yao Lin Opp’n (Doc. No.
353).) For the reasons below, the SEC’s motion is
granted.
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BACKGROUND*

Defendants are the architects and top U.S. promoters of
“CKB,” a multi-national pyramid scheme made of several
collective entities, purported to be a legitimate multi-level
marketing company (“MLM”) selling educational
software. Defendants Shern, Leung, and Santos were
CKB founders. Defendants Guo, Lee, Ma, Yao Lin, Kiki
Lin, Chang, Chen, and Mao were among CKB’s top
promoters. In just two years, defendants collectively
earned approximately millions in commissions by
recruiting investors with false promises of investment
returns and profitable stock.

I. The Purported Business

Defendants described CKB as a profitable provider of
web-based educational software for children. The
products functioned like a video game, with animation
and interactive features. Through 2012, CKB had three
software products; however, by the time this suit was
filed, CKB had seven unique software products. (SEC’s
56.1 at 9 20-22.) To use a product, a purchaser had to
obtain a license from CKB before accessing the product
via the internet. (SEC’s 56.1 (Doc. No. 311-2) at 99
18-19.) The SEC maintains that the majority of software
licenses issued were never used. (SEC’s 56.1 at §23.)

CKB and its promoters earned money by recruiting
investors, known as Online Marketing Angels (“OMASs”).
OMAs joined CKB by purchasing $1,380 “business
packs,” which contained one software license; “profit
reward points” (“Prpts”), which defendants claimed had a
cash value of $750 and could be converted to stock in the
future; and access to a password-protected account (a
“back office account”) on the CKB website, which
contained each OMA’s personal CKB financial
information, Prpt pricing, and CKB promotional
materials. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 30.) CKB’s compensation
plan, called the “Dynamic Rewards Plan,” offered no
incentive for OMAs to sell CKB’s products to retail
purchasers. Instead, it set forth a system of direct and
indirect commissions earned solely by recruiting other
OMAs. (SEC’s 56.1 at § 54.)

*428 Defendants promoted CKB through seminars,

conferences, email, a corporate webpage, individually
maintained webpages, internet postings on sites such as
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YouTube, and in-person solicitations. These promotional
efforts did not focus on CKB’s software, rather they
promoted CKB as a no-risk business opportunity to make
enormous investment returns.’ (SEC’s 56.1 at 9§ 24.) For
example, in a presentation recorded and posted on
YouTube, Chang compared CKB to prominent companies
with successful initial public offerings (“IPOs”) and
talked at length about how an investment in CKB could
quickly multiply. In the video, Chang did not attempt to
sell CKB’s actual software, offering only platitudes about
CKB’s educational mission. (SEC’s 56.1 at § 25.) In
another video recording, Guo promotes CKB to potential
investors, one of whom can be heard saying to Guo:
“We’re attracted by the stocks, and not many people are
using the products really.” (SEC’s 56.1 at 4] 28.)

Similarly, in a testimonial posted on the CKB website,
Ma talks about how she profited from the CKB business
opportunity. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 26.) CKB promotional
literature also emphasizes the business opportunity, not
the products. As one hand-out states:

Is It Possible to Turn $1,380 Investment To $500,000?

Return on Investment: With a courseware purchase,
investing $1,380 in education, you receive a Pre-IPO
privilege of PrPt for FREE, an equivalent of $750 in
value, salable, redeemable, and convertible to company
stock. Your investment will be doubled, quadrupled
and continue to grow in size to 8 times, 16 times ... till
IPO.
(SEC’s 56.1 at 4/ 27.)

In fact, CKB never sold its software products directly to
any retail customers. The majority of licenses were
purchased as part of the business pack sold to OMAs. In
only a few instances did any promoter ever make a sale of
a CKB license directly to a retail customer. This was such
a rarity that CKB’s proceeds show no revenue attributable
to retail sales of its software. (SEC’s 56.1 at 94 29-32.)

II. Defendants’ False Claims that OMAs Would

Own CKB Stock and that CKB Would Have an IPO
Defendants typically referred to OMAs as “investors” and
described the purchase of a business pack as an
“investment” in CKB. Among other promotional tactics,
defendants stated that OMAs would see significant
returns on their investment, referred to as “pre-IPO
shares,” when CKB went public. (SEC’s 56.1 at ] 33,
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39.) Promoters initially told potential investors and OMAs
that OMAs would directly acquire stock. Though CKB
did issue stock certificates to early OMAs, it attempted to
rescind such certificates in 2011 upon learning they were
unlawfully issued. Yet, even after, Shern and the
promoters continued to claim that OMAs could convert
Prpts to stock. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 35-36.)

In a 2012 presentation, Shern told potential investors,
“when the company goes public [in 2014], it could be up
to eight times the rate of return. Your investment of
$56,000 will become $420,000.” Similarly, in a July 2012
email, Lee sent a document *429 to an OMA that stated,
“CKB168 will be publicly listed in 2014 and is estimated
to undergo splitting for four times before listing.” In a
November 2012 email, Ma made the same representation
that CKB would have an IPO in 2014. (SEC’s 56.1 at
40.)

Despite these claims, CKB never provided stock to
OMAs in exchange for Prpts. (SEC’s 56.1 at § 36-38.)
While defendants frequently claimed they owned “shares”
in CKB, only Yao Lin ever received a purported stock
certificate, which could not be sold or transferred. (SEC’s
56.1 at 9933, 37.)

Along the same lines, despite defendants’ claims of an
imminent IPO, CKB, Shern, and Leung made no
preparations to go public. (SEC’s 56.1 at Y 41, 160.)

II1. Defendants’ False Claims that Investors Would

Make Active and Passive Profits
Defendants claimed that OMAs could make large, rapid
returns on their investments. Defendants divided these
returns into two categories: (a) “active” or “dynamic”
returns and (b) “passive” or “static” returns. (SEC’s 56.1
at 9§ 42.) However, OMAs could only realize a profit
through recruitment commissions, the majority of which
were realized by defendants themselves.

a. Active Returns
As set forth in CKB’s Dynamic Rewards Plan (the
“Plan”), OMAs could only make actual money by
recruiting new OMAs to buy business packs. The Plan
provided no incentive for OMAs to make retail sales.
Rather, the Plan rewarded OMAs that successfully
recruited new OMAs with commissions, which appeared
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in the OMA’s back office account.® (SEC’s 56.1 at q
52-54.)

Under the Plan, CKB rewarded OMAs in two instances:
(1) when they established “downlines,” new OMAs who
they or their existing downlines recruited, and (2) when
an existing downline purchased additional business packs.
Generally, OMAs could profit from investments up to ten
levels below them. Defendants, as top-ranked OMAs,
could earn commissions from deeper levels. This pyramid
structure incentivized OMAs to grow their business by
finding new investors. As discussed above, defendants’
marketing efforts, as well as the training they provided to
downlines, focused almost exclusively on the investment
opportunity.” (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 55-59.)

b. Passive Returns

Defendants’ claims of passive returns referred to the
accumulation and allegedly increasing value of Prpts.
(SEC’s 56.1 at 4 45.) Defendants told investors that Prpts
would rapidly increase in value and never *430 decrease.
OMAs were given Prpts with a purported value of $750 in
their business packs, and CKB claimed that their value
would increase as a function of CKB’s business pack
sales. Defendants stated that so long as CKB continued to
attract new OMAs, CKB would increase the value
assigned to the Prpts. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 46.)

Every few months, CKB would “split” its Prpts, thus
doubling each OMA’s Prpt holdings. (SEC’s 56.1 at q
47.) Though defendants represented the value of Prpts in
terms of “dollars” and claimed Prpts had a “market
value,” OMAs were never actually able to realize a cash
value for their Prpts. (SEC’s 56.1 at ] 48-49.) As
defendants knew, or at best recklessly ignored, Prpts
could not be converted to cash.® (SEC’s 56.1 at q 50.)
Prpts could only be exchanged for more business packs or
traded by OMAs on a Prpt exchange accessed through the
OMA back office accounts. However, because there were
effectively no buyers on the back office Prpt exchange,
OMAs could not use the exchange to trade their Prpts for
cash. (SEC’s 56.1 at § 51.) In effect, Prpts were worthless.

c. Defendants Earned the Vast Majority of
Commissions
The top 1% of OMAs earned 61% of all commissions.’
Out of 65,883 total OMA accounts, the top 12 (or .018%)
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earned nearly 13% of all commissions. Guo, Yao Lin,
Lee, Shern, Leung, Kiki Lin, JC Ma, and Toni Chen were
among those top 12 accounts. More than half of all OMA
accounts received no commissions whatsoever. (SEC’s
56.1 at ] 60-61.) Defendants and a few select others
collected millions, while nearly everyone else incurred
losses. The SEC alleges that such a distribution of
winners and losers was inherent in the Dynamic Rewards
Plan. (SEC’s 56.1 at 4 6061, 64-66.)

d. Other Investors Felt Significant Losses on their
Investment
Other OMAs, promised enormous returns by defendants,
realized significant losses. Two examples are detailed
below:!"

1. Harry Lee

In August and September 2012, Mao recruited Harry Lee
and his mother to invest in CKB. Mao, with the help of
her *431 sister, lauded CKB as a great company for Harry
Lee and his mother to invest in. At Mao’s invitation,
Harry Lee attended a promotional seminar on September
4,2012. There, Wendy Lee described CKB as a legitimate
company selling children’s educational products. Wendy
Lee told the attendees that CKB would soon go public and
that OMAs would be awarded Prpts that would rapidly
multiply and could be converted to pre-IPO stock. Mao
also spoke at the seminar. There, Harry Lee stated that
Mao discussed the profits she had made from her CKB
investment. (SEC’s 56.1 at ] 105-06.) Based on those
representations, Harry Lee’s mother invested $55,200, a
significant portion of which came from her retirement
account, in CKB and gifted the investment to Lee for his
wedding. (SEC’s 56.1 at § 107.)

After his mother’s investment, Harry Lee continued to
attend CKB presentations. One such presentation, hosted
by Wendy Lee at Mao’s home, was designed to train new
OMAs to recruit other OMAs. There, Wendy Lee told
attendees to promote CKB by focusing on the impending
IPO and the opportunity to double or triple an investment.
No instruction on how to sell the software was provided.
(SEC’s 56.1 at 4/ 108.)

Shortly thereafter, Harry Lee began to question his

investment in CKB. He asked Mao how CKB incurred
revenue without making retail sales. He also stated that
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her claims that he would be able to redeem his Prpts for
cash were false. Mao responded that it was important to
“believe” in CKB and urged Lee to recruit downlines.
(SEC’s 56.1 at § 109.)

In July 2013, Harry Lee attempted to convert his Prpts to
15,619 shares of CKB stock. He received two responses
from CKB acknowledging his request, but he never
received stock certificates. (SEC’s 56.1 at  110.)

2. Richard Tuan

Richard Tuan, a retirce, attended a 2012 CKB
promotional event in California, at which Shern, Santos,
and Lee presented. At the event, defendants claimed that
CKB would soon go public in Hong Kong and that the
cash value of Prpts would increase dramatically. (SEC’s
56.1atq112.)

In July 2012, Tuan invested $15,000. Shortly thereafter,
Tuan attempted to convert his Prpts to stock. On July 11,
2013, CKB told him that in exchange for his Prpts, he
would receive 6,082 shares of CKB stock. In November
2013, Tuan contacted Lee as he was confused about the
instructions sent by CKB regarding his stock order.
Despite the fact that the SEC had already initiated this suit
against CKB and Lee, Lee told Tuan that he needed to
provide additional information to CKB and would be
required to pay a $50 fee to obtain the certificates. She did
not mention the pending law suit."" (SEC’s 56.1 at q
113-16.)

IV. Defendants Conduct and Roles in CKB

a. Shern
In January 2011, Shern described the concept of what
would become CKB to Santos. In April 2011, Shern and
Leung opened bank accounts to conduct CKB business.
Together they directly and indirectly *432 controlled
CKB’s bank and securities accounts. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9
117-18.)

After helping to create CKB, Shern acted as CKB’s
International Marketing Director and as an OMA, despite
being warned that it was a “conflict of interest” for a CKB
director to be an OMA. (SEC’s 56.1 at § 142.) As
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International Marketing Director, Shern, with a select few
others, was responsible for designing and implementing
the CKB investment plan, including drafting the plan and
setting up the back office accounts. On March 10, 2011,
Santos emailed Shern a draft of Policies and Procedures
for CKB. (SEC’s 56.1 at § 119; 3/10/11 Santos Email
(Doc. No. 319-1) at 49 (ECF pagination).) The draft
explicitly stated:

As a legitimate MLM Company

* [CKB] pays Distributors commission based on
product sales, NOT on recruiting people.

* [CKB] does not require individuals to buy products

in order to become a Distributor. The cost is a one

time sign-up fee that is reasonable and refundable.
(Draft Policies and Procedures (Doc. No. 319-1) at 51
(ECF pagination).) Despite being presented with this
document highlighting the commission structure of a
“legitimate MLM,” Shern created and implemented the
Dynamic Rewards Plan, which compensated OMAs
exclusively for recruiting new investors. (SEC’s 56.1 at q
121.)

Similarly, CKB required OMAs to purchase software
licenses through their business packs. Yet, most OMAs
had no need for the software and those that attempted to
use it often had problems. In late 2011, one OMA told
Shern directly that the product was “garbage.” On another
occasion, Shern directly acknowledged a flaw in the
software that required users to complete the same lesson
for three days before being able to proceed to the next
lesson. Nonetheless, Shern marketed CKB as a legitimate,
growing company selling an advanced and desirable
product. (SEC’s 56.1 at § 125, 127.)

On many occasions, Shern traveled to the U.S. to promote
CKB, including to present at seminars and other events.
In a testimonial posted on the CKB website, Guo said that
Shern’s “US trip helped boosting our sales a lot.” Both
during these trips and at other times, Shern served as a
primary source of information and instruction for
promoters. (SEC’s 56.1 at [ 122-24.)

Shern knew, and repeatedly discussed, that the promoters
and others were describing CKB as an “investment” and
claiming that investors would get CKB ‘“shares” or
“stock.” In a YouTube video he posted on May 12, 2012,
Shern stated that the “idea” of CKB was “to do these
educational programs and then to provide opportunities
for the regular public to become the holder of the initial
stocks even before the company went public.” In
February 2013, Shern used a promotional flyer for an
upcoming presentation that stated that participants would
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learn “how [they] could possess the initial non-public
shares of CKB group .... How CKB can be the company
to make millions for its shareholders.” (SEC’s 56.1 at 9
128-29, 132.) Yet starting in 2011, Shern had repeatedly
been told that it was unlawful for CKB to sell “stock.”
Shern even acknowledged in a November 26, 2012 email
to Kiki Lin that the promoters “may have ... promised too
much” and “members were misled.” Shern even
acknowledged that it was “illegal” for CKB to distribute
stock. (SEC’s 56.1 at 99 131, 133-35.)

Despite knowing that CKB could not sell stock, Shern
continued to promise OMAs and potential investors that
they could become shareholders by converting their Prpts
to stock. At one of his U.S. presentations, he explained,
“we have ways to convert 433 things into stocks and
give it to you.” In another presentation, Shern stated that
“by accumulating [Prpts] you could change them into
stock .... So by doing this we make ourself a legal
operation. You know, sometimes people will say, if you
sell stocks—initial stocks, it’s illegal, but we are legal.”
Even after acknowledging that “members were misled,”
Shern continued to pay commissions to promoters and
accept investments from their downlines. (SEC’s 56.1 at
99 134-35, 138.)

Shern also continuously told investors that CKB would
soon go public. In one presentation, he stated “in the next
24 months the value of your initial stock will increase ...
so for the next two years, and also during the first three to
five years after the company gets public, we will get the
value of the stock increased.” As late as June 2013, Shern
edited and consulted on a revised compensation plan that
still claimed that OMAs could convert their Prpts into
stock. (SEC’s 56.1 at 99 136-37.)

When confronted with allegations that CKB was a
pyramid scheme, Shern led CKB’s efforts to suppress
such allegations. In an email, Shern urged OMAs “to
protect the name of the company” and aggressively deny
any allegations. Shern also hired a consultant to eliminate
references to the allegations from internet search results
for CKB. In a December 2012 response to allegations that
CKB was a fraud, Shern edited and approved a response
letter stating that CKB sold “cutting-edge educational
products” and it “sell[s] real products, generate[s] real
sales, [and] produce[s] real results.” The same response
also stated that CKB would go public “in the next few
years” and was not a “wild claim to squeeze money out of
unsuspecting members.” (SEC’s 56.1 at Y 148-49.) As
the accusations continued, Shern took steps to distance
himself from CKB. By February of 2013, Shern disclosed
to Santos that as a result of the pyramid scheme
allegations, he had been “busy for two months’ time
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working with lawyers and accountants to restructure the
company. And that is why now we are not owners of
CKB.” Nonetheless, even after the SEC initiated this
lawsuit in October 2013, Shern continued to communicate
with and accept money from OMAs, and even held a
webinar accessible to OMAs in which he described “the
future of the company.” (SEC’s 56.1 at 99 151-52.)

b. Leung

Leung, one of CKB’s founders, acted as CKB’s Chief
Financial Officer (“CFO”). In a CKB promotional
brochure, Leung was credited with creating CKB’s
“management structure.” The same brochure recounted
Leung’s background in banking and wealth management
and claimed that Leung has experience taking companies
public. (SEC’s 56.1 at {9 153, 165.)

As CFO, Leung was chiefly responsible for managing
CKB’s finances, collecting funds from investors, paying
salaries and other business expenses, and paying
commissions to OMAs. She controlled bank accounts,
some of which she opened with Shern, and signed checks
on behalf of CKB. In February 2012, she also signed a
stock certificate on behalf of CKB for Yao Lin. (SEC’s
56.1 at 99 156-57, 166—67.) Leung was also widely
understood to be in charge of CKB’s finances. She
communicated directly with OMAs regarding payment
issues. She frequently adjusted accounts, signed checks,
modified transactions, and gave instructions to OMAs
about where to send their money and other steps to take.
Leung was familiar with the Dynamic Rewards Plan and
the back office. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 153, 157-58.)

Even after Leung was confronted with allegations that
CKB was a pyramid scheme and warned that it was illegal
to sell stock, Leung continued functioning as *434 CKB’s
CFO and diverting funds into her own account. (SEC’s
56.1 at 1 161-63.)

c. Guo
Guo was one of CKB’s highest ranking promoters due to
his success in recruiting direct and indirect downlines."
Guo was also one of the earliest OMASs to invest in CKB,
in May 2011. For his successful recruitment efforts, CKB
awarded him a $250,000 bonus. (SEC’s 56.1 at 99 168,
193))
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Guo traveled throughout the U.S. and China to promote
CKB and recruit new OMAs. In one video, Guo stated
that his “sales group,” referring to his direct and indirect
downlines, was responsible for “$100 million of sales
revenue.” In testimonials posted on the CKB website,
both Lee and Kiki Lin state that they were recruited by
Guo. As part of his recruitment efforts, Guo provided his
downlines with CKB promotional material. (SEC’s 56.1
at 4y 170, 172.)

Like other defendants, Guo made repeated statements to
potential investors that CKB would soon go public. In a
presentation, he stated that the IPO would happen in
2014, and added, “So, yes, today I’'m promising that we
definitely can go public.” In a testimonial posted on the
CKB website, Guo wrote that he had been “rewarded
500K USD and lots of shares” and that “[h]aving such a
big portion of shares and Prpts given out are another
attractive point of CKB168.” Guo also repeatedly referred
to Prpts as ‘“shares” and “stocks” and told potential
investors that OMAs are “holders of initial stocks.” In
presentations, Guo compares OMAs who help Prpts to
pre—IPO investors in Google, New Oriental, and Baidu."
(SEC’s 56.1 at 99 173-175.)

Guo also told investors that they would enjoy enormous,
risk-free returns by investing in CKB. In one video, he
stated that “before going public, [Prpts] will only grow
and never fall.” In another video, he told investors that
OMAs can “sell our Prpt at the back [office] and convert
it to money.” He also compared the allegedly risk-free
CKB approach with investments in purportedly riskier
public companies, where the value of the investment may
fluctuate. At other times, Guo purported to explain “why
there is no risk for [CKB] investors.” Guo made similar
claims as to the investment after an IPO. He stated that
“after going public ... the value of Prpt will increase by 50
times.” Along the same lines, he also claimed that CKB’s
“stock value would be increased dozens of times or even
hundreds of times.” (SEC’s 56.1 at 99 179-81, 183.)

In addition to telling OMAs and potential investors that
CKB was a profitable, risk-free investment, Guo also
explained CKB’s structure. In a variety of contexts, he
explained that OMAs earned commissions by actively
recruiting new investors and benefited indirectly when
their downlines successfully recruited. In one video, Guo
walked OMAs through arranging a downline pyramid in
order to maximize commissions. (SEC’s 56.1 at § 184.)

Even after being confronted with signs and accusations
that CKB was a “scam” and a pyramid scheme, Guo
continued to *435 promote CKB and accept commissions.
By October 2012, Guo was aware that CKB had been
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accused of being a pyramid scheme when he received an
email from Shern denouncing the claims and imploring
the top promoters to attack CKB’s critics. Guo made no
investigation into these claims, nor did he verify any of
the promotional claims he made to potential investors. He
never acquired, or even asked for, any internal CKB
financial statements or other disclosures. Instead, he
continued making the same claims to investors as detailed
above. In one video, potential investors can be heard
questioning CKB’s legitimacy. In response, Guo refuted
any claims that CKB was not legitimate and even claimed
to have given one investor a personal guarantee that a
CKB investment would only increase in value. Similarly,
despite the fact that Guo never received stock and, in fact,
wasn’t aware of anyone who had received stock
certificates, he told OMAs and potential investors that he
already had CKB stock. (SEC’s 56.1 at ] 175-78,
182-83, 185.)

Guo knew that CKB that Prpts could not actually be
converted to cash and that CKB was not actually risk-free
while making such claims to investors. By April of 2013,
someone at CKB even told him that it was
“inappropriate” to denote Prpts in dollars. Guo also later
admitted that his claims that CKB was risk-free were only
his “hope” and his “personal view.” He had not done
anything to verify such representations. Guo also was
aware that he earned no commissions and CKB offered no
incentives for retail sales. Though he collected millions in
commissions for recruiting new OMAs, he made only 15
or 16 software sales to non-OMAs, who were exclusively
his family members in China. His promotional efforts
focused entirely on recruiting new OMAs with statements
that he knew were false. (SEC’s 56.1 at Y 184, 187-90.)

d. Lee

Lee became an OMA in July 2011. After joining CKB,
she regularly hosted promotional events at her Los
Angeles area home. Her OMA account ranked among the
top 28 out of over 65,000 worldwide OMA accounts.
(SEC’s 56.1 at 9 65, 194-95.) Lee stated that she did not
have “any goals” for selling the CKB software. (Lee Dep.
(Doc. No. 312—-1) at 210:6—12 at 140 (ECF pagination).)

Lee promoted CKB on her own website, estockclub.com.
Though the site was publically accessible, Lee noted that
it was in its Beta (pre-launch) form."” (Defs.” 56.1 at
196.) There, Lee gave financial advice and information
about CKB. Other promoters directed OMAs and
potential investors to Lee’s website, where Lee posted
CKB materials, meeting times, and promotional literature
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for site visitors. Lee also listed the website address on her
CKB business card. (SEC’s 56.1 at 94 196-97.)

One presentation posted on Lee’s website, extolled
CKB'’s business plans and invited visitors to “[jJoin us
and become a CKB OMA.” The presentation made
several claims about Prpts, including that “USD 750 [of
Prpts] will become USD 3,000 within six months to one
year.” It listed Prpt prices on various days and added the
“value of each [Prpt] has increase[d] from *436 USD
0.024 on Jan. 1, 2012 to USD 0.169 on Sep. 21, 2012,
with a return of 8 times within 9.5 months! In this way,
there might be a return on 8-16 times before CKB gets
listed in 2014.” A flier posted on Lee’s website claimed
that “CKB’s market value is USD 2.88 billion,” and that
“the first batch of 200 million Prpts are allocated, CKB
has sold about 360,000 courses with the revenue of about
ESD 432 million and the profit of about USD 36 million.”
The flier also claimed that “each Prpt is equivalent to
about USD 2.16.” (SEC’s 56.1 at 7 198, 200.)

In presentations and in informal conversations with
OMAs and potential investors, Lee made similar claims
about Prpts. For example, in September 2012, she told
potential investors that the value of Prpts would rapidly
multiply and that the Prpts could be converted to pre-IPO
stock. In a July 2016 email to an OMA, Lee described
future increases in Prpt value and attached a chart
showing how an investment of $124,000 could rapidly
become over $4 million in Prpts. Lee circulated similar
charts to other OMAs and potential investors. Such charts
did not disclose that Prpts did not actually have a cash
value and could not simply be exchanged for cash, as Lee
understood.”® (SEC’s 56.1 at 99 80, 101, 106, 202,
207-11.)

Lee also told OMAs and potential investors that CKB was
taking steps to go public. Lee told OMAs that they could
convert their Prpts to stock and become investors in, and
have ownership of, CKB. Another presentation on her
website stated that Prpts could be “[u]sed to exchange for
a share certificate,” and that, if Prpts are “used to
exchange for a share certificate, annual dividends can be
enjoyed.” Lee claimed that these holdings would become
valuable upon CKB’s imminent IPO. Lee also distributed
materials and charts with similar claims to potential
investors. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 113-16, 199, 202.)

Like other defendants, Lee continued to promote CKB
and accept commissions despite accusations and signs
that CKB was a fraud. By fall of 2012, Lee knew that
CKB had been accused of being a pyramid scheme by
various media sources, bloggers and even frustrated
OMAs. She discussed these allegations with other
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defendants and she was part of an October 2012 email
exchange in which Shern denied the allegations.
Nevertheless, she did nothing to independently assess the
allegations. In November 2012, Shern himself warned
Lee that she was making false claims about CKB and he
asked her to temporary take down her website, explaining
that “there is information inaccurate and will be used to
by ... SEC against” CKB. Though it is unclear when, or
for how long, Lee’s website was taken down, evidence
shows it was active in October 2013. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9
133,213-14.)

Lee also never investigated CKB’s purported efforts to go
public. At one point Lee actually attempted to convert her
Prpts to stock, but never received any stock certificates.
Despite this, Lee never verified her claims that OMAs
could become shareholders of CKB, which she repeatedly
made to OMAs and potential investors. Lee also
repeatedly told OMAs and potential investors that Prpts
could be converted to cash, despite knowing that OMAs
would have to wait in line to find a buyer on the back
office exchange. In communications with potential
investors, Lee described Prpts as actual CKB income even
though she know the potential investors were not aware of
the difference between *437 the valueless Prpts and the
actual commissions paid out. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 202-04,
206, 211-12.)

e. Ma

Ma became an OMA in May 2012 and, within ten weeks,
achieved the level of Executive Vice President due to her
success. One of her OMA accounts was among the top
112. Prior to joining CKB, Ma had been a licensed
securities professional. In her CKB testimonial, Ma
claimed, “I am experienced and licensed in both the
financial services and real estate industries,” and
represented that she had “learned” and “studied” CKB’s
business. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 289-91.) Ma often worked in
coordination with Lee, Mao, Chang, and Chen, whom she
referred to as her “team.” Ma would direct OMAs and
potential investors to Lee’s website for CKB promotional
information. Ma also attended recruiting events with her
team and implored them in emails to work hard in
recruiting new OMAs. During a trip to China, she sought
to arrange CKB promotional events and speakers with
Chang and Chen. (SEC’s 56.1 at 292, 294-95.)

In her CKB testimonial and in numerous communications
with other OMAs and potential investors, Ma stated that
she was a shareholder of CKB. In her testimonial, Ma
expressed regret that had she “made a higher investment,
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[she would] have acquired many more shares at a lower
price.” In a November 3, 2012 email to OMAs, she wrote
that “[t]hose selling shares and dividends would regret
what ... few shares they own later.” (SEC’s 56.1 at §297.)

Ma also made repeated representations that a CKB IPO
was imminent. In a June 2, 2013 email to OMAs, she
wrote, “June marks the last month of CKB stock lock-up.
If you or your friends want to catch the last flight before
public listing, please lock up all points before the end of
June.” At the bottom of the email, in bold, oversized
letters, Ma wrote, “[o]ne without stocks cannot become
rich and one without initial stocks cannot muster
enormous fortune.” In another email, Ma wrote, “Oct 1 is
around the corner, this will be the last chance to invest
and get free shares.” In a January 22, 2013 email, Ma
wrote, “[p]rospective investors in CKB186 need to
complete investment prior to the end of April.” On March
19, 2013, Ma sent another email to OMAs stating that
CKB had changed its website “[t]o satisfy requirements of
the listing of the parent company.” (SEC’s 56.1 at
298-300, 303.)

Ma also told OMAs and potential investors that they
could enjoy huge returns on their Prpts, despite knowing
they were valueless. For example, Ma emailed a chart to
Mao and other OMAs depicting a rapid 112% return on
an OMA’s initial investment and specified a “market
value” for the Prpts in dollars. Along the same lines, Ma
sent emails to OMAs notifying them that they could
purchase more business packs before a Prpts “split.” In
one email, she itemized the enormous returns a new OMA
could enjoy, writing, “[i]f 81 orders are concluded before
the end of September, the company will gift [Prpts] worth
... 379,818 shares for X [times] 0.163 = $61910. In case
of increases by 16 folds, the value would be $1 million at
the time of the public listing, exclusive of dividend.”
However, Ma knew that Prpts did not have cash value and
could not be converted to cash. Although she believed
that OMAs could use Prpts to purchase software licenses,
and then sell those licenses for cash, she never sold
licenses in this manner. Ma was aware that the only way
to earn real cash was for her or her downlines to sell
business packs. Ma only ever sold a few licenses to retail
purchasers. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 304-07, 309.)

By October 2012, Ma was aware that CKB had been
accused of being a pyramid *438 scheme. Along with
other defendants, Ma was copied on an email exchange
between an OMA and Shern, in which Shern denounced
allegations that CKB was a pyramid scheme. Like Shern,
Ma described similar allegations as sabotage. In a
December 2012 email to an OMA, Ma wrote, “[t]here are
some he[ar|says about the company, which are made
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intentionally to sabotage our Company. There are also
people doubting about the operation model of CKB168 ...
One company has created numerous millionaires with this
model.” Yet Ma did nothing to investigate the allegations
she denounced. Ma claims that, instead, she accepted
Shern’s explanation that the accusations were motivated
by jealousy. After learning of the allegations, Ma
continued to promote CKB, to encourage her downlines
to recruit new investors, to accept commissions and cash,
and to permit her testimonial to be used on the CKB
website. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 310-13.)

f. Yao Lin

Lin became an OMA in May 2011, after being recruited
by Guo. Lin’s top OMA account ranked among the top
28. Prior to becoming an OMA, Lin participated in sales
and promotion programs for other MLMs. At the other
MLMs, unlike at CKB, Lin sold products directly, in
addition to developing downlines. Yet, while at CKB, Lin
never made a single software sale separate from business
packs sold to OMAs. (SEC’s 56.1 at 99 315-16, 321.)

Lin promoted CKB by representing that Prpts had cash
value, despite knowing they could not simply be
exchanged for cash.” He based his presentations to
investors on CKB’s claims regarding the value, uses, and
ever-increasing returns for Prpts. He described Prpts as
“passive income,” which would increase so long as CKB
continued to sell business packs.'® In his CKB testimonial,
he claimed that he had earned over six digits, which
included returns on his Prpts. However, Lin knew that
Prpts could not be converted to cash. At one point, Lin
had attempted to sell his Prpts on the back office
exchange, but, like other OMAs, he could not find a
buyer. Lin knew that other OMAs had the same
experience. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9 324-26.)

Lin also claimed that OMAs could convert their Prpts to
stock despite his own difficulty in doing so. He passed
along information to potential investors that CKB would
have an IPO in July 2014, that CKB would be listed on
the Hong Kong stock exchange, and that the IPO would
make CKB extremely valuable.” In presentations *439 to
potential investors, Lin compared CKB’s imminent IPO
with the successful IPO of another Chinese education
company. However, Lin himself encountered numerous
roadblocks to obtaining CKB stock. Although he first
tried to convert his Prpts in 2011, he did not receive a
stock certificate until the summer of 2012. To get it, he
had to fly to Hong Kong to visit the CKB office there.
When he arrived, CKB personnel claimed not to have it. It
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was only after Lin confronted Leung that she provided
him with a signed certificate. His other attempts, both
before and after his attempt in 2011, to convert Prpts to
stock failed. Lin was the only U.S. promoter to receive a
stock certificate and was not aware of any other OMAs
who received an actual certificate. (SEC’s 56.1 at 99 327,
329.)

Like other defendants, Lin continued to promote CKB
and accept commissions despite accusations and signs
that CKB was a fraud. By October 2012, Lin knew that
CKB had been widely accused of being a fraudulent
scheme. Even prior to that, several of Lin’s recruits told
him that they suspected that CKB was not a legitimate
company and, in the fall of 2012, Lin reviewed articles
that directly questioned CKB’s legitimacy and
promotional claims and asserted that CKB was likely a
type of money-transfer scheme. (SEC’s 56.1 at 9
331-32)

Despite his familiarity with the retail-sale guidelines of
other MLMs from his past experiences and his knowledge
that CKB did not follow those rules, Lin did nothing to
independently evaluate accusations that CKB was a
fraud.” Lee never asked Shern or any other founder to
respond to the fraud accusations. He considered the
widespread skepticism about CKB to be irrelevant; he
was, as he put it, “stubborn.” Similarly, Lin never
attempted to verify the statements he continued to make
to OMAs and potential investors. He never asked CKB
for financial disclosures and he made no effort to verify
Shern and other OMAs’ statements that CKB would soon
go public. (SEC’s 56.1 at 99 334-35.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings,
depositions, interrogatories, admissions, and affidavits
demonstrate that there are no genuine issues of material
fact in dispute and that one party is entitled to judgment
as a matter of law. SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c); Celotex
Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91
L.Ed.2d 265 (1986). A genuine issue of material fact
exists “if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could
return a verdict for the nonmoving party.” Anderson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 S.Ct. 2505,
91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986).

In determining whether a genuine issue of material fact
exists, the evidence of the non-movant “is to be believed”
and the court must draw all “justifiable” or “reasonable”
inferences in favor of the non-moving party. /d. at 255,
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106 S.Ct. 2505 (citing Adickes v. S.H. Kress & Co., 398
U.S. 144, 158-59, 90 S.Ct. 1598, 26 L.Ed.2d 142 (1970));
see also*440Brosseau v. Haugen, 543 U.S. 194, 195 n.2,
125 S.Ct. 596, 160 L.Ed.2d 583 (2004). Nevertheless,
once the moving party has shown that there is no genuine
issue as to any material fact and that it is entitled to a
judgment as a matter of law, “the nonmoving party must
come forward with ‘specific facts showing that there is a
genuine issue for trial,” ” Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co.,
Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587, 106 S.Ct.
1348, 89 L.Ed.2d 538 (1986) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P.
56(e)) (emphasis in original), and “may not rely on
conclusory allegations or unsubstantiated speculation,”
Scotto v. Almenas, 143 F.3d 105, 114 (2d Cir. 1998)
(citing cases). In other words, the nonmovant must offer
“concrete evidence from which a reasonable juror could
return a verdict in his favor.” Anderson, 477 U.S. at 256,
106 S.Ct. 2505. Where “the nonmoving party bears the
burden of proof at trial, summary judgment is warranted if
the nonmovant fails to make a showing sufficient to
establish the existence of an element essential to [its]
case.” Nebraska v. Wyoming, 507 U.S. 584, 590, 113
S.Ct. 1689, 123 L.Ed.2d 317 (1993) (quoting Celotex, 477
U.S. at 322, 106 S.Ct. 2548) (internal quotation marks
omitted). Thus, “[a] defendant moving for summary
judgment must prevail if the plaintiff fails to come
forward with enough evidence to create a genuine factual
issue to be tried with respect to an element essential to its
case.” Allen v. Cuomo, 100 F.3d 253, 258 (2d Cir. 1996)
(citing Anderson, 477 U.S. at 247-48, 106 S.Ct. 2505).

DISCUSSION

I. Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5,

and Section 17(a) the Securities Act
MI2IBIThe SEC alleges that all defendants violated Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act,* Rule 10b—5 promulgated
thereunder,” and Section 17(a)(1) and (3) of the Securities
Act.? The SEC also alleges *441 violations of Section
17(a)(2) of the Securities Act against Shern and the
promoters. These sections of the federal securities laws
are intended to protect consumers against fraud and
misrepresentations in the purchase or sale of securities.
To prevail on its claims under Section 10(b) and Rule
10b-5, the SEC must show that each defendant: “(1)
made a material misrepresentation or a material omission
as to which he had a duty to speak, or used a fraudulent
device; (2) with scienter; (3) in connection with the
purchase or sale of securities.” SEC v. Monarch Funding
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Corp., 192 F.3d 295, 308 (2d Cir. 1999).* “According to
the Second Circuit, in the context of violations of Section
10(b) and Rule 10b-5, scienter requires at least willful or
reckless disregard for the truth or knowing
misconduct.”’One or More Unknown Traders, 2009 WL
3233110, at *4 (internal quotation marks and citations
omitted).

“4IFor its Section 17(a) claims, the SEC must set forth
“[e]ssentially the same elements ... though no showing of
scienter is required for the SEC to obtain an injunction
under subsections (a)(2) or (a)(3).” Id. Additionally,
unlike private litigants, “[t]he SEC does not need to prove
investor reliance, loss causation, or damages in an action
under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5, or
Section 17(a) of the Securities Act.” SEC v. Credit
Bancorp, Ltd., 195 F.Supp.2d 475, 490-91 (S.D.N.Y.
2002) (collecting cases).

As set forth below, the undisputed facts show that the
SEC is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on its
Section 10(b), Rule 10b—5, and Section 17(a) claims.

a. Material Misrepresentations

BIClAs  detailed in the facts above, Shern and the
promoters each repeatedly made representations to
investors that: (1) CKB was a legitimate company, (2)
Prpts had cash value, (3) OMAs could make active returns
by recruiting new investors, (4) OMAs could acquire
stock, and (5) CKB would go public.® These
representations were both false and material.

*442i. Defendants’ Representations that CKB was a
Legitimate Company were False

[M“A pyramid scheme is a mechanism used to transfer
funds from one person to another.... A legitimate [MLM]
includes a system of distributing products or services in
which each participant earns income from sales of a
product to his or her downline and also from sales to the
public. F.T.C. v. Five—Star Auto Club, Inc., 97 F.Supp.2d
502, 531 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (emphasis added).

Here, CKB offered no incentive for retail sales. CKB’s
Dynamic Rewards Plan awarded OMAs with
commissions solely for recruiting new investors or selling
additional business packs to existing OMAs. SeeWebster
v. Omnitrition Int’l, Inc., 79 F.3d 776, 782 (9th Cir. 1996)
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(finding proof of a pyramid scheme where “[t]he mere
structure of the scheme suggests that Omnitrition’s focus
was in promoting the program rather than selling the
products”). Due to this structure, CKB’s actual products
largely went unused and unsold. SeeF.T.C. v.
BurnLounge, Inc., 753 F.3d 878, 888 (9th Cir. 2014)
(affirming district court’s finding of a pyramid scheme
where “rewards ... were primarily in return for selling the
right to participate in the money-making venture ... The
merchandise ... was simply incidental”). Indeed, CKB’s
proceeds show no revenue attributable to retail sales of its
software. SeeSEC v. Better Life Club of Amer., Inc., 995
F.Supp. 167, 172 (D.D.C. 1998), aff’d203 F.3d 54 (D.C.
Cir. 1999) (finding that defendant corporation was a
pyramid scheme, in part, because “almost all funds that
were coming into [defendant’s] accounts were made up of
new investments, not of profits from Club activities”).

CKB was not a legitimate MLM because it was set up
with the “structural certainty of collapse”—its revenue
from sale of goods to consumers was insufficient “to
cover the production costs or costs of the goods sold, the
various marketing expenses, and the promised rewards for
recruiting new participants.” Five—Star Auto Club, 97
F.Supp.2d at 531. Moreover, not only was CKB
structured like a pyramid scheme, but it functioned like
one as well. CKB commissions were disproportionately
concentrated among a minute percentage of promoters.
The top 1% of OMAs earned more than 60% of all
commissions. Meanwhile, more than 50% of accounts
earned no commissions at all. Accordingly, the Court
finds that CKB was not a legitimate company as a matter
of law.

ii. Defendants’ Representations that Prpts had Cash
Value were False

Defendants told investors that each business pack
contained Prpts worth “$750 dollars” and that they could
earn passive returns simply by allowing their Prpts to
increase in number and value. These claims were false as
a matter of law.

Prpts could not be converted to cash, and their value
appears to have been set by CKB—an illegitimate
company with no retail sales. Worse, defendants claimed
*443 that the value of an OMA’s Prpt holdings would rise
as CKB grew. Such claims of passive, rapid, and risk-free
returns are a common basis for liability in pyramid and
Ponzi cases. See, e.g., SEC v. George, 426 F.3d 786, 788
(6th Cir. 2005) (upholding summary judgment against
defendants, who described an “investment opportunity
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[that] had all of the hallmarks of a ‘free lunch’: The
investments would be virtually risk-free and would
generate lucrative returns”™); Better Life Club, 995 F.Supp.
at 176 (“[D]efendants continued to recruit and to entice
investors with unequivocal, impossible promises of
doubled money in 60 or 90 days. Defendants never
revealed to potential investors that the Advertising Pool
was nothing more than a pyramid scheme; thus, the entire
solicitation process was itself a broad misrepresentation
on the grandest scale.”); SEC v. Gagnon, No.
10—cv—11891 (GCS), 2012 WL 994892, at *10 (E.D.
Mich. Mar. 22, 2012) (granting summary judgment for
SEC where defendants claimed “10 to 12.5% on your
money per month with No Work and Little to No Risk!”);
SEC v. Art Intellect, Inc., No. 2:11-cv=357 (TC), 2013
WL 840048, at *3 (D. Utah, Mar. 6, 2013) (granting
summary judgment for SEC where defendants claimed “a
14% to 26% ... return, year after year ... even if you never
lift a finger”).

iii. Defendants’ Representations that OMAs Could
Make Returns by Recruiting New Investors were False

Defendants told OMAs that they could make active
returns by recruiting new members. While recruitment
would produce commissions, in a pyramid scheme “the
required number of new members cannot, in fact, be
recruited on a perpetual basis, causing the scheme to
collapse of its own weight ....” Five—Star Auto Club, 97
F.Supp.2d at 531. “ ‘[T]hose who have the greatest risk of
loss are those who enter the pyramid when the market is
closest to saturation .... The disclosure which would be
necessary to inform a new investor of his prospects for
success or failure would have to change almost daily ....” ”
SEC v. Int’l Loan Network, Inc., 968 F.2d 1304, 1309
(D.C. Cir. 1992) (quoting Piambino v. Bailey, 610 F.2d
1306, 1318 n.9 (5th Cir. 1980)). Because a pyramid
scheme will collapse when it exhausts the pool of new
recruits, the vast majority of investors will not recoup
their investment—even if they actively recruit. Thus, it
was false as a matter of law for defendants to claim that
new investors could make active returns.

iv. Defendants’ Representations that OMAs Could
Acquire Stock were False

In SEC actions, courts impose liability for false claims
that victims can acquire non-existent securities. SeeSEC v.
Roor, No. 99-cv-3372 (HB), 2004 WL 1933578, at *5
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(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 30, 2004) (granting summary judgment
for SEC where defendant promised “phantasmagorical
returns on purportedly risk-free investments” that did not,
in fact, exist); SEC v. Gallard, No. 95-cv-3099 (HB),
1997 WL 767570, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 10, 1997) (“It is
clear by now that the antifraud provisions relied upon by
the Commission are applicable even where, as here, the
‘security’ at issue does not exist.”); see alsoSEC v. Lauer,
52 F.3d 667, 670 (7th Cir. 1995) (“A central purpose of
the securities laws is to protect investors and would-be
investors in  the  securities  markets  against
misrepresentations. An elementary form of such
misrepresentation is misrepresenting an interest as a
security when it is nothing of the kind.”); SEC v. Milan
Capital Grp., Inc., No. 00-cv—108 (DLC), 2000 WL
1682761, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 9, 2000) (granting
summary judgment for SEC where defendant “convinced
approximately 200 customers to pay almost $9 million for
IPO shares ... [even though defendant] had no *444 access
to IPO shares, and never provided any IPO shares to
customers”).

Here, defendants claimed that OMAs could become CKB
shareholders. In many cases, defendants held themselves
out to OMAs as shareholders already. As discussed
above, defendants were aware that those claims were
false. With the exception of Yao Lin, they never acquired
stock. OMAs, including defendants, tried to convert their
Prpts, but were entirely unsuccessful. As the record
shows, CKB had no actual stock to distribute.
Accordingly, these claims were false as a matter of law.

v. Defendants’ Representations that CKB Would Go
Public were False

Each defendant told victims that their CKB stock would
become valuable when CKB achieved its imminent IPO.
CKB, however, had not prepared to go public.
Defendants’ claims had no basis in fact, and no defendant
even attempted to verify that their claims that CKB was
making such steps toward an IPO were correct. While
certain defendants argue that CKB was taking steps to go
public, the record belies such claims. Defendants
produced no information regarding the preparation of an
IPO, and the back-office data recovered by the SEC
contained no communications or records related to CKB’s
purported IPO.”” As the SEC points out, CKB would have
been precluded from public listing due to its fraudulent
business model and lack of corporate structure. However,
CKB never planned, initiated, or attempted any such
necessary restructuring.® Accordingly, these
representations were false as a matter of law.
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vi. These Misrepresentations were Material

Bl“Summary judgment on matters of materiality in a
securities fraud case is appropriate when the omissions
and misrepresentations in question are ‘so obviously
important to the investor that reasonable minds cannot
differ on the question of materiality.” ” Credit Bancorp,
195 F.Supp.2d at 492 (quoting SEC v. Research
Automation Corp., 585 F.2d 31, 35 (2d Cir. 1978)); see
alsoBetter Life Club, 995 F.Supp. at 177 (“The test of
materiality is whether a reasonable investor would
consider the representations important.”).

There can be no doubt that Shern and the promoters’ false
claims of legitimacy, outsized returns, and pre—IPO stock
were material to investors. See SEC v. Platinum Invest.
Corp., No. 02—cv—6093 (JSR), 2006 WL 2707319, at *2
(S.D.N.Y. Sept. 20, 2006) (holding that “there can be no
question” that claims regarding the timing of an IPO and
the likely growth in share price, as well as false claims
about the company’s business prospects and management,
*445 were material as a matter of law). Few OMAs ever
even used CKB’s software. These misrepresentations
were CKB’s primary inducements in recruiting new
investors, and, as the victims’ statements show, they were
essential to the decision to invest. Five—Star Auto Club,
97 F.Supp.2d at 529 (“The case law is clear that
representations regarding the profit potential of a business
opportunity are important to consumers, and therefore
such are material misrepresentations.”); Gallard, 1997
WL 767570, at *3 (“[T]here is no question a reasonable
investor would consider important the fact that the
‘security’ at issue did not exist and that a secondary
market did not exist for those securities, and that the
money paid for those securities would be
misappropriated.”).

b. Scheme Liability
PIRule 10b—5 and Section 17(a) also impose what courts
have called “ ‘scheme liability’ for those who, with
scienter, engage in deceitful conduct.” SEC .
Jean—Pierre, No. 12—cv—8886 (LGS), 2015 WL 1054905,
at *8 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 9, 2015). Scheme liability “hinges
on the performance of an inherently deceptive act that is
distinct from an alleged misstatement.” SEC v. Kelly, 8§17
F.Supp.2d 340, 344 (S.D.N.Y. 2011); see alsoSEC v.
Sullivan, 68 F.Supp.3d 1367, 1377 (D. Colo. 2014)
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(explaining that the Second, Eighth, and Ninth Circuits
require  “deceptive  conduct in  addition to
misrepresentations” that go beyond mere assistance with
making the misrepresentation). Defendants “must have
participated in an illegitimate, sham or inherently
deceptive transaction where [their] conduct or role ha[d]
the purpose and effect of creating a false appearance.”
Sullivan, 68 F.Supp.3d at 1377 (internal quotation marks
and citations omitted).

MIMITo prove scheme liability, the SEC must show that
defendants: “(1) committed a deceptive or manipulative
act; (2) in furtherance of the alleged scheme to defraud;
(3) with scienter.” SEC v. McDuffie, No. 12—cv-02939
(TKK), 2014 WL 4548723, at *10 (D. Colo. Sept. 15,
2014) (citing SEC v. Lucent Tech., Inc., 610 F.Supp.2d
342, 360 (D.N.J. 2009)). “To prove liability under
Securities Act Section 17(a)(3), however, the SEC only
has to prove negligence rather than scienter.” /d. (citing
SEC v. Smart, 678 F.3d 850, 857 (10th Cir. 2012)).

2IHere, defendants’ conduct created a false
appearance—namely, that CKB was a legitimate
company. As a pyramid scheme, CKB was nothing but a
“course of business which operates ... as a fraud.” Shern
and each of the promoters thus committed inherently
deceptive acts by engaging in what they claimed were the
promotional activities of a legitimate MLM—organizing
seminars and in-person meetings, providing training and
support to downlines, providing access to back office
accounts, and portraying CKB’s product as useful
educational software. See, e.g., id. at *10 (granting
summary judgment for SEC on scheme liability where
deceptive acts included falsely “presenting HMCU to the
public as a legitimate credit union”); SEC v. Constantin,
939 F.Supp.2d 288, 308 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (granting
summary judgment for SEC where “false promises about
expected returns,” combined with other conduct intended
to further the fraud, “suggest[s] the existence of a
wide-sweeping fraudulent investment scheme”). Shern
and the promoters also each enrolled victims in the CKB
pyramids through the purchase of business packs,
seeSullivan, 68 F.Supp.3d at 1378 (finding transactions
with investors were “inherently deceptive” because they
were not “legitimate” business transactions), and offered
victims false assurances about CKB’s legitimacy.
See*446VanCook v. SEC, 653 F.3d 130, 139 (2d Cir.
2011) (finding scheme liability, in part, for “false
assurances”).

Shern also launched the scheme, ultimately ran the
business, and controlled the manner in which CKB
presented itself. Apart from his deceptive promotional
acts, his role as scheme architect makes him liable as a
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matter of law. See id. (finding scheme liability where
defendant was not “merely associated with the
late-trading scheme ...; he was its architect.... [He] was
intimately involved with the creation, marketing, and
implementation of the system”); see also In re
Glob.Crossing, Ltd. Sec. Litig., 322 F.Supp.2d 319, 336
(S.D.N.Y. 2004) (finding defendant’s “allegedly central
role in these schemes, as their chief architect and
executor, leaves no doubt as to [his] potential liability”
where defendant “masterminded the misleading
accounting” and “was intimately involved in all ...
accounting functions”).

Finally, Leung administered the commission system,
addressed OMA requests and complaints, and facilitated
OMASs’ investments in CKB. She also controlled the back
office system of accounts that operated as a deceit on
investors by misstating the value of Prpts and other
misrepresentations. SeeSullivan, 68 F.Supp.3d at 137879
(granting summary judgment against accountant for Ponzi
scheme where defendant “solicited further payments from
existing note-holders ... accepted investment deposits in
furtherance of the BPF Ponzi scheme ... [and] generated
false reports”). She also signed and provided an
illegitimate stock certificate to Yao Lin, which created the
false appearance that CKB was a legitimate company that
would soon go public.

All of this misleading conduct clearly furthered the
scheme by creating the core false appearances at issue
here—that CKB was a legitimate company and that
OMAs would make, and were making, large returns.
Accordingly, defendants are liable for engaging in a
fraudulent scheme.

c. Scienter

131041051 jability for securities fraud requires proof of
scienter, defined ‘as a mental state embracing intent to
deceive, manipulate, or defraud.” ” SEC v. Obus, 693 F.3d
276, 286 (2d Cir. 2012) (quoting Ernst & Ernst v.
Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 & n.12, 96 S.Ct. 1375, 47
L.Ed.2d 668 (1976)). “Scienter is established by knowing
or reckless conduct, or even in some cases, by willful
blindness, i.c., a deliberate refusal to acquire
information.” Roor, 2004 WL 1933578, at *4 (internal
quotation marks and citations omitted). “Representing
information as true while knowing it is not, recklessly
misstating information, or asserting an opinion on
grounds so flimsy as to belie any genuine belief in its
truth, are all circumstances sufficient to support a
conclusion of scienter.”
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F.Supp.2d 412, 424 (S.D.N.Y. 2007), aff’d sub nom.SEC
v. Altomare, 300 Fed.Appx. 70 (2d Cir. 2008). For the
following reasons, each of the defendants acted with
scienter as a matter of law.

i. Shern

6IShern helped to create CKB and directed its
promotional efforts. Shern himself appears in promotional
videos, and other defendants and victims describe him as
the source of the key misrepresentations in this case.
More than anyone, he knew those misrepresentations
were false. See, e.g., Milan Capital Grp., 2000 WL
1682761, at *7 (granting summary judgment for SEC
where “the SEC has offered ample evidence that Monas
was at the center of the fraud™); Better Life Club, 995
F.Supp. at 177-78 (granting summary judgment for SEC
where defendant “hatched the Advertising Pool *447
scheme, oversaw its marketing, sale, and operation, and
managed the finances”™); Art Intellect, 2013 WL 840048,
at *19 (granting summary judgment in Ponzi case against
defendants that “were involved in the operations of the
business, with significant decision-making power”
including being “chiefly responsible for [company’s]
marketing materials™).

Specifically, Shern knew that CKB was not a legitimate
company. Santos presented him with materials that
explained the hallmarks of a legitimate MLM. The criteria
therein—for example, sales to retail investors—placed
CKB squarely on the wrong side of legitimate. Shern
knew that CKB’s products contained numerous defects,
were hardly used, and were often a source of
dissatisfaction to the few who did use them. Shern must
have known that CKB had no revenue attributable to
retail sales and had no plans for an imminent [PO.”

In truth, Shern embraced the fact that CKB was a pyramid
scheme. He helped create and distribute a Plan that had no
incentives for retail sales. He made himself a top OMA
despite being warned that it would create a conflict of
interest. He explained to other OMAs how to arrange their
downlines. He traveled frequently to the U.S. and other
countries, appearing with and otherwise encouraging
promoters. He told audiences that they could earn active
returns. He claimed that OMAs could get stock, even
though he knew it was illegal for stock to be distributed.
In sum, he did everything he could to attract investors, but
virtually nothing to sell retail products.

Shern then led a broad and diverse effort to suppress
allegations that CKB was a pyramid scheme, including
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direct written responses to such claims, emails that
exhorted OMAs to fight the negative claims about CKB,
and the use of technicians to alter search engine results.
He took these steps despite knowing that promoters were
making false claims and that, by January of 2013,
government authorities were investigating CKB.

ii. Leung

MMLeung helped found CKB and served as one of
WIN168’s directors. As CFO, she managed CKB’s
finances, signed its checks and, with Shern, controlled its
accounts. In short, she launched the scheme and then
facilitated its operation. She could not have performed
those roles had she not been intimately familiar with
CKB’s Dynamic Rewards Plan, commission structure,
and lack of retail sales. See, e.g., Sullivan, 68 F.Supp.3d
1367 (granting summary judgment against accountant
who managed accounts on day-to-day basis and was
aware of misconduct). Further, Leung knew of the
widespread allegations that CKB was a pyramid scheme
and she participated in internal conversations with Shern
and others regarding how to respond. Despite these
allegations, Leung continued to serve as CKB’s CFO. She
also knew that it was illegal for CKB to issue stock—yet
she signed Yao Lin’s stock certificate.

iii. Promoters

8IThe undisputed record shows that the promoters acted
with the requisite scienter when promulgating CKB’s
claims of enormous, risk-free returns and the imminent
acquisition of valuable stock. The undisputed record
shows that each promoter either knew or recklessly
adopted such false statements. SeeRolf v. Blyth, Eastman
Dillon & Co., 570 F.2d 38, 45 (2d Cir. 1978) (“There is of
course no difficulty *448 in finding the required intent to
mislead where it appears that the speaker believes his
statement to be false.”).

Each of the promoters knew that Prpts, in contrast to
commissions, could not simply be exchanged for cash.
Yet each promoter repeatedly told OMAs and potential
investors that they would passively enjoy huge,
dollar-denominated returns on their investment, and that
each business pack would include “$750” of Prpts. The
promoters did not disclose that the purported returns, in
the form of worthless Prpts, were an illusion.
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The undisputed record also shows that, with the exception
of Yao Lin, the promoters never acquired CKB stock. Yet
the promoters repeatedly stated in person, in testimonials,
at seminars and on the internet that OMAs could convert
their Prpts to stock. SeeCredit Bancorp, 195 F.Supp.2d at
495 (“At the very least, Brandon’s actions were reckless
as a matter of law when he failed to act after being unable
to obtain investors’ securities and continued to represent
that he had the authority to do so.”). Moreover, Guo and
Ma both conveyed to OMAs that they actually had stock.
They have since admitted that this was not true. Seeln re
MetLife Demutualization Litig., 262 F.R.D. 217, 234
(E.D.N.Y. 2009) (“A defendant who believes his
statements to be false acts with requisite scienter.”); see
alsoConstantin, 939 F.Supp.2d at 308.

The undisputed record also shows that the promoters were
reckless as a matter of law with regard to the fact that
CKB was a pyramid scheme. SeeRolf, 570 F.2d at 45
(“[T]here is general agreement that [scienter] is present
when the representation is made without any belief as to
its truth, or with reckless disregard whether it be true or
false.”). By fall 2012, each promoter had been confronted
with widespread allegations that CKB was a fraud. Each
promoter was also aware of other obvious signs that CKB
was a fraud: the claims of rapid, risk-free returns; the lack
of an incentive to make retail sales; the inability to
convert Prpts to cash on the internal exchange or
elsewhere; and the inability to acquire actual stock.
Despite these warnings, they failed to investigate even
though each of them was among CKB’s very top OMAs.
The promoters did nothing to evaluate CKB’s legitimacy
besides communicating with Shern. SeeMilan Capital
Grp., 2000 WL 1682761, at *5 (“Where a defendant plays
a central role in marketing an investment, his defense that
he was unaware that the investment was a fraud is less
credible.”).

Courts in this Circuit have broadly condemned the failure
of promoters to perform an adequate investigation in the
face of doubtful facts, finding that such a failure amounts
to recklessness as a matter of law. SeeCredit Bancorp,
195 F.Supp.2d at 495-96 (finding scienter where
defendant “simply accepted Credit Bancorp’s excuses
without undertaking any independent investigation
whatsoever” and “simply ignored” numerous facts that
should have “alerted” him to irregularities); Constantin,
939 F.Supp.2d at 309 (“To the extent that Solomon did
not have direct knowledge of the falsity ... we conclude
that he acted recklessly in failing to verify the accuracy of
the information.”); Milan Capital Grp., 2000 WL
1682761, at *6 (finding that failure to investigate warning
signs “sufficiently indicative of fraud” constituted
recklessness); Universal Express, 475 F.Supp.2d at 427
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(finding defendant could not have reasonably believed
claims he made where he “neither possessed nor had
sought to obtain any financial information about the
entities”).

Furthermore, promoter defendants cannot avoid liability
by claiming that they relied on the statements of Shern or
other CKB officials. See*449Credit Bancorp, 195
F.Supp.2d at 495-96; SEC v. Milan Grp., Inc., 962
F.Supp.2d 182, 201 (D.D.C. 2013), aff’d in part, vacated
in part, remanded,595 Fed.Appx. 2 (D.C. Cir. 2015)*
(“Ms. Baylor has declared under oath that she relied
entirely on Mr. Pavlico and had no knowledge that Milan
and its products were fraudulent .... Even crediting her
statements of ignorance, such statements only
demonstrate extreme recklessness, not innocence.”); see
alsoUniversal Exp., 475 F.Supp.2d at 427 (“[Alny
appearance of substantiation created by mention of
[misleading corporate documents] in the press releases
only underscores defendants’ wrongdoing, as press
releases that purport to be substantiated would seem more
likely to mislead the reasonable investor than those that
do not.... [Defendants’] disregard of such a consequence
was not at the least reckless.” (internal quotation marks
and citation omitted)).

91201Qimilar to the present case, in Gagnon, defendants
promoted a Ponzi scheme by soliciting the purchase of
“Mazu Business Packs.” Defendant Gagnon repeatedly
touted the merits of the investment and vouched for its
legitimacy. 2012 WL 994892, at *2. The court awarded
the SEC summary judgment because Gagnon:

Performed no due diligence concerning the profitability
of the Legisi program. He did not obtain or review any
trading records, bank and brokerage account
statements, or e-currency account records at any point
prior to, or during, his promotion of Legisi through the
Mazu website or Mazu promotional materials....
Gagnon admits that he had no knowledge about the
finances of the Legisi program.... Despite this lack of
knowledge, Gagnon wrote of the Legisi program ... “10
to 12.5% of your money per month with No Work!
And Little to No Risk!”
Id. at *2. Similar here, even crediting defendant
promoters’ claims that they relied on the statements of
others, they acted recklessly as a matter of law.*!

A. Ma’s and Lin’s Relevant Work History

Two of the promoters possessed specialized experience
that further supports a finding that, at a minimum, they



Securities and Exchange Commission v. CKB168 Holdings, Ltd., 210 F.Supp.3d 421...

Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 99,425

recklessly ignored the fact that CKB was a fraud. Ma was
a former licensed securities professional. See, e.g., SEC v.
Pittsford Capital Income Partners, LLC, No. 06—cv—6353
(MAT), 2007 WL 2455124, at *17 (W.D.N.Y. Aug. 23,
2007), aff’d in part, appeal dismissed in part,305
Fed.Appx. 694 (2d Cir. 2008) (“[T]he defendants acted
with a high degree of scienter; they were trained securities
professionals who repeatedly made materially false and
misleading statements and omissions to the *450
investors.”); SEC v. Hasho, 784 F.Supp. 1059, 1108
(S.D.N.Y. 1992) (“Those who hold themselves out as
professionals with specialized knowledge and skill to
furnish guidance cannot be heard to claim youth or
inexperience when faced with charges of violations of the
antifraud provisions of the securities laws.”).

While not a formerly licensed securities professional like
Ma, Lin had considerable prior experience with MLMs.
He knew that legitimate MLM’s required promoters to
make a high percentage of retail sales. He also understood
the distinction between a promoter and a retail customer.
Yet, he promoted CKB even though he knew that CKB
did not reward OMAs for retail sales and that he himself
had not sold software to retail purchasers. At minimum,
this supports a finding that he exhibited reckless disregard
for the truth.

d. In Connection with the Purchase or Sale of

Securities
21I2IRinally, for liability to attach, the SEC must
establish that defendants’ fraud was in connection with
the purchase or sale of securities. “The ‘in connection
with’ factor has been broadly construed. ‘Any statement
that is reasonably calculated to influence the average
investor satisfies the “in connection with” requirement’ ”
of the securities laws. Credit Bancorp, 195 F.Supp.2d at
491-92 (quoting Hasho, 784 F.Supp. at 1106) (internal
citations omitted). The SEC has met its burden here as the
undisputed record shows that defendants’ actions and
statements were made for the sole purpose of influencing
investors to invest in CKB.

The CKB investments here are securities because an
investment in a pyramid scheme is itself a security. Under
the Howey test, “developed by the Supreme Court, a
transaction is an ‘investment contract’ [subject to
regulation by the securities laws] if persons invest or loan
money to a common enterprise with a promise or
expectation of profits to come solely from the efforts of
others (generally the promoter or a third party).” Better
Life Club, 995 F.Supp. at 173 (citing SEC v. W.J. Howey
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Co., 328 U.S. 293, 299, 66 S.Ct. 1100, 90 L.Ed. 1244
(1946)). Courts have found that pyramid schemes fit this
definition. Int’l Loan Network, 968 F.2d at 1309; see
alsoOmnitrition, 79 F.3d at 784 (“[W]e [previously]
declared that investments in a pyramid scheme were
‘investment contracts’ and thus securities within the
meaning of the federal securities laws.”).

Here, the Howey test is met because new investors
purchased business packs to join CKB, a common
enterprise,” expecting to receive “passive” returns and
stock that would appreciate in value as a result *451 of
CKB’s legitimate corporate efforts. By definition,
“passive” means investors sought to profit from others’
efforts. Seelnt’l Loan Network, 968 F.2d at 1308 (finding
the Howey test met where “profits for CFBS investors are
expected to accrue, if not solely, at least predominantly
from the efforts of others, namely of the downline
members”). As such, investment in CKB was an
investment contract.

BICKB investments were also securities because
defendants told investors that by purchasing business
packs they could acquire pre-IPO CKB stock.* Although
“ ‘the fact that instruments bear the label “stock™ is not
itself sufficient to invoke the coverage of the [securities]
Acts,” ” the instrument will be considered a security when
it possesses “ ‘some of the significant characteristics
typically associated with stock.” ” Constantin, 939
F.Supp.2d at 304 (quoting Landreth Timber Co. v.
Landreth, 471 U.S. 681, 687, 105 S.Ct. 2297, 85 L.Ed.2d
692 (1985)). Here, defendants repeatedly compared CKB
stock to stock in other well-known companies—in other
words, stock in its ordinary meaning. Based on
defendants’ misrepresentations, OMAs expected to
acquire an ownership stake, and the right to enjoy
dividends, in a legitimate company that would soon go
public. The fact that the stock was pre-IPO has no bearing
on whether it is a security. See, e.g., Constantin, 939
F.Supp.2d at 304; SEC v. Shehyn, No. 04—cv-2003
(LAP), 2010 WL 3290977, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 9, 2010)
(finding efforts to sell pre—IPO stock in private companies
is conduct in connection with the sale of securities). Nor
does it matter for purposes of this analysis that the
security did not actually exist. SeeLocal 8751B.T. Pension
Fund v. Pollack, 992 F.Supp. 545, 564 (E.D.N.Y. 1998)
(“A fraud in connection with the purchase or sale of a
fraudulent security is no less actionable for its fictitious
quality.”). For these reasons, defendants’ fraud was in
connection with the purchase or sale of securities.
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I1. Section 5 of the Securities Act

[24112511261«Section 5 of the [Securities] Act provides that
securities must be registered with the Commission before
any person may sell or offer to sell such securities.” SEC
v. Kern, 425 F.3d 143, 147 (2d Cir. 2005). To prove a
violation, the SEC must show: “(1) lack of a registration
statement as to the subject securities; (2) the offer or sale
of the securities; and (3) the use of interstate
transportation or communication and the mails in
connection with the offer or sale.”*SEC v. Cavanagh, 445
F.3d 105, 111 n.13 (2d Cir. 2006) (internal quotation
marks and citation omitted). Once the SEC establishes a
*452 violation, the burden shifts to defendants to show
that the securities were exempt from registration. /d.

[2711281Gection 5 can be violated by a direct participants and
also by “ ‘[a]n indirect participant, who has not himself
passed title to an unregistered security.” ” SEC v. E. Delta
Res. Corp., No. 10—cv=310 (SJF), 2012 WL 3903478, at
*4 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 31, 2012), aff’d,550 Fed.Appx. 52 (2d
Cir. 2014) (quoting SEC v. Universal Express, Inc., 475
F.Supp.2d 412, 422 (S.D.N.Y. 2007)). That indirect
participant is liable if, but for their involvement, “the sale
transaction would not have taken place—in other words,
whether the defendant[’s] acts were a substantial factor in
the sales transaction.” /d.; see alsoSEC v. Verdiramo, 890
F.Supp.2d 257, 271-72 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (finding that
defendant “violated Section 5 because he was a necessary
and substantial participant in the unregistered sales” made
by others).

Here, defendants did not register the securities described
in Section I.d above. Each defendant, with the exception
of Leung, offered those securities for sale—securities that
could not be obtained on an exchange market and could
only be sold by OMAs. The undisputed record shows that
Shern and each of the promoters pursued new investors to
join CKB as OMAs. In doing so, Shern and the promoters
offered prospective investors the opportunity to purchase
a $1,380 “business pack.” The business pack entitled an
OMA to receive Prpts, to purportedly acquire the right to
stock, and to invest in what was, in fact, a pyramid
scheme. Shern and each of the promoters successfully
recruited downlines. To put it simply, defendants offered
and sold securities, and therefore violated Section 5.

M1As for Leung, even if she did not promote CKB, she
was a necessary and “substantial factor in the sales
transactions.” Nearly every CKB financial transaction
concerned the sale of business packs—or commissions
thereon. As CFO, she thus authorized, directed, and
managed the issuance of securities to investors.
SeeVerdiramo, 890 F.Supp.2d at 271 (holding officer
liable under Section 5 because he “personally authorized
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and directed the issuance of the RECOV shares ... that
were later sold in unregistered transactions”); see
alsoSEC v. Curshen, 888 F.Supp.2d 1299, 1308 (S.D. Fla.
2012) (finding liability under Section 5 because defendant
opened accounts to facilitate scheme and gave specific
buying and selling instructions). In addition, Leung
managed CKB’s bank accounts, signed Yao Lin’s stock
certificate, was featured in CKB promotional literature,
and has, in court filings, already admitted that she knew it
was unlawful to issue stock, and that she nonetheless did
so in violation of Section 5.

As such, each of the defendants violated Section 5 of the
Securities Act by offering and selling—or acting as a
necessary or substantial participant in the sale
of—unregistered securities.

III. Shern and the Promoters violated Section 15(a)

of the Exchange Act
B0Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act makes it
unlawful for a broker ‘to make use of ... interstate
commerce to effect any transactions in, or to induce or
attempt to induce the purchases or sale of, any security
unless such broker is registered [with the SEC].” ” SEC v.
Aronson, No. 11-cv—7033 (JSR), 2013 WL 4082900, at
*7 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 6, 2013) (quoting 15 U.S.C. §
780(a)).* The Exchange Act *453 broadly defines a
“broker” as “any person engaged in the business of
effecting transactions in securities for the account of
others.” 15 U.S.C. § 78c(b)(4).

BUIn determining whether an individual is as a broker
under Section 15(a), courts consider whether the alleged
broker “1) is an employee of the issuer; 2) received
commissions as opposed to a salary; 3) is selling, or
previously sold, the securities of other issuers; 4) is
involved in negotiations between the issuer and the
investor; 5) makes valuations as to the merits of the
investment or gives advice; and 6) is an active rather than
passive finder of investors.” SEC v. Martino, 255
F.Supp.2d 268, 283 (S.D.N.Y. 2003). “Most courts do not
require the SEC to establish each of the various cited
factors in order to prevail on summary judgment, but
rather determine that some combination of factors
establishes that the defendant acted as a broker.” SEC v.
Collyard, 154 F.Supp.3d 781, 789 (D. Minn. 2015)
(collecting cases); see alsoGeorge, 426 F.3d at 797
(rejecting argument that defendant was not a broker
because “he was not employed by the issuer of the
securities and that, because he ultimately suffered a net
loss in the scheme, he did not receive compensation for
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his work” where defendant “was regularly involved in
communications with and recruitment of investors for the
purchase of securities”); SEC v. Hansen, No. 83—cv—3692
(LPG), 1984 WL 2413, at *11 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 6, 1984).

32IThese factors overwhelmingly support the conclusion
that defendants were brokers as a matter of law. The
undisputed record shows that defendants, by the very
nature of the CKB Plan, “received commissions as
opposed to salary.” Defendants each promoted “the merits
of the investment,” and advised others to invest therein.
Defendants were undoubtedly “active rather than passive
finder[s] of investors,” and urged downlines to find still
more investors. Defendants acted as intermediaries
between CKB and their downlines, helping to open
accounts, accepting investments, and responding to
questions and complaints. While the promoters may not
have been formal CKB employees, they were clearly its
most visible representatives—their testimonials were all
visible on the CKB website. SeeGeorge, 426 F.3d at 798
(rejecting argument that defendant “never ‘sold securities’
because [someone else] controlled the scheme™).

In short, defendants devoted themselves to “effecting,”
and inducing, the purchase of securities. For these
reasons, Shern and the promoters violated Section 15 of
the Exchange Act by acting as unregistered brokers as a

Footnotes

matter of law.

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the SEC’s motion for summary
judgment is granted in its entirety against defendants

Howard Shern, Florence Leung, David Guo, JC Ma, Yao
Lin, and Wendy Lee.

The Clerk is requested to email copies of this
Memorandum and order to defendants Shern and Leung at
the following addresses:

For defendant Shern: Hshern@hotmail.com

For defendant Leung: Florence Leung@hotmail.com

SO ORDERED.

All Citations

210 F.Supp.3d 421, Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 99,425

1

The SEC has alleged violations of Rule 10b—5(a) and (c) against all defendants, as well as violations of Rule 10b-5(b)
against Shern and the U.S. promoters.

The SEC’s summary judgment motion against Heidi Mao Liu (aka Heidi Mao) will be addressed in a separate order.
Defendants Rayla Santos, Chih Hsuan (Kiki) Lin, Toni Tong Chen, and Cheongwha (Heywood) Chang have settled
with the SEC. Additionally, on July 29, 2015, the Clerk of Court entered default against entity defendants CKB168
Holdings Ltd.; WIN168 Biz Solutions, Ltd.; CKB168 Ltd.; CKB168 Biz Solution, Inc.; and Cyber Kids Best Education,
Ltd., which are not represented by counsel.

As discussed in the Court’s August 12, 2015 Order, pro se defendants and CKB founders Shern and Leung were
precluded from “offering testimony, affidavits or declarations in connection with a dispositive motion or trial.” (Doc. No.
262.) Nonetheless, Shern and Leung both submitted affidavits in opposition to the SEC’s motion, though not 56.1
statements despite being provided with the requisite notice under Local Rule 56.2. While Shern and Leung additionally
did not submit memoranda of law in opposition to the SEC’s motion, the Court has considered the legal arguments
contained within the affidavits. Shern and Leung are proceeding pro se. As such, their arguments are construed
liberally, and to raise in their favor the strongest inferences and arguments possible.

The following facts—drawn from the parties’ Local Rule 56.1 statements and the submissions filed in connection with
this motion—are undisputed unless otherwise noted and are taken in the light most favorable to plaintiffs. SeeGiannullo
v. City of New York, 322 F.3d 139, 140-41 (2d Cir. 2003).
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12

Guo, Lee, Ma, and Lin “admit that they promoted CKB through” the various platforms described above, but do not
address CKB’s statement that such promotions focused on the “business opportunity” of CKB. (Defs.’ 56.1 (Doc. No.
353-1) at ] 24.) Nonetheless, the record of evidence before the Court clearly supports the SEC’s statements, with the
exception of their applicability to Leung.

Guo, Lee, Ma, and Lin dispute the SEC’s statement that the only way an OMA earned money was through
commissions for recruiting other OMAs. (Defs.” 56.1 at §] 52.) However, they have put forth no evidence of other
mechanisms for an OMA to earn money, and, on review of the evidence, most notably the Dynamic Rewards Plan,
there appears to be no other way for an OMA to earn income. (Dynamic Rewards Plan (Doc. No. 312—1 at 124-133
(ECF pagination).) SeeSEC v. Greenstone Holdings, Inc., No. 10—cv—1302 (MGC), 2012 WL 1038570, at *9 (S.D.N.Y.

Mar. 28, 2012) (finding no material disputes of fact where defendant’s “assertion is contradicted by the evidence”).

Guo, Lee, Ma, and Lin “admit that they encouraged ‘new and existing OMAs to “grow” their business,” ” and do not
dispute the SEC’s statement that marketing efforts and training focused almost exclusively on the investment. (Defs.’
56.1 at q 59.) Nonetheless, the record of evidence before the Court clearly supports the SEC’s statements.
SeeGreenstone Holdings, 2012 WL 1038570, at *9.

Defendants dispute this claim. See infra Section IV for a discussion of each defendants’ knowledge. Additionally,
defendants dispute the Kam Lee declaration relied upon by the SEC for such figures, arguing that the SEC has
produced no evidence supporting its claims of CKB’s financials and OMA accounts. However, the record contradicts
this argument. The back office data used by Kam Lee was obtained from the foreign defendants in response to Judge
Mann’s discovery order, and no other defendant produced their own back office data to contradict such records. Once
the SEC was able to access evidence, the SEC notified the Court and offered all parties copies. Though not relied
upon by the Court in its ultimate determination, the evidence is admissible as summary evidence under Federal Rule of
Evidence (“Rule”) 1006 and as statements against interest under Rule 804(b)(3). SeeTamarin v. Adam Caterers, Inc.,
13 F.3d 51, 53 (2d Cir. 1993) (“Summary evidence is admissible as long as the underlying documents also constitute
admissible evidence and are made available to the adverse party.”); John Paul Mitchell Sys. v. Quality King Distrib.,
Inc., 106 F.Supp.2d 462, 472 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (“[T]he act of production implicitly authenticated the documents.”)
(collecting cases); see alsoUnited States v. Gupta, 747 F.3d 111, 127-28 (2d Cir. 2014).

Many defendants held more than one account. Holding multiple accounts enabled an OMA to function as his or her
own downline. (SEC’s 56.1 at {1 63.)

Guo, Lee, Ma, and Lin argue that “bare declaration[s]” of the victims listed below “should be afforded no weight”
because they were not deposed by counsel for any defendants in this action. (Defs.” 56.1 at q{ 101, 103, 111.)
However, defendants offer no legal support for this statement nor reasons why such victims were not deposed by
counsel.

Lee denied having knowledge of the SEC lawsuit in November 2013. (Defs.” 56.1 at | 116.) However, Lee was an
active case participant by November 2013. For example, counsel for Lee filed appearances on the docket on October
22 and November 1, 2013. (Doc. Nos. 31, 29.) On November 9, 2013, Lee signed a verified accounting, which was
submitted to the Court. (Doc. No. 47—7.) Accordingly, the Court finds that Lee was aware of this case in November
2013. SeeGreenstone Holdings, 2012 WL 1038570, at *9.

An indirect downline refers to a new downline started by an OMA’s existing downline. CKB resembles a pyramid
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structure because OMAs are promoted and compensated for recruiting done by existing OMAs. According to the SEC,
Guo occupied the same pyramid level as Shern and Leung. (SEC’s 56.1 at ] 193.)

Guo disputes that he “promised” that CKB would go public and argues that he understood that CKB could go public.
(Defs.’ 56.1 at §] 173.) Nonetheless, the undisputed record is clear that Guo represented to investors that CKB would
go public. SeeGreenstone Holdings, 2012 WL 1038570, at *9.

Guo states that he “never represented that CKB was ‘issuing stock.” ” (Defs.” 56.1 at [ 176.) However, he admits that
he referred to Prpts and stock interchangeably when talking to OMAs and potential investors. (Defs.” 56.1 at q 175.)
SeeGreenstone Holdings, 2012 WL 1038570, at *9.

Lee “denied that she intended this information to be for public consumption.” (Defs.” 56.1 at §] 196.) However, this is
immaterial. Lee was aware the public could access her website and admits to pointing her downlines toward her
website.

Lee disputes that she knew Prpts could not be exchanged for cash. (Defs.’ 56.1 at §] 211.) However, she testified that
investors could not exchange their $750 of Prpts to cash and that Prpts were “not something that could be cashed out
immediately.” SeeGreenstone Holdings, 2012 WL 1038570, at *9.

Lin disputes the SEC’s statement that it was his understanding that Prpts were valueless. (Defs.” 56.1 at ] 326.) Lin
testified that he believed Prpts could be exchanged on the back office exchange in limited quantities (of 200 or 300
Prpts). Thus, Lin was at least aware that Prpts could not simply be exchanged for cash; rather they could only be sold
in small batches, assuming the seller could find a buyer, which Lin, and all other OMAs he knew, had been unable to
do.

Lin disputes that he told OMAs that the value of Prpts would increase over time, regardless of whether that OMA
actively recruited. (Defs.’ 56.1 at ] 324.) However, his deposition testimony says precisely that:

Q: But the OMA can refrain from doing anything and the Prpts may still increase in value?
A: If the company remains to have performant, yes.

(Lin Dep. (Doc. No. 312—-1) at 196:21-197:2 at 86-87 (ECF pagination).)

Lin “does not admit” that he told OMAs that they could convert their Prpts to stock, that CKB’s IPO would occur in July
2014, or that CKB would be as successful as other well-known companies. (Defs.’ 56.1 at §] 327.) However, he testified
that he shared materials with OMAs and potential investors, which did make such representations. Further, Lin testified
that he told OMAs and potential OMAs that “we now have points. And we could use these points to exchange shares.
So in the future we may have the opportunity to become shareholders of the company.” This statement does in fact
convey that points could become “shares.”

Lin “does not admit” the SEC’s statement that he did nothing to evaluate such claims of fraud. In support, he points to
his deposition testimony where the following exchange occurred:

Q: But when people raised suspicions to you about CKB’s business, did you do anything to check on those
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suspicions?

A: | didn’t, probably because | was either naive or stubborn. | was firmly believing that the company is having good
business.

(Defs.” 56.1 at | 334.) Because Lin fails to raise any dispute and, in fact, confirmed that he did not do anything to
investigate, the SEC’s statement is adopted.

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act states:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means or instrumentality of interstate
commerce or of the mails, or of any facility of any national securities exchange ... to use or employ, in connection
with the purchase or sale of any security registered on a national securities exchange or any security not so
registered, or any securities-based swap agreement any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in
contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the
public interest or for the protection of investors.

15 U.S.C. § 78;.

Rule 10b-5 states:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means or instrumentality of interstate
commerce, or of the mails or of any facility of any national securities exchange, (a) To employ any device, scheme,
or artifice to defraud, (b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary
in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, or (c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud
or deceit upon any person, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Section 17(a) of the Securities Act states:

It shall be unlawful for any person in the offer or sale of any securities ... by the use of any means or instruments of
transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by use of the mails, directly or indirectly (1) to employ any
device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, or (2) to obtain money or property by means of any untrue statement of a
material fact or any omission to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or (3) to engage in any transaction, practice, or course
of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser.

15 U.S.C. § 77q.

The SEC must also show that defendants engaged in or made use of the instrumentalities of interstate commerce. 17
C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. “[llt is undisputed that the use of the internet is an ‘instrumentality of interstate commerce.” ” SEC
v. Straub, 921 F.Supp.2d 244, 262 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (internal citations omitted); SEC v. One or More Unknown Traders
in the Common Stock of Certain Issuers, No. 08—cv—1402 (KAM), 2009 WL 3233110, at *4 (E.D.N.Y. Oct. 2, 2009).
The same is true for wire transfers, One or More Unknown Traders, 2009 WL 3233110, at *4, interstate travel,
Stampolis v. Provident Auto Leasing Co., 586 F.Supp.2d 88, 94-95 (E.D.N.Y. 2008), and email, SEC v. Shehyn, No.
2:09-cv—2003 (LAP), 2010 WL 3290977, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 9, 2010). It is undisputed that defendants used all of
these means to perpetrate this scheme.

Defendants argue they cannot be credited with such statements because their misrepresentations were based on
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information created and disseminated by CKB. Even crediting these assertions, defendants are still liable because they
controlled their own communications with OMAs and potential investors. As the Supreme Court has explained:

For purposes of Rule 10b-5, the maker of a statement is the person or entity with ultimate authority over the
statement, including its content and whether and how to communicate it .... One who prepares or publishes a
statement on behalf of another is not its maker .... This rule might best be exemplified by the relationship between a
speechwriter and a speaker. Even when a speechwriter drafts a speech, the content is entirely within the control of
the person who delivers it. And it is the speaker who takes credit—or blame—for what is ultimately said.

Janus Capital Grp. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 U.S. 135, 14243, 131 S.Ct. 2296, 180 L.Ed.2d 166 (2011).

Defendants’ arguments—that Prpts had cash value because they could be exchanged in the back office and could be
converted to stock of commensurate value—are unavailing as such claims are false. Moreover, even if the back office
exchange functioned as claimed by Lee and Lin, Prpts could still not be meaningfully liquidated. At best, OMAs could
attempt to liquidate Prpts in the amount of $75—reflecting the maximum limit of 300 Prpts that could be exchanged and
their maximum value set by CKB of 25 cents—and this is only if the seller could find a buyer, which defendants had no
success themselves in doing and, at best, knew OMAs would have to “wait in line” to find. This pales in comparison to
defendants’ representations that investors received $750 in Prpts that would only grow.

In opposition to the SEC’s motion for an adverse inference on this subject, Shern and Leung confirmed that no such
evidence exists. Leung stated that she had turned over all CKB related documents and evidence she had and argued
that “just because there are no written records to show there was a plan to go public ... [didn’t] mean that CKB had no
plans and had made no preparations to go public.” (9/18/15 Leung Letter (Doc. No. 283) at 2.) Similarly, Shern stated,
“Yes, there are no documents as all the preparations made were by conduct” and “I did not make any extensive
business proposals in writing ...." (9/21/15 Shern Letter (Doc. No. 284) at 2; Shern. Aff. (Doc. No. 284—-1) at [ 7.)

In one communication highlighted by Judge Mann, Shern and Santos discussed an editorial titled “Is CKB186 a
Pyramid Scheme?” Shern reassured Santos that he was “busy for two months[’] time working with lawyers and
accountants to restructure the company.” This communication appears to be just another one of Shern’s
misrepresentations. The record contains no evidence of any such communications with lawyers and accountants.
(11/03/15 Report and Recommendation (Doc. No. 295) at 10 n.8.)

In fact, and as discussed in the previous footnote, Shern represented to Santos that he was in a position to be working
with others to restructure CKB to enable the IPO. Yet he made no such preparations.

On appeal, the circuit court “affirm[ed] on the fraud counts because we agree with the District Court that no reasonable
juror could find that Baylor did not act with scienter. Indeed, evidence of the requisite recklessness is overwhelming.”
Milan Grp., 595 Fed.Appx. at 2.

Further, by acting as brokers, each of the promoters acquired heightened duties to investigate and disclose. “A broker
is under a duty to investigate the truth of his representations to clients, because ‘by his position he implicitly represents
he has an adequate basis for the opinions he renders.’ ” Milan Capital Group, 2000 WL 1682761, at *5 (quoting Hanly
v. SEC, 415 F.2d 589, 596 (2d Cir. 1969)). These principles apply even where a defendant, while a broker in practice,
is not registered. SEC v. Randy, 38 F.Supp.2d 657, 670 (N.D. Ill. 1999). Here, promoters each repeatedly
recommended an investment in CKB. However, “in recommending a company’s securities to investors, a broker may
not rely solely on materials submitted by the company without independent investigation; this duty to investigate is
even greater where promotional materials are in some way questionable.” Milan Capital Group, 2000 WL 1682761, at
*5 (internal citations omitted).

OS Received 04/19/2023



Securities and Exchange Commission v. CKB168 Holdings, Ltd., 210 F.Supp.3d 421...
Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 99,425

32

33

34

35

CKB was a common enterprise because it had both vertical and horizontal commonality. Seeln re J.P. Jeanneret
Assoc., Inc., 769 F.Supp.2d 340, 360 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (“[Clourts in this district have held that strict vertical commonality
(like horizontal commonality) is sufficient to establish a common enterprise under Howey.”); see alsoRevak v. SEC
Realty Corp., 18 F.3d 81, 87 (2d Cir. 1994). “Horizontal commonality is characterized as the tying of each individual
investor’s fortunes to the fortunes of the other investors by the pooling of assets, usually combined with the pro-rata
distribution of profits.... Strict vertical commonality exists when the fortunes of the investor are tied to the fortunes of the
promoter.” In re J.P. Jeanneret Associates, 769 F.Supp.2d at 359 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted); see
alsoSEC v. Morton, No. 10—-cv—1720 (LAK) (MHD), 2011 WL 1344259, at *15 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2011), report and
recommendation adopted,2011 WL 11768504 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 3, 2011) (explaining horizontal and vertical
commonality). Because investor money was pooled pending purported cash distributions and a supposed pro rata
allocation of stock, and because the purported passive and active returns depended on the efforts of other above and
below an OMA in the pyramid, both horizontal and vertical commonality are present here.

Similarly, Prpts themselves may qualify as securities. First, they may qualify as investment contracts. SeeSEC v. Rose
Fund, LLC, No. 03—cv—04593 (WHA), 2004 WL 6069175, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 17, 2004), affd,156 Fed.Appx. 3 (9th
Cir. 2005) (“[T]he ‘participation units’ sold by the Rose Fund were investment contracts and thus ‘securities’ under the
Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.”). Second, they may qualify as convertible
instruments, given defendants’ representations that Prpts could be converted to stock. SeeLeemon v. Burns, 175
F.Supp.2d 551, 559 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (“The fact that the Note’s original principal could be converted into AMDL
common stock is a strong factor for holding that the Note is a security.”).

A violation of Section 5 is a strict liability offense. SEC v. StratoComm Corp., 2 F.Supp.3d 240, 263—64 (N.D.N.Y.
2014), affd652 Fed.Appx. 35 (2d Cir. 2016). Thus, the SEC does not have to show that the defendants violated
Section 5 with scienter. See, e.g., SEC v. Softpoint, Inc., 958 F.Supp. 846, 859-60 (S.D.N.Y. 1997) (“Scienter is not an
element of a Section 5 violation.”); accordKern, 425 F.3d at 153 (stating scienter was only at issue on remedies for
Section 5 violation).

“Scienter is not an element of a Section 15(a) claim.” Aronson, 2013 WL 4082900, at *7; see alsoStratoComm Corp., 2
F.Supp.3d at 262.

End of Document © 2023 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government

Works.
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MEMORANDUM & ORDER

HECTOR GONZALEZ, United States District Judge:

*1 Before the Court is the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s (“SEC”) motion for a Permanent
Injunction, Financial Remedies, and Final Judgment
against CKB168 Holdings, Ltd., WIN168 Biz Solutions
Ltd., CKB168 Ltd., CKB168 Biz Solution, Inc., Cyber
Kids Best Education Ltd. (collectively, the “Entity
Defendants”), Rayla Melchor Santos, Hung Wai Shern,
Rui Ling Leung, Daliang Guo, Yao Lin, and Joan Congyi
Ma (Guo, Lin, and Ma are collectively referred to as the
“Promoter Defendants”) and against Relief Defendants
Rosanna LS Inc. and Ouni International Trading Inc.
(collectively, “Relief Defendants”) pursuant to Fed R.
Civ. P. 54 (the “Motion”). The Entity Defendants,
Promoter Defendants, and Relief Defendants are
collectively referred to herein as “Defendants.”

For the reasons set forth below, the SEC’s Motion is
GRANTED.
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I. Background

The SEC filed this case as an emergency action on
October 9, 2013! alleging violations of Section 10(b) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 thereunder;
Section 17(a)(1) and (3) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the
“Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1), (3); and Section
5 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77e. ECF No. 1. It
additionally alleged violations of Section 15(a)(1) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 780(a)(l), and Section
17(a)(2) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2),
against Shern and the Promoter Defendants. /d. In short,
the SEC alleged that Defendants were the architects and
top U.S. promoters of “CKB,” a multi-national pyramid
scheme made up of several collective entities, that
purported to be a legitimate multi-level marketing
company (“MLM?”) selling educational software.

The Complaint sought relief in the form of: temporary,
preliminary and permanent injunctions against further
violations of the statutes and rules Defendants are alleged
to have violated; disgorgement by the Defendants and
Relief Defendants of all the money received as a result of
the unlawful conduct alleged in the Complaint, plus
pre-judgment interest; an accounting; an order compelling
Defendants to pay a penalty; and such other and further
relief as the Court deems just and proper. /d. The Court
entered a temporary restraining order, asset freezes, and
other emergency relief—including requiring each
Defendant to provide a verified accounting—against all
Defendants and Relief Defendants the day the Complaint
was filed. ECF No. 12. Preliminary injunctions were later
entered against all Defendants and Relief Defendants.
ECF Nos. 36, 69, 70, 71.

*2 On July 10, 2015, the Court entered judgment on all
claims against Santos, who admitted liability. ECF No.
252 (“Santos Order”). The Santos Order enjoined her
from violating the securities laws and from participating,
directly or indirectly, “in any marketing or sales program
involving a security.” Id. § 2. The Santos Order also
stated that the Court would, at a later date and on a
motion by the SEC, order disgorgement, prejudgment
interest, and a civil penalty as to Santos. /d. § 3.

On July 29, 2015, the clerk entered a default against the
Entity Defendants. See ECF Entry, July 29, 2015
(“Clerk’s Entry of Default”).

On September 28, 2016, the Court granted the SEC’s
Motion for Summary Judgment on all claims against
Shern, Leung, Guo, Lin and Ma, and the additional
Defendants not subject to this Order. ECF No. 363
(“Summary Judgment”).

OS Received 04/19/2023

As this case currently stands, discovery is complete, and
liability has been determined for all entity and individual
Defendants. See ECF No. 462 (Joint Status Report). On
May 26, 2022, the SEC filed the instant Motion seeking
financial and other remedies against the five Entity
Defendants, the remaining six individual Defendants as to
whom final judgment has not been entered, and the
remaining two Relief Defendants. ECF No. 460.
Defendants Santos, ECF No. 459, and Guo, ECF Nos.
463, 465, oppose the Motion.

I1. Discussion
The SEC seeks a Final Judgment that:

1. Permanently restrains and enjoins:

a. Defendants, except for Santos,’ from further
violations of Sections 5 and 17(a) of the Securities
Act, and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and
Rule 10b-5 thereunder;

b. Defendants Shern, Guo, Lin, and Ma from
further violations of Section 15(a) of the Exchange
Act; and

c. Defendants Shern, Leung, Guo, Lin, and Ma
from directly or indirectly, including, but not
limited to, through any entity owned or controlled
by them, offering, operating or participating in any
marketing or sales program involving a security,
including but not limited to a program in which a
participant is  compensated or  promised
compensation solely or primarily for inducing
another person to become a participant in the
program, or if such induced person induces
another to become a participant in the program.

2. Orders all Defendants and Relief Defendants to
disgorge, and pay prejudgment interest thereon, the
ill-gotten gains received as a result of the unlawful
conduct found by the Court, or admitted to, in
amounts set forth below;

3. Orders all Defendants, except Guo, to pay civil
monetary penalties pursuant to Section 20(d)(1) of
the Securities Act, and Section 21(d)(3) of the
Exchange Act.

ECF No. 460.

The Court will first address the requested injunctive relief
followed by the disgorgement and other monetary
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remedies.

A. Injunctions Against Further Violations of Securities
Laws

Both the Securities Act and the Exchange Act give the
Court authority to grant a permanent injunction. Seel5
U.S.C. § 77t(b); see alsol5 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(1). “[T]o
show such injunctive relief is warranted, the SEC must
demonstrate that there is a substantial likelihood of future
violations of illegal securities conduct.” SEC v. Genovese,
553 F. Supp. 3d 24, 45 (S.D.N.Y. 2021) (quoting SEC v.
Cavanagh, 155 F.3d 129, 135 (2d Cir. 1998) (internal
quotation marks omitted)). To do this, courts consider: (1)
whether a defendant has been found liable for illegal
conduct; (2) what level of scienter defendant acted with;
(3) whether defendant’s past fraudulent acts were an
isolated occurrence; (4) if the defendant has
acknowledged his wrongdoing; and (5) whether future
violations are likely. SEC v. Nadel, No. 11-cv-215, 2016
WL 639063, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. Feb. 11, 2016), report and
recommendation adopted, 206 F. Supp. 3d 782 (E.D.N.Y.
2016); Cavanagh, 155 F.3d at 135.

*3 After consideration of these various factors, the Court
finds that they all weigh in favor of enjoining the Entity
Defendants, Shern, Guo, Lin, and Ma.? First, the Court
has already found the individual Defendants liable on all
claims, see ECF No. 363, and the Entity Defendants have
defaulted. See ECF Entry, July 29, 2015.

Second, the Court has also found that all individual
Defendants operated with a high degree of scienter during
their time working with or for CKB. See ECF No. 363 at
32-33 (finding that Shern and Leung were aware of
CKB’s fraudulent nature), 35 (finding that Promoter
Defendants were aware that their claims regarding CKB
were false). The Entity Defendants can be said to have
operated with the same degree of scienter as their officers,
if those officers were “acting within the scope of [their]
apparent authority.” SEC v. Universal Express, Inc., 475
F. Supp. 2d 412, 424 n4 (S.D.N.Y. 2007), aff’d sub
nom.SEC v. Altomare, 300 F. App’x 70, 71 (2d Cir.
2008). There is no dispute that the Entity Defendants were
controlled by Defendants Shern and Leung and used as a
means to carry out the scheme. See ECF Nos. 244, 245,
327, 328. Thus, the scienter of Shern and Leung can be
imputed to the Entity Defendants.

Third, this was not an isolated incident. The Court found

Defendants regularly engaged in and/or promoted this
fraudulent scheme over a period of two years. See ECF
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No. 363 at 9-21 (discussing Defendants’ specific conduct
and roles in the scheme over the period CKB was active).

Fourth, except for Santos* and Guo,’ it is undisputed that
“[In]Jo defendant has renounced his, her, or its
misconduct,” ECF No. 460-2 at 12, and thus there is no
evidence that those Defendants recognize the wrongful
nature of their conduct.

Finally, the Court finds that there is a significant
likelihood of future violations. Shern, Leung, Lin, and
Guo have a history of being involved in other MLM
schemes, and so it is reasonable to conclude that barring
an injunction they could do so again. ECF No. 460-2 at
12-13. While no such evidence has been alleged for
Defendant Ma, she has experience working in securities,
something that other courts have found weighs in favor of
granting injunctive relief. SeeSEC v.  Curative
Biosciences, Inc., No. 18-cv-925, 2020 WL 7345681, at
*3 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 22, 2020) (citing SEC v. Baccam, No.
17-cv-172, 2017 WL 5952168, at *9 (C.D. Cal. June 14,
2017) (finding that the defendant’s “more than a decade
of experience in the securities industry” raised the
possibility that he would engage in future misconduct)).

*4 The Court finds that these factors all weigh in favor of
granting the SEC’s requested injunctive relief.
Accordingly, the Court will enter a permanent injunction
enjoining Defendants WIN168 Biz Solutions Ltd.,
CKB168 Holdings, Ltd., CKB168 Ltd., CKB168 Biz
Solution, Inc., Cyber Kids Best Education Ltd., Shern,
Leung, Guo, Lin and Ma from further violations of
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act and
Sections 5 and 17(a) of the Securities Act. The Court will
also enter a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants
Shern, Guo, Lin, and Ma from violating Section 15(a) of
the Exchange Act.

B. Conduct-Based Injunction

The Court has wide discretion to impose a conduct-based
injunction in SEC actions. Here, the SEC argues that
“Defendants’ egregious conduct and high degree of
scienter, the scope of the fraud, their lack of contrition
and their connection to MLMs” make such an injunction
appropriate. ECF No. 460-2 at 14 (quotation marks
omitted). For the same reasons laid out in Section ILA,
supra, the Court finds this argument persuasive. Except
for the letters from Defendant Guo, see ECF Nos. 463,
465, who does not specifically address this issue, the
SEC’s Motion is unopposed. Therefore, the Court will
enter a permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants
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Shern, Leung, Guo, Lin, and Ma from offering, operating,
or participating in any marketing or sales program
involving a security.

C. Disgorgement, Prejudgment Interest and Civil
Penalties

1. Disgorgement and Prejudgment Interest

While district courts have broad discretion both in
determining whether to order disgorgement and in
calculating the amount to be disgorged, SEC v.
Contorinis, 743 F.3d 296, 301 (2d Cir. 2014), they may
not enter “disgorgement awards that exceed the gains
made upon any business or investment” and should
“deduct  legitimate  expenses  before  ordering
disgorgement.” Liu v. SEC, 140 S. Ct. 1936, 1949-50
(2020) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).
However, courts have recognized that “separating legal
from illegal profits exactly may at times be a
near-impossible task.” SEC v. de Maison, No.
18-cv-2564, 2021 WL 5936385, at *2 (2d Cir. Dec. 16,
2021) (internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, “the
amount of disgorgement ordered need only be a
reasonable approximation of profits causally connected to
the violation, and any risk of uncertainty should fall on
the wrongdoer whose illegal conduct created that
uncertainty.” Id. (internal quotation marks omitted). Once
the SEC establishes a reasonable approximation of the
profits causally related to the fraud, the burden shifts to
the Defendant to “clearly [ ] demonstrate that the
disgorgement  figure was not a  reasonable
approximation.” Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).

Here, the SEC has used Defendants’ verified accountings
and back-office records to calculate the appropriate
disgorgement totals. See ECF No. 460-2 at 15-19, see
also ECF No. 47 (verified accountings), ECF No. 311-5
(Kam Lee declaration), ECF No. 460-3 (Supplemental
Declaration of Devon Staren). It has asked for the
architects of the scheme, Shern and Leung, as well as the
Entity Defendants, to disgorge the proceeds of the illicit
scheme, minus distributions. ECF No. 460-2 at 15-17;
see, e.g., SEC v. McGinn, Smith & Co., Inc., No.
10-cv-457, 2015 WL 12780597, at *13 (N.D.N.Y. Feb.
17, 2015) (ordering a similar disgorgement). It has asked
the Promoter Defendants to disgorge their commissions
less the original investments they made before they could
have known the scheme was fraudulent. ECF No. 460-2 at
17-18; see, e.g., SEC v. Dang, No. 20-cv-1353, 2021 WL
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1550593, at *6—7 (D. Conn. Apr. 19, 2021) (ordering a
similar disgorgement). It has asked Santos to disgorge the
payments she received from the scheme less her original
investment. ECF No. 460-2 at 19. It has asked the Relief
Defendants to disgorge their ill-gotten funds to which
they have no legitimate claim, seeNadel, 2016 WL
639063, at *27 (discussing when a relief defendant may
be subject to disgorgement), and to each be jointly and
severally liable with its associated Promoter Defendant
for disgorgement of the funds transferred to that Relief
Defendant so as to ensure the total disgorgement does not
exceed the associated promoter’s actual proceeds. ECF
No. 460-2 at 18-19; see alsoSEC v. First Jersey Secs.,
Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1476 (2d Cir. 1996) (prohibiting
disgorgement that exceeds proceeds); see, e.g.,Curative
Biosciences, 2020 WL 7345681, at *7 (holding relief
defendants jointly and severally liable with defendants for
the amount transferred to each relief defendant).

*5 The Court is satisfied that the SEC has established a
reasonable approximation of the profits causally related to
the fraud. No Defendant except for Santos has filed an
opposition suggesting that the disgorgement figure is not
reasonable.

Santos requests that her disgorgement amount be reduced
by $150,000 because CKB’s payment to her of $150,000
was merely a repayment of her original investment of
$150,000. ECF No. 451 at 14. The SEC has already
reduced its proposed disgorgement figure of $667,231 by
$150,000 to account for this.® Santos does not assert that
the SEC miscalculated the total funds CKB paid to her,
nor does she contest the SEC’s contention in any other
way. Therefore, the Court declines to grant Defendant
Santos’ request for an additional $150,000 reduction.

Santos further requests that her disgorgement amount be
reduced by $399,710 because she allegedly used this sum
to develop a game titled Memory Max, which CKB
intended to use as an educational tool for children in
Hong Kong and China. See ECF No. 459 at 14-15. As
noted above, courts are required to deduct legitimate
expenses from disgorgement awards. SeeLiu, 140 S. Ct. at
1950. However, the Supreme Court has also carved out an
exception to that requirement where the “entire profit of a
business or undertaking” results from wrongful activity.
Id. at 1945, 1950.

Santos has not provided any evidence that she used the
funds CKB paid her for expenses incurred in developing
Memory Max. Even if she could provide such evidence,
however, the Court would decline to deduct the total of
these expenses from the disgorgement award because
Santos has failed to show that developing Memory Max
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involved legitimate expenses. She offers no evidence that
Memory Max was used as an educational tool by children,
rather than a tool to solicit new investors in order to
perpetuate the illegal pyramid scheme. She has already
admitted she knew Memory Max was released for “sale”
more than a year before it was complete. See ECF No.
252 9 21. The Court therefore finds that any funds spent
developing the game are “merely wrongful gains under
another name.” Liu, 140 S. Ct. at 1950 (internal quotation
marks omitted).

The SEC further requests that Defendants be ordered to
pay prejudgment interest in addition to disgorgement. See
ECF No. 460-2 at 20. The question of whether to award
prejudgment interest in addition to disgorgement is left to
the “broad discretion” of the district court. SEC v.
Westport Cap. Markets, LLC, 547 F. Supp. 3d 157, 170
(D. Conn. 2021). It is a decision “governed by the
equities, reflecting considerations of fairness rather than a
rigid theory of compensation,” with the goal of
“depriv[ing] the wrongdoer of the benefit of holding the
illicit gains over time by reasonably approximating the
cost of borrowing such gain from the government.” Id.
(quoting Contorinis, 743 F.3d at 307-08). Courts
generally consider the following when deciding whether
to award prejudgment interest: “(i) the need to fully
compensate the wronged party for actual damages
suffered, (ii) considerations of fairness and the relative
equities of the award, (iii) the remedial purpose of the
statute involved, and/or (iv) such other general principles
as are deemed relevant by the court.” SEC v. Arias, No.
12-¢v-2937,2021 WL 7908041, at *7 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 11,
2021) (quoting First Jersey, 101 F.3d at 1476). In cases
such as this one, courts have often found that the equities
weigh in favor of awarding prejudgment interest, and no
Defendant offers a reason why prejudgment interest
should not be awarded. See, e.g., id. at *7 (ordering
prejudgment interest to ensure defendants are not
“unjustly enriched by an interest-free use of the funds
they fraudulently obtained from investors™).

*6 Additionally, the Court finds the SEC’s calculations to
be reasonable. The SEC has properly accounted for: (i)
Defendants’ frozen assets, seeSEC v. Razmilovic, 738
F.3d 14, 36-38 (2d Cir. 2013) (finding that the SEC may
not recover prejudgment interest on assets that were
frozen pursuant to a Court order); (ii) Defendants’ initial
investment, seelLiu, 140 S. Ct. at 1949-50 (requiring
disgorgement awards to be discounted by any initial
investment); (iii) the additional time that has elapsed; and
(iv) the IRS underpayment rate—a generally accepted rate
of interest, seeWestport Cap. Markets, 547 F. Supp. 3d at
171—to calculate prejudgment interest in this case. See
ECF No. 460-2 at 20.
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Accordingly, the Court finds:

* Defendants CKB168 Holdings Ltd., WIN168 Biz
Solutions Ltd., CKB168 Ltd., CKB168 Biz Solution,
Inc., Cyber Kids Best Education Ltd., Shern, and
Leung are jointly and severally liable for
$178,749,545, consisting of:

* disgorgement of $137,238,985; and
* prejudgment interest of $41,510,560.

» Defendant Santos is liable for a total of $883,680,
consisting of:

* disgorgement of $667,231; and
« prejudgment interest of $216,449.

» Defendant Guo and Relief Defendant Rosanna LS
Inc. are jointly and severally liable for $5,133,651,
consisting of:

« disgorgement of $3,979,867,
* prejudgment interest of $1,153,784.

¢ Defendant Lin and Relief Defendant Ouni
International Trading Inc. are jointly and severally
liable for $2,359,315, consisting of:

« disgorgement of $1,893,114,
* prejudgment interest of $466,201.

* Defendant Ma is liable for $975,274, consisting of:
* disgorgement of $975,274."

2. Civil Penalties

In addition, the SEC seeks civil penalties against all
Defendants except Guo. The Securities Act and the
Exchange Act each grant the Court the authority to
impose penalties for violations of these acts. Seel5 U.S.C.
§§ 77t(d), 78u(d)(3). There are three tiers of penalties that
can be imposed. The third tier is the most severe,
available when violations (1) involve “fraud, deceit,
manipulation, or deliberate or reckless disregard of a
regulatory requirement” and (2) “directly or indirectly
resulted in substantial losses or created a significant risk
of substantial losses to other persons.”SeeRazmilovic, 738
F.3d at 38 (citing 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(d), 78u(d)(3)). When
considering third-tier penalties “for each violation, the
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amount of penalty shall not exceed the greater of [1] a
specified monetary amount or [2] the defendant’s gross
amount of pecuniary gain.” Arias, 2021 WL 7908041, at
*8 (citing Razmilovic, 738 F.3d at 38) (internal quotation
marks omitted). In addition, “civil penalty statutes require
that such awards be based on the pecuniary gain of each
defendant and do not allow the penalties to be imposed
jointly and severally.” Id. (citing SEC v. Pentagon Cap.
Mgmt., PLC, 725 F.3d 279, 287-88 (2d Cir. 2013)).* The
“disgorgement amount is a helpful starting point for
calculating that defendant’s gross pecuniary gain.” Id.
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

*7 Beyond these restrictions regarding the maximum
penalty, the Court has broad discretion in setting the
amount. SeeRazmilovic, 738 F.3d at 38. In exercising its
discretion, the Court may consider the following factors:
“(1) the egregiousness of the defendant’s conduct; (2) the
degree of the defendant’s scienter; (3) whether the
defendant’s conduct created substantial losses or the risk
of substantial losses to other persons; (4) whether the
defendant’s conduct was isolated or recurrent; and (5)
whether the penalty should be reduced due to the
defendant’s demonstrated current and future financial
condition.” SEC v. Malik, No. 15-cv-1025, 2016 WL
670032, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 9, 2016) (citing SEC v.
Tourre, No. 10-cv-3229, 2014 WL 969442, at *11
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 12, 2014)); see alsoSEC v. Haligiannis,
470 F. Supp. 2d 373, 386 (S.D.N.Y. 2007).

The Court has already taken most of these factors into
account when discussing whether to grant a permanent
injunction against Defendants in Section II.A, supra, and
finds they weigh in favor of civil penalties.

i. Shern, Leung, Lin, Ma, and the Entity Defendants

Shern and Leung egregiously orchestrated an illegal
scheme which collected hundreds of millions of dollars
from investors, most of whom suffered substantial losses
on their investment. See ECF No. 363 at 26. Promoter
Defendants Lin and Ma aggressively marketed the
scheme to potential investors, even after they knew it was
a fraud. ECF No. 363 at 35. Neither Shern, Leung, Lin,
nor Ma have expressed remorse, nor have they refuted the
SEC’s calculations of what civil penalty is appropriate.
ECF No. 460-2 at 12. Under these circumstances, a
third-tier penalty based on the pecuniary gain of each
Defendant is reasonable to deter future violations. See.,
e.g., SEC v. Enrenkrantz King Nussbaum, Inc., No.
05-cv-4643, 2013 WL 831181, at *6-7 (E.D.N.Y. Feb.
14,2013).
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The Court thus agrees with the SEC’s recommendations
and orders Defendants Shern and Leung to pay a penalty
equal to ten percent of their joint and several
disgorgement, or $13,700,000 each. It will order the
Entity Defendants, who were controlled and directed by
Shern and Leung, see ECF Nos. 244, 245, 327, 328, to
pay the maximum statutory penalty of $775,000 for a
corporation. 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d); 17 C.F.R. § 201.1001. It
will order that Defendants Lin and Ma pay a penalty equal
to their disgorgement—3$1,893,114 for Lin and $975,274
for Ma.

ii. Santos

Only Defendant Santos has requested that the Court
reduce the SEC’s requested penalty.” Her initial
objections relate primarily to the egregiousness of her
conduct and/or her degree of scienter. See ECF No. 459 at
10 (“[s]he made a mistake in judgment in her only foray
into public companies and certain co-defendants took
advantage of her naiveté”). Under Sections 5(a) and (c),
and 17(a)(1) and (3) of the Securities Act, scienter can be
proven through “strong circumstantial evidence of
conscious misbehavior or recklessness.” SeeNovak v.
Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 307 (2d Cir. 2000). Santos admits
in her opposition that she acted with a degree of
recklessness sufficient to establish scienter. See ECF No.
459 at 15. It is true that she has shown contrition, and that
should be taken into account. However, it appears the
SEC has already taken Santos’ cooperation and contrition
into account by seeking the smaller statutory penalty
rather than seeking a penalty equal to her disgorgement.
See ECF No. 461 at 4 (noting the SEC is “seeking a
reduced penalty of only $160,000” as acknowledgement
of “Santos’ cooperation and acceptance of liability”).

*8 Santos’ additional objections relate to her ability to
pay. See ECF No. 459 at 11 (“The SEC’s recommended
penalty reflects a First World penalty scale that is
detached from the reality of Ms. Santos’ Third World
situation.”).  However, she has not provided
documentation to support that assertion. SeeSEC v.
Spongetech Delivery Sys., Inc., No. 10-cv-2031, 2015 WL
5793303, at *11 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2015) (imposing
maximum third-tier penalties because, although the
defendant claimed inability to pay, he “failed to make any
showing regarding his actual financial condition” and did
“not support[ ] his claims with any documentation”). The
Court thus agrees with the SEC’s request for the
imposition of a one-time, third-tier statutory penalty.
Therefore, the Court finds Defendant Santos is liable for a
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$160,000 penalty."
SO ORDERED.
All Citations
II1. Conclusion Slip Copy, 2022 WL 3347253

For the foregoing reasons, the SEC’s Motion is
GRANTED. A separate final judgment will follow.

Footnotes

1

That Complaint included the Defendants named in this Order, as well as additional Defendants Heywood Chang, Toni
Chen, Kiki Lin, Wendy Lee, and Heidi Mao, as well as Relief Defendants USA Trade Group, Inc., E Stock Club Corp.,
EZ Stock Club Corp., HTC Consulting LLC, and Arcadia Business Consulting, Inc. The Court has already entered Final
Judgment against these additional Defendants. See ECF Nos. 253, 358, 359, 396, 397, 433, 455.

Santos has already consented to a permanent injunction. See ECF No. 252 | 2.

No Defendant other than Guo has opposed the SEC’s Motion for injunctive relief. See ECF No. 463.

Santos’ contrition, while welcome, is irrelevant here as she has already consented to permanent injunctions. See ECF
No. 252.

Since the SEC filed the Motion, Defendant Guo, proceeding pro se, filed two letters on the docket. See ECF Nos. 463,
465. In his first letter, he states “I am deeply remorseful for any harm | have caused others. | should have ma[d]e better
informed [sic] about CKB before promoting it.” ECF No 463 at 1. However, Defendant Guo then spends the rest of his
response, and the entirety of his second letter, seemingly relitigating his culpability. The Court is not satisfied that these
letters reflect recognition of the wrongful nature of his conduct.

The total amount that Santos was paid by CKB was $817,231. See ECF No. 425-3 ] 5.

The SEC has not assessed any prejudgment interest against Defendant Ma, as her total frozen assets exceed the
amount the SEC is requesting from her in disgorgement. ECF No. 460-2 ] 2.

In addition, “gross pecuniary gain may only include gains from frauds occurring within the five-year statute of limitations
for civil penalties.” Arias, 2021 WL 7908041, at *8; see alsoGabelli v. SEC, 568 U.S. 442, 446-48 (2013). As CKB’s
scheme began less than five years before the SEC initiated this action, this limitation is not at issue here.

Defendant Santos does not seek to waive the penalty, as she has already agreed in her Consent Agreement that the
Court would impose some civil monetary penalty. See ECF No. 252 || 3.
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10 For violations occurring between March 6, 2013, and November 2, 2015, the maximum statutory penalty for natural

persons is $160,000 for a third-tier violation. See17 C.F.R. § 201.1001, Table 1.

End of Document © 2023 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government

Works.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Before the

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING

File No. 3-21225

In the Matter of
DALIANG “DAVID” GUO,

Respondent.

PROOF OF SERVICE OF ORDER
INSTITUTING PROCEEDINGS

The Commission issued its Order Instituting Proceedings (““OIP”) in this matter on

November 2, 2022. On or about November 3, 2022, the Office of the Secretary mailed by USPS a

copy of the OIP to Respondent Daliang “David” Guo at a federal prison in Berlin, New Hanpshire.

Commission records obtained from the Bureau of Prisons indicate the Respondent is currently

incarcerated there. Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true and correct copy of the USPS certified

mail receipt and tracking information, which shows that it was delivered on November 7, 2022.

Dated: November 14, 2022

OS Received 04/18/2023

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Devon L. Staren

Devon L. Staren

Daniel J. Maher

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, N.E.

Washington, DC 20549

Tel: (202) 551-5346 (Staren)

Tel: (202) 551-4737 (Maher)
StarenD@SEC.gov
MaherD@SEC.gov

Counsel for Division of Enforcement




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on November 14, 2022, I caused a copy of the forgoing to be mailed by
commercial carrier to Respondent David Guo.

/s/ Devon Leppink Staren
Devon Leppink Staren
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U.S. Postal Service™
CERTIFIED MAIL® RECEIPT

*SPECIAL MAIL — OPEN ONLY IN PRESENCE OF INMAT!
Daliang Guo

Register Number: 86175-053

FCI Berlin, Federal Correctional Institution
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2 For delivery information, visit our website at WWW.USps.com®,
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

100 F STREET, N.E.
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

DIVISION OF DEVON LEPPINK STAREN
ENFORCEMENT TRIAL COUNSEL
DIRECT DiAL: (202) 551-5346
EMAIL: STAREND@SEC.GOV

November 30, 2022

VIA U.S. POSTAL SERVICE

Daliang “David” Guo
Register Number: 86175-053
FCI Berlin

P.O. Box 9000

1 Success Loop Road
Berlin, NH 03570

Re: In the Matter of Daliang “David” Guo; Administrative Proceeding File No. 3-21225

Dear Mr. Guo:

We write in connection with the above-referenced case against you. As you may be aware,
this follow-on administrative proceeding is predicated on an order of final judgment that was
issued against you on August 12, 2022 in the case titled SEC v. CKB168 Holdings Ltd., et. al., 13-
cv-5584 in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York. (ECF No. 467.) You
actively litigated that matter and we made several document productions to you through your
lawyer at the time, John Golaszewski. Specifically, we provided documents to Mr. Golaszewski on
or about June 19, 2014; September 5, 2014; November 13, 2014; and January 7, 2015. Our records
indicate that these prior productions satisfy the requirements of Rule 201.230 of the SEC’s Rules
of Practice [17 C.F.R. § 201.230].

If you have any additional questions or wish to discuss this case further, please feel free to
contact me.

Sincerely,

/s/ Devon Leppink Staren

Devon Leppink Staren

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, NE

Washington, DC 20549

202-551-5346

starend@sec.gov
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